CORVEL CORP Form DEF 14A June 30, 2006

#### **Table of Contents**

# SCHEDULE 14A (Rule 14a-101) INFORMATION REQUIRED IN PROXY STATEMENT SCHEDULE 14A INFORMATION

Proxy Statement Pursuant to Section 14(a) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934

Filed by the Registrant p Filed by a Party other than the Registrant o Check the appropriate box:

- o Preliminary Proxy Statement
- o Confidential, for Use of the Commission Only (as permitted by Rule 14a-6(e)(2))
- **b** Definitive Proxy Statement
- o Definitive Additional Materials
- o Soliciting Material Pursuant to Section 240.14a-11(c) or Section 240.14a-12

#### **CORVEL CORPORATION**

(Name of Registrant as Specified in Its Charter) (Name of Person(s) Filing Proxy Statement, if other than the Registrant)

Payment of Filing Fee (Check the appropriate box):

- b No fee required.
- o Fee computed on table below per Exchange Act Rules 14a-6(i)(4) and 0-11.
  - (1) Title of each class of securities to which transaction applies:
  - (2) Aggregate number of securities to which transaction applies:
  - (3) Per unit price or other underlying value of transaction computed pursuant to Exchange Act Rule 0-11 (Set forth the amount on which the filing fee is calculated and state how it was determined):
  - (4) Proposed maximum aggregate value of transaction:
  - (5) Total fee paid:
- o Fee paid previously with preliminary materials.
- o Check box if any part of the fee is offset as provided by Exchange Act Rule 0-11(a)(2) and identify the filing for which the offsetting fee was paid previously. Identify the previous filing by registration statement number, or the Form or Schedule and the date of its filing.

(1) Amount previously paid:

(2)	Form, Schedule or Registration Statement No.:
(3)	Filing party:
(4)	Date filed:

#### **Table of Contents**

July 5, 2006

Dear CorVel Stockholder:

We are pleased to invite you to our 2006 Annual Meeting, which will be held at CorVel s principal executive offices at 2010 Main Street, Suite 600, Irvine, California 92614, on Thursday, August 3, 2006, at 1:00 p.m. Pacific Daylight Time. Voting on election of directors and other matters is also scheduled. The items to be voted on at the 2006 Annual Meeting are addressed in the enclosed Notice of Annual Meeting of Stockholders and Proxy Statement. Your vote is important. Whether or not you plan to attend the 2006 Annual Meeting, please complete and mail the

enclosed proxy card to ensure that your shares will be represented at the 2006 Annual Meeting. A postage pre-paid envelope has been provided for your convenience.

We look forward to seeing you at our 2006 Annual Meeting.

Sincerely,

/s/ V. GORDON CLEMONS

V. Gordon Clemons, Chairman of the Board and Chief Executive Officer

#### **TABLE OF CONTENTS**

NOTICE OF ANNUAL MEETING OF STOCKHOLDERS

PROXY STATEMENT

**PROPOSAL ONE** 

PROPOSAL TWO

**PROPOSAL THREE** 

PROPOSAL FOUR

**OTHER MATTERS** 

SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL OWNERS AND MANAGEMENT AND

**RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS** 

DIRECTORS AND EXECUTIVE OFFICERS OF THE COMPANY

**EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION** 

AUDIT COMMITTEE REPORT

**COMPENSATION COMMITTEE REPORT** 

STOCK PERFORMANCE GRAPH

**CERTAIN TRANSACTIONS** 

ANNUAL REPORT ON FORM 10-K AND STOCKHOLDER PROPOSALS FOR THE 2007 ANNUAL

**MEETING** 

**COSTS OF SOLICITATION** 

**APPENDIX A** 

APPENDIX B

#### **Table of Contents**

#### **CorVel Corporation**

# NOTICE OF ANNUAL MEETING OF STOCKHOLDERS To Be Held August 3, 2006

To the Stockholders of CorVel Corporation:

Notice is hereby given that the 2006 Annual Meeting of Stockholders (the Annual Meeting) of CorVel Corporation, a Delaware corporation (the Company), will be held at the Company s principal executive offices, at 2010 Main Street, Suite 600, Irvine, California 92614, on Thursday, August 3, 2006, at 1:00 p.m. Pacific Daylight Time for the following purposes, as more fully described in the Proxy Statement accompanying this Notice:

- 1. To elect five directors, each to serve until the 2007 annual meeting of stockholders or until his or her successor has been duly elected and qualified;
- 2. To approve a series of amendments to, and restatement of, the bylaws of the Company to, among other things, increase the number of directors which shall constitute the whole Board of Directors from five directors to seven directors:
- 3. To approve a series of amendments to, and a restatement of, the Company s Restated 1988 Executive Stock Option Plan (the Option Plan ) that will effect the following changes: (i) extend the termination date of the Option Plan by ten years from June 30, 2006 to June 30, 2016, (ii) increase the maximum number of shares of Common Stock authorized for issuance over the term of the Option Plan by 500,000 shares to an aggregate of 6,455,000 shares, (iii) rename the Option Plan as the CorVel Corporation Restated Omnibus Incentive Plan (Formerly The Restated 1988 Executive Stock Option Plan) and (iv) effect various other improvements to the Option Plan;
- 4. To ratify the appointment of Grant Thornton LLP as independent auditors of the Company for the fiscal year ending March 31, 2007; and
- 5. To transact such other business as may properly come before the Annual Meeting or any adjournment or postponement thereof.

Only stockholders of record at the close of business on June 16, 2006 are entitled to notice of and to vote at the Annual Meeting and any adjournment thereof. A list of stockholders entitled to vote at the Annual Meeting will be available for inspection at the principal executive offices of the Company and at the Annual Meeting.

You are cordially invited to attend the Annual Meeting in person. Whether or not you plan to attend the Annual Meeting, you can be sure your shares are represented at the Annual Meeting by promptly completing, signing, dating and returning the enclosed proxy card in the enclosed, self-addressed, postage pre-paid envelope provided for your convenience, or submitting your proxy by Internet (if your shares are registered in the name of a bank or brokerage firm and you are eligible to vote your shares in such a manner). Should you receive more than one proxy card because your shares are registered in different names and addresses, each proxy card should be signed and returned to assure that all your shares will be voted.

The holders of a majority of the outstanding shares of Common Stock of the Company entitled to vote must be present in person or represented by proxy at the Annual Meeting in order to constitute a quorum for the transaction of business. Please return your proxy card in order to ensure that a quorum is obtained and to avoid the additional cost to the Company of adjourning the Annual Meeting until a later time and re-soliciting proxies.

YOUR VOTE IS IMPORTANT. PLEASE READ THE ATTACHED PROXY STATEMENT CAREFULLY.

By order of the Board of Directors,

/s/ RICHARD J. SCHWEPPE

RICHARD J. SCHWEPPE Secretary Irvine, California July 5, 2006

#### **Table of Contents**

#### **CorVel Corporation**

#### PROXY STATEMENT

Proxies are being solicited on behalf of the Company s Board of Directors (the Board) for use at the 2006 Annual Meeting of stockholders, which will be held at the Company s principal executive offices located at 2010 Main Street, Suite 600, Irvine, California 92614, on Thursday, August 3, 2006, at 1:00 p.m. Pacific Daylight Time, and at any adjournment or postponement thereof (the Annual Meeting). Stockholders of record at the close of business on June 16, 2006 are entitled to notice of and to vote at the Annual Meeting and any adjournment or postponement of that meeting. A list of stockholders entitled to vote at the Annual Meeting will be available for inspection at the principal executive offices of the Company and at the Annual Meeting.

On June 16, 2006, the record date (the Record Date ) for determination of stockholders entitled to notice of and to vote at the Annual Meeting, there were 9,416,900 shares of Common Stock of the Company outstanding and approximately 1,147 holders of record according to information provided by the Company s transfer agent. No shares of the Company s preferred stock were outstanding as of June 16, 2006. Each stockholder is entitled to one vote on all matters brought before the Annual Meeting for each share of Common Stock of the Company held by such stockholder on the Record Date. Stockholders may not cumulate votes in the election of directors.

The presence at the Annual Meeting, either in person or by proxy, of holders of a majority of the outstanding shares of Common Stock of the Company entitled to vote will constitute a quorum for the transaction of business. In the election of directors under Proposal One, the five nominees receiving the highest number of affirmative votes shall be elected. The affirmative vote of the holders of Common Stock of the Company representing 66 2/3% of the outstanding shares of the Company is required for approval of Proposal Two. The affirmative vote of the holders of Common Stock of the Company representing a majority of the voting power present or represented by proxy at the Annual Meeting and entitled to vote on the subject matter is required for approval of Proposal Three and is being sought for approval of Proposal Four.

All votes will be tabulated by the Company s inspector of election appointed for the Annual Meeting, who will separately tabulate affirmative and negative votes, abstentions and broker non-votes (i.e., shares held by a broker or nominee that are represented at the Annual Meeting, but with respect to which such broker or nominee is not instructed to vote on a particular proposal and does not have discretionary voting power). Abstentions and broker non-votes are counted as present for purposes of determining whether a quorum exists for the transaction of business at the Annual Meeting. With regard to Proposal One, broker non-votes and votes marked withheld will not be counted towards the tabulations of votes cast on such proposal presented to the stockholders, will not have the effect of negative votes and will not affect the outcome of the election of directors. With regard to Proposals Two, Three and Four, abstentions will be counted towards the tabulations of votes cast on such proposals presented to the stockholders and will have the same effect as negative votes, whereas broker non-votes will not be counted for purposes of determining whether such proposals have been approved and will not have the effect of negative votes. If the enclosed proxy card is properly signed and returned, the shares represented thereby will be voted at the Annual Meeting in accordance with the instructions specified thereon. If the proxy card does not specify how the shares represented thereby are to be voted, the proxy will be voted **FOR** the election of the directors in Proposal One unless the authority to vote for the election of such directors is withheld and, if no contrary instructions are given, the proxy will be voted **FOR** the approval of Proposals Two and Three and **FOR** the ratification of Proposal Four described in the accompanying Notice and this Proxy Statement. In their discretion, the proxies named on the proxy card will be authorized to vote upon any other matter that may properly come before the Annual Meeting or any adjournment or postponement thereof. A proxy may be revoked or changed at or prior to the Annual Meeting by delivery of a written revocation or by presentation of another properly signed proxy card with a later date to the Secretary of the Company at the Company s principal executive offices at 2010 Main Street, Suite 600, Irvine, California 92614, or by attendance at the Annual Meeting and voting in person by ballot.

If your shares are registered in the name of a bank or brokerage firm, you may be eligible to vote your shares electronically through the Internet. A large number of banks and brokerage firms provide eligible stockholders, who

receive a paper copy of the Annual Report and Proxy Statement, the opportunity to vote in this manner. If your bank or brokerage firm allows for this, your voting form will provide instructions for such alternative method of voting. If your voting form does not reference Internet information, please complete and return the paper proxy card in the envelope provided.

This Proxy Statement, the accompanying Notice, the enclosed proxy card and the Company s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended March 31, 2006, were mailed on or about July 5, 2006, to stockholders of record on the Record Date

The principal executive offices of the Company are located at 2010 Main Street, Suite 600, Irvine, California 92614. The Company s telephone number is (949) 851-1473.

1

#### **Table of Contents**

# MATTERS TO BE CONSIDERED AT THE ANNUAL MEETING PROPOSAL ONE ELECTION OF DIRECTORS

Five individuals have been nominated to serve as directors of the Company. The Company s stockholders are being asked to elect these nominees to the Board at the Annual Meeting. The Company s Nomination and Governance Committee selected and recommended, and the Board, including its independent directors, approved the nomination of, each of the five individuals listed below for election to serve for a one-year term ending on the date of the Company s next annual meeting of stockholders or until his successor has been duly elected and qualified. The term may be shorter if such individual resigns, becomes disqualified or disabled, or is otherwise removed. Unless otherwise instructed or unless the proxy is marked withheld, the proxy holders will vote the proxies received by them **FOR** the election of each of the nominees named below. Each such nominee is currently serving as a director and has indicated his willingness to continue to serve as a director if elected. In the event that any such nominee becomes unable or declines to serve at the time of the Annual Meeting, the proxy holders will exercise discretionary authority to vote for a substitute person selected and recommended by the Company s Nomination and Governance Committee and nominated by the Board.

#### Director Nominees for Term Ending Upon the 2007 Annual Meeting of Stockholders

The names and certain information, as of May 31, 2006, about the nominees for director are set forth below:

Name	Age	Position
V. Gordon Clemons	62	Chairman of the Board and Chief Executive
		Officer
Steven J. Hamerslag (1) (2) (3)	49	Director
Alan R. Hoops (1) (2)	58	Director
R. Judd Jessup (1)	58	Director
Jeffrey J. Michael (2) (3)	49	Director

- (1) Member of the Audit Committee.
- (2) Member of the Compensation Committee.
- (3) Member of the Nomination and Governance Committee.

Mr. Clemons has served as Chief Executive Officer of the Company since January 1988 and Chairman of the Board since April 1991. He served as President of the Company from January 1988 until May 26, 2006. Mr. Clemons was President of Caremark, Inc., the then-largest home intravenous therapy company in the United States, from May 1985 to September 1987, at which time Caremark was purchased by Baxter International, Inc. From 1981 to 1985, Mr. Clemons was President of INTRACORP, a medical management company and subsidiary of CIGNA Corporation. Mr. Clemons has 29 years of experience in the healthcare and insurance industries.

Mr. Hamerslag has served as a director of the Company since May 1991. Mr. Hamerslag has been Managing Partner of TVC Ventures and Managing Director of Titan Investment Partners, both venture capital firms, respectively, since

of TVC Ventures and Managing Director of Titan Investment Partners, both venture capital firms, respectively, since November 2002. Mr. Hamerslag served as the President and Chief Executive Officer of J2Global Communications, a publicly traded unified communication services company, from June 1999 until January 2001. Mr. Hamerslag served as the CEO of publicly held MTI Technology Corporation, a manufacturer of enterprise storage solutions, from 1987

to 1996.

Mr. Hoops has served as a director of the Company since May 2003. Mr. Hoops has been Chairman of the Board and Chief Executive Officer of CareMore California Health Plan, a health maintenance organization, since March 2006. From 2000 to March 2006, Mr. Hoops was Chairman of Benu, Inc., a regional benefits administration/marketing company, and Chairman of Enwisen, Inc., a human resources services software company from 2001 to March 2006. Mr. Hoops was Chief Executive Officer and a Director from 1993 to 2000, of Pacificare Health Systems, Inc., a national health consumer services company. Mr. Hoops has 33 years of experience in the healthcare and managed care industries.

Mr. Jessup has served as a director of the Company since August 1997. Mr. Jessup was Chief Executive Officer of U.S. LABS, a national laboratory which provides cancer diagnostic and genetic testing services, from 2002 to 2005. Mr. Jessup was President of the HMO Division of FHP International Corporation, a diversified health care services company, from 1994 to 1996. From 1987 to 1994, Mr. Jessup was President of TakeCare, Inc., a publicly traded HMO operating in California, Colorado, Illinois and Ohio, until it was acquired by FHP. Mr. Jessup has 31 years of experience in the healthcare and managed care industries. Mr. Jessup has been a director of Accent Care since October 2005, a director of Xifan, Inc., a laboratory billing systems company, since January 2006, and a director of NovaMed Express Services, Inc. since August 1998.

2

#### **Table of Contents**

Mr. Michael has served as a director of the Company since September 1990. Mr. Michael has been the President, Chief Executive Officer and a Director of Corstar Holdings, Inc., one of the Company significant stockholders and a holding company owning businesses engaged in voice and data connectivity and networking products and services, since March 1996.

There are no family relationships among any of the Company s directors or executive officers.

# Corporate Governance, Board Composition and Board Committees

*Independent Directors* 

The Board has determined that each of the Company s current directors other than Mr. Clemons qualifies as an independent director in accordance with the published listing requirements of the Nasdaq Stock Market (Nasdaq). The Nasdaq independence definition includes a series of objective tests, such as that the director is not also one of the Company s employees and has not engaged in various types of business dealings with the Company. In addition, as further required by the Nasdaq rules, the Board has made a subjective determination as to each independent director that no relationships exist which, in the opinion of the Board, would interfere with the exercise of independent judgment in carrying out the responsibilities of a director. In making these determinations, the Company s directors reviewed and discussed information provided by the directors and the Company with regard to each director s business and personal activities as they may relate to the Company and the Company s management.

**Board Structure and Committees** 

The Board has established an audit committee, a compensation committee and a nomination and governance committee. The Board and its committees set schedules to meet throughout the year, and also can hold special meetings and act by written consent from time to time as appropriate. The independent directors of the Board also hold separate regularly scheduled executive session meetings at least twice a year at which only independent directors are present. The Board has delegated various responsibilities and authority to its committees as generally described below. The committees regularly report on their activities and actions to the full Board. Each member of each committee of the Board qualifies as an independent director in accordance with the Nasdaq standards described above. Each committee of the Board has a written charter approved by the Board. A copy of each charter is posted on the Company s web site at http://www.corvel.com under the Investor Relations section. The inclusion of the Company s web site address in this Proxy Statement does not include or incorporate by reference the information on the Company s web site into this Proxy Statement or the Company s Annual Report on Form 10-K. In addition, a copy of the charter of the audit committee is included as Appendix A to the Company s definitive proxy statement for the 2004 annual meeting of stockholders filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission (SEC) on July 7, 2004.

The audit committee of the Board reviews and monitors the Company s corporate financial statements and reporting and the Company s internal and external audits, including, among other things, the Company s internal controls and audit functions, the results and scope of the annual audit and other services provided by the Company s independent auditors and the Company s compliance with legal matters that have a significant impact on the Company s financial statements. The Company s audit committee also consults with the Company s management and the Company s independent auditors prior to the presentation of financial statements to stockholders and, as appropriate, initiates inquiries into aspects of the Company s financial affairs.

The Company s audit committee has established procedures for the receipt, retention and treatment of complaints regarding accounting, internal accounting controls or auditing matters, and for the confidential, anonymous submission by the Company s employees of concerns regarding questionable accounting or auditing matters. In addition, the Company s audit committee is directly responsible for the appointment, retention, compensation and oversight of the work of the Company s independent auditors, including approving services and fee arrangements. All related party transactions are approved by the Company s audit committee before the Company enters into them. The current members of the Company s audit committee are Messrs. Hamerslag, Hoops and Jessup. The audit committee held five meetings during fiscal 2006.

In addition to qualifying as independent under the Nasdaq rules described above, each member of the Company s audit committee can read and has an understanding of fundamental financial statements, and each member currently qualifies as independent under special standards established by the SEC for members of audit committees. The

Company s audit committee includes at least one member who has been determined by the Board to meet the qualifications of an audit committee financial expert in accordance with SEC rules. Mr. Hamerslag is the independent director who has been determined to be an audit

3

#### **Table of Contents**

committee financial expert. Stockholders should understand that this designation is a disclosure requirement of the SEC related to Mr. Hamerslag s experience and understanding with respect to certain accounting and auditing matters. The designation does not impose on Mr. Hamerslag any duties, obligations or liability that are greater than are generally imposed on him as a member of the Company s audit committee and the Board, and his designation as an audit committee financial expert pursuant to this SEC requirement does not affect the duties, obligations or liability of any other member of the Company s audit committee or Board.

#### Compensation Committee

The compensation committee of the Board reviews and approves the Company s general compensation policies and all forms of compensation to be provided to the Company s executive officers and directors, including, among other things, annual salaries, bonuses, and stock option and other incentive compensation arrangements. In addition, the Company s compensation committee administers the CorVel Corporation 1991 Employee Stock Purchase Plan and the CorVel Corporation Restated 1988 Executive Stock Option Plan, as shall be amended and restated if Proposal Three is approved (the Option Plan ), including reviewing and granting stock options. The Company s compensation committee also reviews and approves various other of the Company s compensation policies and matters. The current members of the Company s compensation committee are Messrs. Hamerslag, Hoops and Michael. The compensation committee held four meetings during fiscal 2006.

#### Nomination and Governance Committee

The nomination and governance committee of the Board reviews and reports to the Board on a periodic basis with regard to matters of corporate governance, and reviews, assesses and makes recommendations on the effectiveness of the Company s corporate governance policies. In addition, the nomination and governance committee reviews and makes recommendations to the Board regarding the size and composition of the Board and the appropriate qualities and skills required of the Company s directors in the context of the then current make-up of the Board.

This includes an assessment of each candidate s independence, personal and professional integrity, financial literacy or other professional or business experience relevant to an understanding of the Company s business, ability to think and act independently and with sound judgment, and ability to serve the Company s and the Company s stockholders long-term interests. These factors, and others as considered useful by the Company s nomination and governance committee, are reviewed in the context of an assessment of the perceived needs of the Board at a particular point in time. As a result, the priorities and emphasis of the nomination and governance committee and of the Board may change from time to take into account changes in business and other trends, and the portfolio of skills and experience of current and prospective directors.

The nomination and governance committee leads the search for and selects, or recommends that the Board select, candidates for election to the Board (subject to legal rights, if any, of third parties to nominate or appoint directors). Consideration of new director candidates typically involves a series of committee discussions, review of information concerning candidates and interviews with selected candidates. Candidates for nomination to the Board typically have been suggested by other members of the Board or by the Company s executive officers. From time to time, the nomination and governance committee may engage the services of a third-party search firm to identify director candidates. Each of the current nominees is standing for re-election at the Annual Meeting. The nomination and governance committee selected these candidates and recommended their nomination to the Board. The nomination and governance committee has not received any nominations from any stockholders in connection with this Annual Meeting. The current members of the Company s nomination and governance committee are Messrs. Hamerslag and Michael. The nomination and governance committee held one meeting during fiscal 2006.

Although the nomination and governance committee does not have a formal policy on stockholder nominations, it will consider candidates proposed by stockholders of any outstanding class of the Company's capital stock entitled to vote for the election of directors, provided such proposal is in accordance with the procedures set forth in the Company's Bylaws and in the charter of the nomination and governance committee. Nominations by such stockholders must be preceded by notification in writing received by the Company's Secretary, at 2010 Main Street, Suite 600, Irvine, California 92614, not less than sixty (60) days prior to any meeting of stockholders called for the election of directors. If Proposal Two is approved, this deadline will be changed to be not later than (i) with respect to an election to be held at an annual meeting of stockholders, ninety (90) days prior to the anniversary date of the immediately preceding

annual meeting, or (ii) with respect to the election to be held at a special meeting of stockholders for the election of directors, the close of business on the tenth day following the date on which notice of such meeting is first given to stockholders. Such notification shall contain the written consent of each proposed nominee to serve as a director is so elected and the following information as to each proposed nominee and as to each person, acting alone or in conjunction with one or more other persons as a partnership, limited partnership, syndicate or other group, who participates or is expected to participate in making such nomination or in organizing, directing or financing such

4

#### **Table of Contents**

nomination or solicitation of proxies to vote for the nominee: (a) the name, age, residence, address, and business address of each proposed nominee and of each such person; (b) the principal occupation or employment, the name, type of business and address of the corporation or other organization in which such employment is carried on of each proposed nominee and of each such person; (c) the amount of the Company s stock owned beneficially, either directly or indirectly, by each proposed nominee and each such person; and (d) a description of any arrangement or understanding of each proposed nominee and of each such person with each other or any other person regarding future employment or any future transaction to which the Company will or may be a party.

If Proposal Two is approved, then, the foregoing notwithstanding, such notification shall be addressed to the Chair of the nomination and governance committee, care of the Company s Secretary, and include the following information as to each proposed nominee and as to each person, acting alone or in conjunction with one or more other persons as a partnership, limited partnership, syndicate or other group, who participates or is expected to participate in making such nomination or in organizing, directing or financing such nomination or solicitation of proxies to vote for the nominee: (a) the name and address of the nominee; (b) the name and address of the stockholder making the nomination; (c) a representation that the nominating stockholder is a stockholder of record of the Company s stock entitled to vote at the next annual meeting and intends to appear in person or by proxy at such meeting to nominate the person specified in the notice; (d) the nominee s qualifications for membership on the Board of Directors; (e) all of the information that would be required in a proxy statement soliciting proxies for the election of the nominee as a director pursuant to the rules and regulations of the United States Securities and Exchange Commission; (f) a description of all direct or indirect arrangements or understandings between the nominating stockholder and the nominee and any other person or persons (naming such person or persons) pursuant to whose request the nomination is being made by the stockholder; (g) all other companies to which the nominee is being recommended as a nominee for director; and (h) a signed consent of the nominee to cooperate with reasonable background checks and personal interviews, and to serve as a director of the Company, if elected.

All such recommendations will be brought to the attention of the Company s nomination and governance committee. Candidates proposed by stockholders will be evaluated by the Company s nomination and governance committee using the same criteria as for all other candidates.

#### Board and Committee Meetings

The Board held four meetings and acted by unanimous written consent once during fiscal 2006. Each director attended or participated in 75% or more of the aggregate of (i) the total number of meetings of the Board and (ii) the total number of meetings held by all committees of the Board on which such director served during fiscal 2006. Although the Company does not have a formal policy regarding attendance by members of the Board at the Company s annual meetings of stockholders, directors are encouraged and expected to attend each of the Company s annual meetings of stockholders in addition to each meeting of the Board and of the committees on which he or she serves, except where the failure to attend is due to unavoidable circumstances or conflicts. All of the Company s directors attended the Company s 2005 annual meeting of stockholders.

#### Code of Ethics and Business Conduct

The Board has adopted a code of ethics and business conduct that applies to all of the Company s employees, officers (including the Company s principal executive officer, principal financial officer, principal accounting officer or controller, or persons performing similar functions) and directors. The full text of the Company s code of ethics and business conduct is posted on the Company s web site at http://www.corvel.com under the Investor Relations section. The Company intends to disclose future amendments to certain provisions of the Company s code of ethics and business conduct, or waivers of such provisions, applicable to the Company s directors and executive officers (including the Company s principal executive officer, principal financial officer, principal accounting officer or controller, or persons performing similar functions), at the same location on the Company s web site identified above. The inclusion of the Company s web site address in this proxy does not include or incorporate by reference the information on the Company s web site into this proxy or the Company s Annual Report on Form 10-K. *Communications from Stockholders to the Board* 

The Board has implemented a process by which stockholders may send written communications to the attention of the Board, and committee of the Board or any individual Board member, care of the Company s Secretary at 2010 Main

Street, Suite 600, Irvine, CA 92614. This centralized process will assist the Board in reviewing and responding to stockholder communications in an appropriate manner. The name of any specific intended Board recipient should be noted in the communication. The

5

#### **Table of Contents**

Company s Secretary, with the assistance of the Company s Director of Legal Services, will be primarily responsible for collecting, organizing and monitoring communications from stockholders and, where appropriate depending on the facts and circumstances outlined in the communication, providing copies of such communications to the intended recipients. Communications will be forwarded to directors if they relate to appropriate and important substantive corporate or board matters. Communications that are of a commercial or frivolous nature or otherwise inappropriate for the Board s consideration will not be forwarded to the Board. Any communications not forwarded to the Board will be retained for a period of three months and made available to any of the Company s independent directors upon their general request to view such communications.

# **Compensation of Directors**

Each non-employee director received an amount equal to \$2,000 in fiscal 2006 and the first quarter of fiscal 2007, for each Board meeting attended in person, as well as reimbursement for all associated travel expenses. Other than the Chairman of the Audit Committee, who in fiscal 2006 received \$1,000 for each Audit Committee meeting attended and from February through May 2006 received \$3,000 per month for other services performed in his capacity as Chairman of the Audit Committee, the directors did not receive fees for committee or telephonic meetings attended or any other director services during fiscal 2006. Beginning August 2006, all directors will receive \$3,000 for each Board meeting attended in person, as well as reimbursement for all associated travel expenses, and \$1,000 for each telephonic Board meeting and each in-person or telephonic committee meeting attended provided it is not in conjunction with a duly convened Board meeting. Beginning fiscal 2007, the Audit Committee Chairman will begin receiving an annual retainer of \$4,000 for other services performed in his capacity as Audit Committee Chairman. Currently, when an individual who has not previously been in the employ of the Company first becomes a non-employee member of the Board, he or she will receive an automatic option grant for 15,000 shares of Common Stock under the Option Plan. In addition, on the date of each annual stockholders meeting, each non-employee director who has served as a non-employee Board member for at least six months, whether or not such individual has been in the prior employ of the Company, will be granted an option to purchase 4,500 shares of Common Stock. If Proposal Three is approved, beginning with this Annual Meeting, the automatic initial option grants described above will be reduced to 7,500 and the automatic annual option grants described above will be reduced to 3,000 shares. Accordingly, as a non-employee director who was re-elected at the 2005 annual meeting of stockholders, each of Messrs. Hamerslag, Hoops, Jessup and Michael received an option to purchase 4,500 shares of Common Stock on September 15, 2005 (the date of the 2005 annual meeting of stockholders), with an exercise price of \$23.33, which was the fair market value of the Common Stock on such date. In addition, each of Messrs. Hamerslag, Hoops, Jessup, and Michael will be granted an option to purchase an additional 4,500 shares of Common Stock on August 3, 2006 (the date of the Annual Meeting) at an exercise price equal to the fair market value of the Common Stock on such date, provided such director is re-elected at the Annual Meeting. Each automatic grant has a maximum term of ten years measured from the grant date, and becomes exercisable in a series of four equal and successive annual installments over the optionee s period of Board service, with the first such installment to become exercisable twelve months after the grant date.

#### **Stockholder Approval**

Directors are elected by a plurality of the votes present or represented by proxy at the Annual Meeting. The five nominees receiving the highest number of affirmative votes cast at the Annual Meeting will be the elected directors of the Company.

THE BOARD RECOMMENDS A VOTE FOR EACH OF THE NOMINEES NAMED ABOVE.

6

#### **Table of Contents**

#### PROPOSAL TWO

#### APPROVAL OF AMENDMENT AND RESTATEMENT OF THE COMPANY S BYLAWS

The Company's stockholders are being asked to approve an amendment and restatement of the Company's amended and restated bylaws (the Bylaws) to effect several changes to the existing Bylaws. The Company's Board has unanimously approved, and recommends that the Company's stockholders approve, a series of amendments to the Bylaws that, subject to stockholder approval, will (i) increase the number of directors from five directors to seven directors; (ii) separate certain powers of the Chairman of the Board and Chief Executive Officer of the Company from certain powers of the President of the Company; (iii) revise the bylaw regarding stockholder nomination of directors in order to conform to the provisions set forth in the charter of the Nomination and Governance Committee of the Board; (iv) permit the indemnification of the Company's executive officers; (v) effect certain changes to conform to changes in Delaware law, which became effective August 1, 2005, regarding uncertificated shares; and (vi) effect various other technical revisions and improvements. Pursuant to the Company's Certificate of Incorporation and Bylaws, the affirmative vote of 66 2/3% of the outstanding voting shares is required to amend the Bylaws. These amendments will become effective immediately following approval by the stockholders. The full text of the proposed amendment and restatement of the Bylaws is set forth in Appendix A to this proxy statement.

#### **Proposed Amendments to the Bylaws**

The following summary of the principal modifications to the Bylaws is qualified in its entirety by the full text of the amended and restated Bylaws included in Appendix A and incorporated by reference herein.

Increase in the Number of Directors

Section 2 of Article III of the Bylaws currently provides that the number of directors which shall constitute the whole Board is five directors. In consideration of the current size of the Board and the desire to maintain flexibility should the right opportunity to appoint a new member arise, the Board has concluded that it is advisable and in the best interests of the Company and its stockholders to amend the Bylaws to increase the number of directors which shall constitute the whole Board from five directors to seven directors. The Board believes that this amendment will enable the Company to identify, appoint and nominate for election, additional qualified individuals to serve as directors, as the opportunity or need presents itself. In addition, the duties and complexity of serving on a public company s board of directors and its committees have increased substantially in recent years, and the Board believes that this amendment will allow the Board to better allocate committee assignments and other duties. Approval of Proposal Two by the stockholders will create two vacancies on the Board which, pursuant to the Bylaws, the Board will have the power to fill as it deems advisable and appropriate.

Separation of Certain Powers of the Chairman of the Board and Chief Executive Officer from Certain Powers of the President

Section 4 of Article II of the Bylaws currently provides that the President of the Company may call special meetings of the Company s stockholders, and Section 7 of Article III of the Bylaws currently provides that the President of the Company may call special meetings of the Board. The Board has concluded that it is advisable and in the best interests of the Company and its stockholders to amend both Section 4 of Article II and Section 7 of Article III of the Bylaws to vest these powers in the offices of the Chairman of the Board and Chief Executive Officer instead of the office of the President. The Board believes that the authority to call such extraordinary meetings should rest with the Company s most senior executive, which the Board has determined to be the Company s Chairman of the Board and Chief Executive Officer. The Board also has concluded that it is advisable and in the best interests of the Company and its stockholders to revise Section 7 of Article V of the Bylaws and to add a new Section 8 to Article V of the Bylaws to more clearly define the separate powers of the Chief Executive Officer and the President of the Company. The Board believes that this amendment is appropriate where the offices of Chief Executive Officer and President are vested in two different people.

Revision of Procedures for Stockholder Nomination of Directors

Section 12 of Article II of the Bylaws currently sets forth the procedures and requirements for the nomination by stockholders of directors for election to the Board. The Board has concluded that it is advisable and in the best interests of the Company and its stockholders to amend Section 12 of Article II of the Bylaws to conform to the standards, requirements and procedures set forth in the charter of the Nomination and Governance Committee of the

Board and to clarify the deadlines for submitting stockholder nominations of directors. The Board believes that this amendment will

7

#### **Table of Contents**

provide greater clarity to the stockholder nomination process and will make the overall process more manageable for the Company and the Board.

Indemnification of Executive Officers

Although Section 145 of the General Corporation Law of Delaware permits the Company to indemnify its directors, officers, employees and agents, Article VIII of the Bylaws currently only provides indemnification by the Company of its directors to the fullest extent permitted by the General Corporation Law of Delaware. The Board has concluded that it is advisable and in the best interests of the Company and its stockholders to amend Article VIII of the Bylaws to also provide indemnification of the Company s executive officers to the fullest extent permitted by the General Corporation Law of Delaware. Due to the increased exposure to liability to which executive officers of public companies have been subjected over the past several years, the Board believes that providing indemnification of the Company s executive officers under the Bylaws will enable the Company to recruit and retain the most highly qualified individuals in the future to serve as executive officers of the Company, and to protect and retain its current executive management team.

#### **Uncertificated Shares**

Article VI of the Bylaws currently provides that stockholders may require that their shares of Common Stock be issued in certificated form. The Board has concluded that it is advisable and in the best interests of the Company and its stockholders to amend the Bylaws to conform to changes in Delaware law, which became effective August 1, 2005, regarding uncertificated shares. This amendment will enable the Board to provide by resolution or resolutions that some or all of any or all classes or series of the Company s stock shall be uncertificated shares, but any such resolution shall not apply to shares currently represented by a certificate until such certificate is surrendered to the Company. As a general matter, pursuant to this amendment, the Company will no longer be required to issue a certificate for uncertificated shares upon the request of the holder of such uncertificated shares. This amendment also includes additional related revisions in connection with and to conform to such change regarding uncertificated shares. The Board believes that this amendment will reduce administrative and other costs for the Company with respect to the issuance of shares.

#### Technical Revisions and Improvements

In connection with the amendments to the Bylaws described above, the Board has concluded that it also is advisable and in the best interests of the Company and its stockholders to make various other technical revisions and improvements to the Bylaws. These amendments will (i) clarify the location at which the Company s books and records are kept by adding a new Section 3 to Article I of the Bylaws; (ii) revise Section 13 of Article II of the Bylaws relating to the procedures and requirements for other stockholder proposals, to be consistent with similar changes proposed above with respect to Section 12 of Article II of the Bylaws; (iii) set forth and define the conduct of stockholder meetings by adding a new Section 14 to Article II of the Bylaws; (iv) set forth and define the duties of the inspector of elections at meetings of the stockholders by adding a new Section 15 to Article II of the Bylaws; (v) revise Section 11 of Article III of the Bylaws to clarify the powers and parameters relating to the creation and operation of Board committees; (vi) revise Section 1 of Article IV of the Bylaws to provide for electronic transmission of notices in conformity with the General Corporation Law of Delaware; (vii) revise Section 5 of Article V of the Bylaws to clarify the tenure and removal of officers, and revise Sections 9 and 11 of Article V of the Bylaws to clarify the reporting structure for certain subordinate officers; (viii) clarify the procedure for officer resignations by adding a new Section 6 to Article V of the Bylaws, and revise Section 5 of Article VII to clarify that the Company s ability to make loans is subject to the restrictions of the Delaware General Corporation Law and the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002; and (ix) effect certain other non-material technical revisions in Sections 6 and 10 of Article II, Sections 12 and 15 of Article III, and Sections 1, 2 and 4 of Article V of the Bylaws. All of these changes are set forth in greater detail in the proposed amendment and restatement of the Bylaws set forth in Appendix A to this proxy statement. The Board believes that these various technical revisions and improvements to the Bylaws will enhance the Company s corporate governance.

#### **Stockholder Approval**

Pursuant to the Company s Certificate of Incorporation and Bylaws, the affirmative vote of 66 2/3% of the outstanding voting shares is required to amend and restate the Bylaws.

THE BOARD RECOMMENDS A VOTE  $\underline{FOR}$  THE APPROVAL OF THE AMENDMENTS TO, AND RESTATEMENT OF, THE BYLAWS.

8

#### **Table of Contents**

#### PROPOSAL THREE

# APPROVAL OF AMENDMENT AND RESTATEMENT OF RESTATED 1988 EXECUTIVE STOCK OPTION

# PLAN AND THE RESERVATION OF AN ADDITIONAL 500,000 SHARES OF COMMON STOCK FOR ISSUANCE THEREUNDER

The stockholders are being asked to approve a series of amendments to, and a restatement of, the Company s Restated 1988 Executive Stock Option Plan (the Option Plan ) that will effect the following changes: (i) extend the termination date of the Option Plan by ten years from June 30, 2006 to June 30, 2016, (ii) increase the maximum number of shares of Common Stock authorized for issuance over the term of the Option Plan by an additional 500,000 shares to an aggregate of 6,455,000 shares, (iii) rename the Option Plan as the CorVel Corporation Restated Omnibus Incentive Plan (Formerly The Restated 1988 Executive Stock Option Plan) (as so amended and restated, the Omnibus Plan), (iv) permit awards of free-standing stock appreciation rights, restricted stock, restricted stock units, performance awards, dividend equivalents, and other stock-based awards, (v) address changes in applicable law and accounting principles, and (iv) effect various other improvements to the Option Plan.

The Board believes it necessary to make such changes to the Option Plan in order to allow the Company to continue to use equity incentives to attract and retain the services of individuals essential to the Company s long-term growth and success. The Board also believes that the flexibility of the changes to the Option Plan in types and specific terms of awards will allow the Company to better align incentive compensation with increases in stockholder value than the Option Plan as currently in effect.

The Option Plan was initially adopted by the Board on August 1, 1988 and approved by the Company s sole stockholder on the same date. It has been amended and restated on several occasions. The amendments to, and restatement of, the Option Plan for which stockholder approval is sought under this Proposal Three were adopted by the Board on June 27, 2006. As of May 31, 2006, there were options outstanding under the Option Plan to purchase 958,457 shares of Common Stock, an aggregate of 4,513,682 shares of Common Stock had been issued pursuant to the Option Plan, and an aggregate of 482,861 shares remained available for future issuance pursuant to the terms of the Option Plan.

Under applicable Nasdaq Stock Market rules, the Company is required to obtain stockholder approval of the amendment and restatement of the Option Plan. Such approval also is necessary to ensure that compensation paid under the Omnibus Plan is eligible for an exemption from the limits on tax deductibility imposed by Section 162(m) of the Internal Revenue Code, as amended (the Code ), which limits the deductibility of certain compensation paid to individuals who are, at the end of the tax year for which the Company would otherwise claim its tax deduction, the Company s chief executive officer and its four other most highly paid executive officers.

The following is a summary of the principal features of the Omnibus Plan, including the amendments which will become effective upon stockholder approval of this Proposal Three. This summary, however, does not purport to be a complete description of all the provisions of the Omnibus Plan and is qualified in its entirety by reference to the Omnibus Plan. A copy of the Omnibus Plan document as proposed to be adopted may be found at Appendix B at the end of this proxy statement. Any stockholder who wishes to obtain an additional copy of the actual plan document may do so by written request to the Corporate Secretary at the Company s executive offices at 2010 Main Street, Suite 600, Irvine, California 92614.

#### Structure of the Omnibus Plan

The Omnibus Plan is divided into three separate components: the Discretionary Option Grant Program, the Automatic Option Grant Program and the Other Equity Based Awards Program. Under the Discretionary Option Grant Program and the Other Equity Based Awards Program, options and other equity based awards may be issued to employees, officers, directors, consultants and advisors of the Company (or its parent or subsidiary companies). Under the Automatic Option Grant Program, only non-employee Board members will receive automatic option grants. The Discretionary Option Grant Program and the Other Equity Based Awards Program are administered by the Compensation Committee of the Board (the Committee ). The Committee has complete discretion (subject to the provisions of the Omnibus Plan) to authorize option grants and other equity based awards and to determine the terms of these options and other equity based awards under the Omnibus Plan. However, the Board may at any time appoint

a secondary committee of two or more Board members to have separate but concurrent authority with the Committee to make option grants and other equity based awards to individuals *other than* executive officers and non-employee Board members, and only in a manner that would comply with the requirements of Section 162(m) of the Code. The committee administering the Omnibus Plan will have full power and authority to determine when and to whom awards will be granted, and the type, amount, form of payment and other terms and conditions of each award, consistent with the provisions of the Omnibus Plan. Subject to the provisions of the Omnibus Plan, the committee administering the Omnibus Plan may change

9

#### **Table of Contents**

the terms and conditions, or accelerate the exercisability, of an outstanding award. The committee administering the Omnibus Plan has authority to interpret the Omnibus Plan, and establish rules and regulations for the administration of the Omnibus Plan. In addition, the Board at any time may exercise the powers of the committee administering the Omnibus Plan.

Administration of the Automatic Option Grant Program is self-executing in accordance with the terms of the Omnibus Plan. Neither the Board nor the Compensation Committee has discretionary authority with respect to that program.

#### **Purpose of the Omnibus Plan**

The Omnibus Plan is designed to serve as a comprehensive equity incentive program to attract and retain the services of individuals essential to the Company s long-term growth and success, and to encourage such individuals to put forth maximum efforts for the success of the Company s business. Accordingly, the Company s officers and other employees, non-employee directors and other consultants and advisors will have the opportunity to acquire a meaningful equity interest, or otherwise increase their equity interest, in the Company through their participation in the Omnibus Plan, thereby aligning the interests of such individuals with the Company s stockholders.

## **Shares Subject to the Omnibus Plan**

Assuming stockholder approval of this Proposal Three is obtained, the total number of shares of Common Stock issuable under all equity based awards over the term of the Omnibus Plan may not exceed 6,455,000 shares, which includes an increase of 500,000 shares subject to such stockholder approval. All such shares will be made available either from authorized but unissued Common Stock or from Common Stock reacquired by the Company. From and after January 1, 1994 until June 30, 2006, in no event could any one individual participating in the Omnibus Plan be granted stock options and/or stock appreciation rights for more than 1,600,000 shares of Common Stock in the aggregate during such period. For purposes of such limitation, any stock options or stock appreciation rights granted *prior to* January 1, 1994 are not be taken into account. Effective upon stockholder approval of this Proposal Three, for purposes of Section 162(m) of the Code, no award recipient may be granted (i) options or stock appreciation rights with respect to more than 500,000 shares of Common Stock in the aggregate within any fiscal year or (ii) qualified performance based awards which could result in such person receiving more than \$1,500,000 in cash or the equivalent fair market value of shares of Common Stock determined at the date of grant for each full or partial fiscal year contained in the performance period of a particular qualified performance based award, subject to certain adjustments as described in more detail below under the heading Performance Awards.

Shares subject to any outstanding options or other equity based awards under the Omnibus Plan which expire or otherwise terminate prior to exercise will be available for subsequent issuance. Unvested shares issued under the Omnibus Plan that the Company subsequently purchases, at the option exercise or direct issue price paid per share, pursuant to the Company s purchase rights under the Omnibus Plan will be added back to the number of shares reserved for issuance under the Omnibus Plan and will accordingly be available for subsequent issuance. However, any shares subject to tandem stock appreciation rights that were exercised under the Omnibus Plan will not be available for reissuance.

In the event any change is made to the outstanding shares of Common Stock by reason of any recapitalization, stock dividend, stock split, combination of shares, exchange of shares or other change in corporate structure effected without the Company s receipt of consideration, appropriate adjustments will be made to the class and number of securities issuable (in the aggregate and to each participant) under the Omnibus Plan and to each outstanding option and other equity based award.

# **Eligibility**

Officers, employees, consultants, advisors, and Board members in the service of the Company or any parent or subsidiary corporation are eligible to participate in the Discretionary Option Grant Program and the Other Equity Based Awards Program, provided that only non-Committee Board members are eligible to participate in the Discretionary Option Grant Program. Only non-employee Board members are eligible to participate in the Automatic Option Grant Program. Awards under the Omnibus Plan may only be transferred by will or by the laws of descent and distribution, except that options under the Omnibus Plan may also be transferred without consideration to a family member pursuant to the General Instructions to form S-8 under the Securities Act of 1933.

As of May 31, 2006, approximately 1,900 employees, two consultants, three executive officers and four non-employee Board members were eligible to participate in the Discretionary Option Grant Program and the Other Equity Based Awards Program. Four non-employee Board members are eligible to participate in the Automatic Option Grant Program.

10

#### **Table of Contents**

#### Valuation

For purposes of establishing the option exercise price or the price for other equity based awards, and for all other valuation purposes under the Omnibus Plan, the fair market value per share of Common Stock on any relevant date under the Omnibus Plan will be the closing selling price per share on such date, as quoted on the Nasdaq National Market and published in *The Wall Street Journal*. If there is no reported closing selling price for such date, then the closing selling price for the last previous date for which such quotation exists will be used as its fair market value. The closing selling price per share of the Common Stock as quoted on the Nasdaq National Market on May 31, 2006 was \$23.73 per share.

#### **Discretionary Option Grant Program**

The Committee has complete discretion under the Discretionary Option Grant Program to determine which eligible individuals are to receive option grants, the time or times when those grants are to be made, the number of shares subject to each such grant, the vesting schedule (if any) to be in effect for the option grant and the maximum term for which any granted option is to remain outstanding. Unless otherwise provided in a particular award agreement, the options granted under the Discretionary Option Grant Program generally will have the following terms and conditions: *Price and Exercisability*. The exercise price per share for options issued under the Discretionary Option Grant Program may not be less than the fair market value of the Common Stock on the grant date, and no option may be outstanding for more than ten years. The shares subject to each option will generally vest in one or more installments over a specified period of service measured from the grant date.

Upon cessation of service, the optionee will have a limited period of time in which to exercise any outstanding option for the number of shares which were vested at the time service terminated. The Committee will have complete discretion to extend the period following the optionee s cessation of service during which his or her outstanding options may be exercised and/or accelerate the exercisability or vesting of such options in whole or in part. Such discretion may be exercised at any time while the options remain outstanding, whether before or after the optionee s cessation of service.

Acceleration of Options. In the event of an acquisition of the Company by merger or asset sale ( Corporate Transaction ), each option outstanding under the Discretionary Option Grant Program at the time will automatically become exercisable as to all of the option shares immediately prior to the effective date of the Corporate Transaction. However, no acceleration will occur if and to the extent: (i) such option is either to be assumed by the successor corporation or its parent or replaced by a comparable option to purchase shares of the capital stock of the successor corporation or its parent, (ii) such option is to be replaced with a cash incentive program of the successor corporation designed to preserve the difference between the exercise price and the fair market value of the Common Stock at the time of the Corporate Transaction and incorporating the same vesting schedule applicable to the option or (iii) acceleration of such option is subject to other limitations imposed by the Committee at the time of grant. Upon the consummation of any Corporate Transaction, all outstanding options will, to the extent not previously exercised by the optionees or assumed by the successor corporation (or its parent company), terminate and cease to be outstanding. The Committee will have the discretion to provide for the automatic acceleration of one or more assumed or replaced options which are not otherwise accelerated in connection with the Corporate Transaction, or to provide for automatic vesting of the optionee s interest in any cash incentive program implemented in replacement of his or her options under the Discretionary Option Grant Program, should the optionee s employment with the successor entity terminate within a designated period following the Corporate Transaction.

The acceleration of options in the event of a Corporate Transaction may be seen as an anti-take-over provision and may have the effect of discouraging a merger proposal, a take-over attempt or other efforts to gain control of the Company.

Tandem Stock Appreciation Rights. At the Committee s discretion, options granted under the Discretionary Option Grant Program may be granted with tandem stock appreciation rights. Two types of stock appreciation rights are authorized for issuance: (i) tandem stock appreciation rights which require the option holder to elect between the exercise of the underlying option for shares of Common Stock and the surrender of such option for a share distribution and (ii) prior to July 1, 2006, limited stock appreciation rights which are automatically exercised upon the occurrence of a hostile take-over of the Company.

Tandem stock appreciation rights provide the holders with the right to surrender their option for an appreciation distribution from the Company equal in amount to the excess of (i) the fair market value (on the date of surrender) of the shares of Common Stock in which the optionee is at the time vested under the surrendered option over (ii) the aggregate exercise price payable for such shares. Such appreciation distribution shall be made in shares of Common Stock valued at fair market value on the date of surrender.

11

#### **Table of Contents**

Prior to July 1, 2006, one or more officers of the Company subject to the short-swing profit restrictions of the Federal securities laws were, in the Committee s discretion, eligible to be granted a limited stock appreciation right as part of any stock option grant made to such officers. Any option with such a limited stock appreciation right will automatically be canceled upon the occurrence of a hostile take-over, to the extent the option is at such time exercisable for vested shares. In return, the optionee will be entitled to a cash distribution from the Company in an amount equal to the excess of (i) the take-over price per share over (ii) the aggregate exercise price payable for such shares.

Outstanding options granted to executive officers under the Omnibus Plan prior to June 15, 1992 provide such individuals with a different form of limited stock appreciation right in the event of a hostile take-over of the Company. Under this latter right, if the optionee is an officer of the Company at the time of such a hostile take-over, such optionee will have a thirty-day period in which to surrender the underlying option in return for a cash distribution from the Company equal to the excess for the take-over price of the shares subject to the surrendered option over the exercise price payable for such shares.

## **Automatic Option Grant Program**

Under the Automatic Option Grant Program, when an individual who has not been in the prior employ of the Company first becomes a non-employee Board member, whether through election by the Company s stockholders or appointment by the Board, he or she will receive an automatic option grant for 7,500 shares of Common Stock. In addition, on the date of each annual stockholders meeting, each individual who has served as a non-employee Board member for at least six months prior to the date of such stockholder meeting, whether or not he or she has been in the prior employ of the Company, will automatically be granted a stock option to purchase 3,000 shares of Common Stock. There will be no limit on the number of such 3,000-share options any one non-employee Board member may receive over his or her period of Board service.

Each option granted under the Automatic Option Grant Program will have an exercise price per share equal to 100% of the fair market value of the option shares on the automatic grant date and maximum term of ten years measured from the grant date. Each automatic grant will become exercisable in a series of four equal and successive annual installments over the optionee s period of Board service, with the first such installment to become exercisable twelve months after the grant date.

The shares subject to each automatic option grant will immediately vest upon the optionee s death or permanent disability and upon certain changes in control of the Company. In addition, upon the successful completion of a hostile take-over of the Company, each automatic option grant may be surrendered to the Company for a cash distribution per surrendered option share in an amount equal to the excess of (a) the take-over price per share over (b) the exercise price payable for such shares.

# **Other Equity Based Awards Program**

Free Standing Stock Appreciation Rights. The holder of a free standing stock appreciation right (SAR) is entitled to receive the excess of the fair market value (calculated as of the exercise date or, at the Committee s discretion, as of any time during a specified period before or after the exercise date) of a specified number of shares of the Company s Common Stock over the grant price of the SAR, as determined by the Committee, paid in shares of Common Stock. SARs vest and become exercisable in accordance with a vesting schedule established by the Committee. Restricted Stock and Restricted Stock Units. The holder of restricted stock will own shares of the Company s Common Stock subject to restrictions imposed by the Committee (including, for example, restrictions on transferability or on the right to vote the restricted shares or to receive any dividends with respect to the shares) for a specified time period determined by the Committee. The restrictions, if any, may lapse or be waived separately or collectively, in installments or otherwise, as the Committee may determine. The holder of restricted stock units will have the right, subject to any restrictions imposed by the Committee, to receive shares of the Company s Common Stock at some future date determined by the Committee. The Committee also may permit accelerated vesting in the case of a participant s death, disability or retirement, or a change in control. If the participant s employment or service as a director terminates during the vesting period for any other reason, the restricted stock and restricted stock units will be forfeited, unless the Committee determines that it would be in the Company s best interest to waive the remaining restrictions.

Performance Awards. Performance awards give participants the right to receive payments in stock or property based solely upon the achievement of certain performance goals during a specified performance period. Subject to the terms of the Omnibus Plan, the performance goals to be achieved during any performance period, the length of any performance period, the amount of any performance award granted, the amount of any payment or transfer to be made pursuant to any performance award and any other terms and conditions of any performance award is determined by the Committee. From time to time, the Committee may designate an award granted pursuant to the Omnibus Plan as an award of qualified performance based compensation within the meaning of Section 162(m) of the Code. Such a qualified performance based award must, to the extent required by Section 162(m), be conditioned solely on the achievement of one or more objective

12

#### **Table of Contents**

performance goals. The Committee must designate all participants for each performance period, and establish performance goals and target awards for each participant no later than 90 days after the beginning of each performance period within the parameters of Section 162(m) of the Code. Performance goals must be based solely on one or more of the following business criteria: revenue, cash flow, gross profit, earnings before interest and taxes, earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation and amortization and net earnings, earnings per share, margins (including one or more of gross, operating and net income margins), returns (including one or more of return on assets, equity, investment, capital and revenue and total stockholder return), stock price, economic value added, working capital, market share, cost reductions, workforce satisfaction and diversity goals, employee retention, customer satisfaction, completion of key projects and strategic plan development and implementation.

The measure of performance may be set by reference to an absolute standard or a comparison to specified companies or groups of companies, or other external measures, and may be applied at individual or organizational levels. If the Committee so provides for purposes of Section 162(m) of the Code, no person may be granted under the Omnibus Plan qualified performance based awards which could result in such person receiving more than \$1,500,000 in cash or the equivalent fair market value of shares of Common Stock determined at the date of grant for each full or partial fiscal year contained in the performance period of a particular qualified performance based award, except that if any other qualified performance based awards are outstanding for such person for a given fiscal year, such dollar limitation shall be reduced for each such fiscal year by the amount that could be received by the person under all such qualified performance based awards, divided, for each such qualified performance based award, by the number of full or partial fiscal years contained in the performance period of each such outstanding qualified performance based award (subject to adjustment in the case of a stock dividend or other distribution, including a stock split, merger or other similar corporate transaction or event, but only to the extent that such adjustment does not affect the status of any award intended to qualify as performance based compensation under Section 162(m) of the Code). Dividend Equivalents. The holder of a dividend equivalent will be entitled to receive payments in shares of the Company s Common Stock, other securities or other property equivalent to the amount of cash dividends paid by the Company to its stockholders, with respect to the number of shares determined by the Committee. Dividend equivalents will be subject to other terms and conditions determined by the Committee.

*Stock Awards*. The Committee may grant unrestricted shares of the Company s Common Stock, subject to terms and conditions determined by the Committee and the Omnibus Plan limitations.

Acceleration. The Committee may permit accelerated vesting of other equity based awards upon the occurrence of certain events, including a change in control, regardless of whether the award is assumed, substituted or otherwise continued in effect by the successor corporation. The acceleration of vesting in the event of a change in the ownership or control may be seen as an anti-takeover provision and may have the effect of discouraging a merger proposal, a takeover attempt or other efforts to gain control of the Company.

## **Special Tax Withholding Election**

The Committee may provide participants who hold options or other equity based awards with the right to have the Company withhold a portion of the shares otherwise issuable to such individuals in satisfaction of the withholding taxes to which such individuals become subject in connection with the exercise of those options or the vesting of those shares. Alternatively, the Committee may allow such individuals to deliver previously acquired shares of Common Stock in payment of such withholding tax liability.

#### **Financial Assistance**

The Committee may assist any award recipient in the exercise of outstanding options or other equity based awards under the Omnibus Plan by (a) authorizing a full-recourse interest bearing loan from the Company, (b) permitting the award recipient to pay the exercise or purchase price in installments over a period of years or (c) authorizing a guarantee by the Company of a third-party loan to the award recipient, but in any case only to the extent permissible under Section 402 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002. The terms and conditions of any such loan or installment payment will be established by the Committee in its sole discretion, but in no event may the maximum credit extended to the award recipient exceed the aggregate exercise price payable for the purchased shares (less the par value), plus any Federal and state income or employment taxes incurred in connection with the purchase.

#### **Amendment and Termination of the Omnibus Plan**

The Board may amend or modify the Omnibus Plan, subject to any required stockholder approval and certain other limitations. The Board may terminate the Omnibus Plan at any time, but the Omnibus Plan will in all events terminate on the earliest of (i) June 30, 2016, (ii) the date all shares available for issuance under the Omnibus Plan are issued or canceled

13

#### **Table of Contents**

pursuant to the exercise or surrender of options or other awards granted under the Omnibus Plan or (iii) the date all outstanding awards are terminated in connection with a Corporate Transaction. Any options or other awards outstanding at the time of termination of the Omnibus Plan will remain in force in accordance with the provisions of the instruments evidencing such grants.

#### **Options Granted**

The table below shows, as to the Named Executive Officers (as defined under Summary of Cash and Certain Other Compensation ) and the other indicated persons and groups, the number of shares of Common Stock subject to options granted under the Option Plan during the period from April 1, 2005 to May 31, 2006, together with the weighted average exercise price per share.

	Granted	Weighted Average Exercise
Name and Position	4/1/05-5/31/	06Price
V. Gordon Clemons	-0-	
Chairman of the Board and Chief Executive Officer		
Daniel J. Starck	100,000	\$23.64
President		
Scott McCloud	6,800	\$22.72
Chief Financial Officer		
Steven J. Hamerslag	4,500	\$23.33
Nominee for Election as Director		
Alan R. Hoops	4,500	\$23.33
Nominee for Election as Director		
R. Judd Jessup	4,500	\$23.33
Nominee for Election as Director		
Jeffrey J. Michael	4,500	\$23.33
Nominee for Election as Director		
All current executive officers as a group (3 persons)	106,800	\$23.58
All current directors (other than executive officers) as a group (4 persons)	18,000	\$23.33
All other employees, including current officers who are not executive officers, as a group (205 persons)	242,750	\$21.36

#### **New Plan Benefits**

No options or other awards will be granted prior to the Annual Meeting on the basis of the extension of, or the additional 500,000 share increase to the Omnibus Plan. The Committee in its sole discretion will determine the number and types of awards that will be granted. Thus, it is not possible to determine the benefits that will be received by eligible participants if the amendment and restatement of the Omnibus Plan were to be approved by the stockholders. The Company does not have any specific current plans or commitments for any future awards under the Omnibus Plan. However, on the date of the Annual Meeting each of Messrs. Hamerslag, Hoops, Jessup and Michael, if re-elected at the Annual Meeting, will receive an additional grant of 3,000 shares of Common Stock under the Automatic Option Grant Program at an exercise price equal to the fair market value on such date.

#### **Certain Federal Income Tax Consequences**

The following is a summary of the principal U.S. federal income tax consequences generally applicable to awards under the Omnibus Plan.

Grant of Options and SARs. The grant of a stock option or SAR is not expected to result in any taxable income for the recipient.

Exercise of Options and SARs. Upon exercising a non-qualified stock option, the optionee will recognize ordinary income equal to the excess of the fair market value of the shares of the Company s Common Stock acquired on the date of exercise over the exercise price, and the Company will generally be entitled at that time to an income tax deduction for the same amount. Upon exercising a SAR, the recipient of the SAR will recognize ordinary income in an amount equal to the fair market value on the exercise date of any shares of the Company s Common Stock received, and the Company will receive an income tax deduction in the same amount.

14

#### **Table of Contents**

Disposition of Shares Acquired Upon Exercise of Options and SARs. The tax consequence upon a disposition of shares acquired through the exercise of an option or SAR will depend on how long the shares have been held and whether the shares were acquired by exercising a non-qualified stock option or SAR. Generally, there will be no tax consequence to the Company in connection with the disposition of shares acquired under an option or SAR. Awards Other than Options and SARs. As to other awards granted under the Omnibus Plan that are payable in either cash or shares of the Company s Common Stock that are either transferable or not subject to substantial risk of forfeiture, the holder of the award must recognize ordinary income equal to (a) the amount of cash received or, as applicable, (b) the excess of (i) the fair market value of the shares received (determined as of the date of receipt) over (ii) the amount (if any) paid for the shares by the holder of the award. The Company will generally be entitled at that time to an income tax deduction for the same amount.

As to an award that is payable in shares of the Company s Common Stock that are restricted from transfer and subject to substantial risk of forfeiture, unless a special election is made by the holder of the award under the Code, the holder must recognize ordinary income equal to the excess of (i) the fair market value of the shares received (determined as of the first time the shares become transferable or not subject to substantial risk of forfeiture, whichever occurs earlier) over (ii) the amount (if any) paid for the shares by the holder of the award. The Company will generally be entitled at that time to an income tax deduction for the same amount.

Income Tax Deduction. Subject to the usual rules concerning reasonable compensation, and assuming that, as expected, performance awards paid under the Omnibus Plan are qualified performance-based compensation within the meaning of Section 162(m) of the Code, the Company will generally be entitled to a corresponding income tax deduction at the time a participant recognizes ordinary income from awards made under the Omnibus Plan. Application of Section 16. Special rules may apply to individuals subject to Section 16 of the Exchange Act. In particular, unless a special election is made pursuant to the Code, shares received through the exercise of a stock option or SAR may be treated as restricted as to transferability and subject to a substantial risk of forfeiture for a period of up to six months after the date of exercise. Accordingly, the amount of any ordinary income recognized and the amount of the Company s income tax deduction will be determined as of the end of that period. Deductibility of Executive Compensation Under Code Section 162(m). Section 162(m) of the Code generally limits to \$1,000,000 the amount that a publicly-held corporation is allowed each year to deduct for the compensation paid to each of the corporation s chief executive officer and the corporation s other four most highly compensated executive officers. However, qualified performance-based qualified compensation is not subject to the \$1,000,000 deduction limit. In general, to qualify as performance-based compensation, the following requirements need to be satisfied: (1) payments must be computed on the basis of an objective, performance-based compensation standard determined by a committee consisting solely of two or more outside directors, (2) the material terms under which the compensation is to be paid, including the business criteria upon which the performance goals are based, and a limit on the maximum bonus amount which may be paid to any participant pursuant with respect to any performance period, must be approved by a majority of the Company s stockholders and (3) the committee must certify that the applicable performance goals were satisfied before payment of any performance-based compensation.

The Omnibus Plan has been designed to permit grants of stock options and SARs issued under the Omnibus Plan to qualify under the performance-based compensation rules so that income attributable to the exercise of a non-qualified stock option or a SAR may be exempt from \$1,000,000 deduction limit. Grants of other awards under the Omnibus Plan may not so qualify for this exemption. The Omnibus Plan s provisions are consistent in form with the performance-based compensation rules, so that if the committee that grants options or SARs consists exclusively of members of the Board who qualify as outside directors, and the exercise price (or deemed exercise price, with respect to SARs) is not less than the fair market value of the shares of Common Stock to which such grants relate, the compensation income arising on exercise of those options or SARs should qualify as performance-based compensation which is deductible even if that income would be in excess of the otherwise applicable limits on deductible compensation income under Code Section 162(m).

#### **Accounting Treatment**

Effective April 1, 2006, (the implementation date ), the beginning of fiscal 2007, the Company has accounted for stock-based compensation as contemplated under the Omnibus Plan under Statement of Financial Accounting

Standards No. 123 (revised 2004), Share Based Payment (SFAS 123(R)). Pursuant to SFAS 123(R), the Company is required to expense against the Company is reported earnings: (1) the fair value of all option grants or stock issuances made to employees or directors on or after the implementation date; and (2) a portion of the fair value of each option and stock grant made to employees or directors prior to the implementation date that represents the unvested portion of these share-based awards as

15

#### **Table of Contents**

of such implementation date. These amounts are expensed after the implementation date over the respective vesting periods of each award using the straight line attribution method. The Company is using the modified prospective method under SFAS 123(R), whereby no prior periods are restated; rather, the Company will continue to disclose prior period pro-forma net earnings and net earnings per share in footnote disclosure. The number of outstanding options may affect the Company s earnings per share on a fully diluted basis.

## **Stockholder Approval**

The affirmative vote of a majority of the outstanding voting shares of the Company present or represented and entitled to vote at the Annual Meeting is required for approval of the amendments to, and restatement of, the Option Plan. Should such stockholder approval not be obtained, then the Option Plan will be deemed to have expired as of June 30, 2006 and no additional options will be granted.

The Board of Directors believes that the amendments to, and restatement of, the Option Plan are necessary in order to assure that the Company will continue to have a sufficient share reserve for an extended period of time to continue to provide equity incentives to attract and retain the services of employees, consultants and non-employee Board members.

THE BOARD RECOMMENDS A VOTE <u>FOR</u> THE AMENDMENTS TO, AND RESTATEMENT OF, THE OPTION PLAN AND THE RESERVATION OF AN ADDITIONAL 500,000 SHARES OF COMMON STOCK FOR ISSUANCE THEREUNDER.

16

# PROPOSAL FOUR RATIFICATION OF APPOINTMENT OF INDEPENDENT AUDITORS

The Company s stockholders are being asked to ratify the appointment of Grant Thornton LLP to serve as the Company s independent auditors for the fiscal year ending March 31, 2007. Stockholder ratification of the appointment of Grant Thornton LLP as the Company s independent auditors is not required by the Company s Bylaws or other applicable legal requirement. However, the Board is submitting the Audit Committee s appointment of Grant Thornton LLP to the stockholders for ratification as a matter of good corporate practice. If the stockholders fail to ratify the appointment by an affirmative vote of the holders of a majority of the Common Stock present or represented at the meeting and entitled to vote, the Audit Committee may reconsider whether to retain Grant Thornton LLP as the Company s independent auditors. Even if the appointment is ratified, the Audit Committee in its discretion may direct the appointment of a different independent accounting firm at any time during the year if it determines that such a change would be in the best interest of the Company and its stockholders.

Representatives of Grant Thornton LLP attended or participated by telephone in all meetings of the Audit Committee during fiscal 2006. The Audit Committee pre-approves and reviews audit and permissible non-audit services performed by Grant Thornton LLP as well as the fees charged by Grant Thornton LLP for such services. In its pre-approval and review of permissible non-audit service fees, the Audit Committee considers, among other factors, the possible effect of the performance of such services on the auditors independence. Under certain de minimis circumstances described in the rules and regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission (the SEC), the Audit Committee may approve permissible non-audit services prior to the completion of the audit in lieu of pre-approving such services.

The Company expects that representatives of Grant Thornton LLP will attend the Annual Meeting, will have the opportunity to make a statement if they so desire and will be available to respond to appropriate questions posed by stockholders.

### **Principal Accountant Fees and Services**

**Audit Fees.** Audit fees include the audit of the Company s annual financial statements, review of financial statements included in the Company s Form 10-Q quarterly reports, and services that are normally provided by Grant Thornton LLP in connection with statutory and regulatory filings or engagements for the relevant fiscal years. Audit fees billed by Grant Thornton LLP for services rendered to the Company in the audit of annual financial statements and the reviews of the financial statements included in the Company s Forms 10-Q were approximately \$739,245 for the 2006 fiscal year and \$262,085 for the 2005 fiscal year.

**Audit-Related Fees.** Audit-related fees consist of assurance and related services provided by Grant Thornton LLP that are reasonably related to the performance of the audit or review of the Company s financial statements and are not reported above under Audit Fees.

Fiscal 2006

Audit of the financial statements of CorVel Incentive Savings Plan

\$17,000

Fiscal 2005

Audit of the financial statements of CorVel Incentive Savings Plan

\$12,500

**Tax Fees.** Tax fees consist of professional services rendered by Grant Thornton LLP for tax compliance, tax advice and tax planning. The Company engaged Grant Thornton LLP to perform the following tax services for the fiscal year 2006 and fiscal year 2005:

Fiscal 2006

Preparation of Forms 5500 and tax consulting services

\$10,770

Fiscal 2005

Preparation of Forms 5500 and tax consulting services

\$15,505

**All Other Fees.** There were no such fees billed by Grant Thornton LLP during the fiscal year 2006 or fiscal year 2005.

## **Determination of Independence**

The Audit Committee has determined that the provision of the above non-audit services by Grant Thornton LLP was compatible with their maintenance of accountant independence.

17

#### **Table of Contents**

#### **Stockholder Approval**

The affirmative vote of a majority of the shares of the Common Stock present or represented by proxy at the Annual Meeting is being sought for ratification of the appointment of Grant Thornton LLP as the Company s independent auditors for the fiscal year ending March 31, 2007.

THE BOARD RECOMMENDS A VOTE <u>FOR</u> RATIFICATION OF THE APPOINTMENT OF GRANT THORNTON LLP AS THE COMPANY S INDEPENDENT AUDITORS FOR THE FISCAL YEAR ENDING MARCH 31, 2007.

#### **OTHER MATTERS**

Management does not know of any other matters to be brought before the Annual Meeting. If any other matter is properly presented for consideration at the Annual Meeting, it is intended that the proxies will be voted by the persons named therein in accordance with the Board of Directors recommendation. Discretionary authority with respect to such other matters is granted by the execution of the enclosed proxy.

18

## SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL OWNERS AND MANAGEMENT AND RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS

The following table sets forth certain information known to the Company as of May 31, 2006, with respect to beneficial ownership of Common Stock by (i) each person (or group of affiliated persons) who is known by the Company to own beneficially more than 5% of the outstanding Common Stock, (ii) each director and/or nominee for director, (iii) the Named Executive Officers (named under the heading Executive Compensation below), and (iv) all current directors and executive officers as a group, together with the approximate percentages of outstanding Common Stock beneficially owned by each of them. The following table is based upon information supplied by directors, executive officers and principal stockholders, and Schedules 13D and 13G filed with the SEC. Except as otherwise noted, the persons named in the following table have sole voting and investment power with respect to all shares shown as beneficially owned by them, subject to community property laws where applicable.

Name and Address of  Beneficial Owner Jeffrey J. Michael 10901 Red Circle Drive, Suite 370 Minnentonka, MN 55343	Amount of Common Stock Beneficially Owned 2,934,408 (2)	Percentage of Common Stock Beneficially Owned (1) 31.2%
Corstar Holdings, Inc. 10901 Red Circle Drive, Suite 370 Minnentonka, MN 55343	2,890,000	30.7%
V. Gordon Clemons 2010 Main Street, Suite 600 Irvine, CA 92614	1,162,295 (3)	12.4%
FMR Corporation 82 Devonshire Street Boston, MA 02109	1,002,295 (4)	10.6%
Wellington Management Company, LLP 75 State Street Boston, MA 02109	737,696 (5)	7.8%
Eaton Vance Corp. 255 State Street Boston, MA 02109	521,609 (6)	5.5%
Kestrel Investment Management Corporation Abbott J. Keller, David J. Steirman 411 Borel Avenue, Suite 403 San Mateo, CA 94402	509,240 (7)	5.4%
Steven J. Hamerslag	72,750 (8)	*
R. Judd Jessup	69,750 (9)	*

Richard J. Schweppe	20,580 (10)	*
Alan R. Hoops	14,625 (11)	*
Scott R. McCloud	8,421 (12)	*
All current executive officers and directors as a group (7 individuals)	4,326,317 (13)	45.4%

<sup>\*</sup> Less than 1%

## (1) Applicable

percentage

ownership is

ownership is

based on

9,416,900 shares of

Common Stock

outstanding as

of May 31,

2006, which

excludes a total

of shares

repurchased by

the Company in

accordance with

the Stock

Repurchase

Program and

held by the

Company in its

treasury. Any

securities not

outstanding but

which are

subject to

options

exercisable

within 60 days

of May 31,

2006, are

deemed

outstanding for

the purpose of

computing the

percentage of

outstanding

Common Stock

beneficially

owned by any

person holding

Edgar Filing: CORVEL CORP - Form DEF 14A

such options but are not deemed outstanding for the purpose of computing the percentage of Common Stock beneficially owned by any other person.

19

(2) Includes

2,890,000

shares owned by

Corstar, 44,408

shares owned

directly by

Mr. Michael, a

director of

Corstar and the

Company, and

33,750 shares

subject to

options held by

Mr. Michael

that are

exercisable

within 60 days

of May 31,

2006.

Mr. Michael is

the President.

Chief Executive

Officer and a

director of

Corstar. In

addition,

Mr. Michael is

the trustee of the

Michael Family

**Grantor Trust** 

(formerly

Michael

Acquisition

Corporation

Trust), which is

the sole

shareholder of

Corstar. Based

on the

foregoing,

Mr. Michael

may be deemed

to have

beneficial

ownership of

the shares of

Common Stock

of the Company

held by Corstar.

Mr. Michael disclaims such beneficial ownership except to the extent of any indirect pecuniary interest therein.

- (3) Includes
  1,162,679
  shares owned by
  Mr. Clemons
  directly.
- (4) According to the Schedule 13G of Fidelity Management & Research Company ( Fidelity ) dated February 14, 2006,, Fidelity is a wholly-owned subsidiary of FMR Corp. Edward C. Johnson, FMR Corp., through its control of Fidelity, and the funds each have sole power to dispose the shares, while power to vote the shares
- (5) According to
  Schedule 13G
  of Wellington
  Management
  Company
  (Wellington)

resides in the Fund s Board of

Trustees.

dated
February 14,
2006,
Wellington
shares
investment
power, along
with its clients,
with respect to
the shares.

- (6) According to Schedule 13G of Eaton Vance Corp. (Eaton) dated February 14, 2006, Eaton has sole investment power with respect to the shares.
- (7) According to the Schedule 13G of Kestrel Investment Management Corporation ( Kestrel ) dated February 13, 2006, Abbott J. Keller and David J. Steirman are the sole shareholders of Kestrel, with sole investment power with respect to the shares.
- (8) Includes 43,500 shares owned directly by Mr. Hamerslag and 29,250 shares subject to options that are

exercisable within 60 days of May 31, 2006.

- (9) Includes 38,400 shares owned directly by Mr. Jessup and 31,350 shares subject to options that are exercisable within 60 days of May 31, 2006.
- (10) Includes 20,580 shares owned directly by Mr. Schweppe and 7,522 shares subject to options that are exercisable within 60 days of May 31, 2006.
- (11) Consists of 14,625 shares subject to options held by Mr. Hoops that are exercisable within 60 days of May 31, 2006.
- (12) Includes 1,876 shares owned directly by Mr. McCloud, 502 shares owned by Mr. McCloud s spouse and 6,043 shares subject to options exercisable

within 60 days of May 31, 2006.

(13) Includes the information set forth in notes 2, 4, 8, 9, 10, 11, and 12 above.

## **Equity Compensation Plan Information**

The following table provides information as of March 31, 2006, with respect to the shares of Common Stock of the Company that may be issued under the Company s existing equity compensation plans. The Company has not assumed any equity compensation plans in connection with any mergers or acquisitions.

	Number of Weighted Securities to be Issued Upon Exercise Price Exercise of of Outstanding Options Options Options		C Number of Securities Remaining Available for Future		
Plan Category			Issuance Under Equity Compensation Plans (Excluding Securities Reflected in Column A)		
Equity Compensation Plans Approved by Shareholders (1)	846,482(2)	\$ 25.92	794,005(3)		
<b>Equity Compensation Plans Not Approved</b> <b>by Shareholders</b>	0	\$ 0	0		
Total	846,482	\$ 25.92	794,005		

- (1) Consists solely of the 1988
  Executive Stock
  Option Plan and the 1991
  Employee Stock
  Purchase Plan.
- (2) Excludes
  purchase rights
  accruing under
  the Company s
  1991 Employee
  Stock Purchase
  Plan which has
  a stockholder
  approved
  reserve of

950,000 shares. Under the Purchase Plan, each eligible employee may purchase up to 1,500 shares of Common Stock of the Company at semi-annual intervals on the last business day of March and September each year at a purchase price per share equal to 85% of the lower of (i) the fair market value of a share of Common Stock of the Company on the date on which the purchase right is granted or (ii) the fair market value of a share of Common Stock of the Company on the date the purchase right is exercised.

(3) Includes shares available for future issuance under the 1991 Employee Stock Purchase Plan. As of March 31, 2006, an aggregate of 199,169 shares of Common Stock of the Company were available for issuance under

the 1991 Employee Stock Purchase Plan.

Share issuances under the 1988 Executive Stock Option Plan will not reduce or otherwise affect the number of shares of Common Stock of the Company available for issuance under the 1991 Employee Stock Purchase Plan, and share issuances under 1991 Employee Stock Purchase Plan will not reduce or otherwise affect the number of shares of Common Stock of the Company available for issuance under the 1988 Executive Stock Option Plan.

20

#### DIRECTORS AND EXECUTIVE OFFICERS OF THE COMPANY

The following table set forth certain information regarding the directors and executive officers of the Company as of May 31, 2006:

Name	Age	Position
V. Gordon Clemons	62	Chairman of the Board and Chief Executive
		Officer
Daniel J. Starck	39	President and Chief Operating Officer
Scott McCloud	39	Chief Financial Officer
Steven J. Hamerslag	49	Director
Alan R. Hoops	58	Director
R. Judd Jessup	58	Director
Jeffrey J. Michael	49	Director

The following is a brief description of the capacities in which each of the Company s executive officers who is not also a director has served during the past five years. The biographies of Messrs. Clemons, Hamerslag, Hoops, Jessup and Michael appear earlier in this Proxy Statement and are incorporated here by reference. See Proposal One: Election of Directors.

Mr. Starck joined the Company on May 26, 2006 as President and Chief Operating Officer. Prior to joining the Company, Mr. Starck served as the Executive Vice President, Customer Services since November 2005 for Apria Healthcare Group, Inc., a provider of home healthcare services. From July 2003 to November 2005, Mr. Starck served as Apria s Executive Vice President, Business Operations. From April 2001 to July 2003, Mr. Starck served as Division Vice President, Operations for Apria s Pacific Division. From January 1998 to April 2001, Mr. Starck served as Regional Vice President, Operations for Apria s Northern California Region.

Mr. McCloud has been the Company s Chief Financial Officer since August 2005. From June 1997 to August 2005, Mr. McCloud was the Controller for the Company. Mr. McCloud joined the Company in June 1995 and served as Assistant Controller until his promotion to Corporate Controller in June 1997.

## Section 16(a) Beneficial Ownership Reporting Compliance

Section 16(a) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 (the 1934 Act ), as amended, requires the Company s officers and directors, and persons who own more than 10% of a registered class of the Company s equity securities, to file reports of ownership and changes in ownership with the SEC. Officers, directors and greater than 10% stockholders are required by SEC regulations to furnish the Company with copies of all Section 16(a) forms they file.

Based solely on its review of the copies of such forms received by it, or written representations from certain reporting persons that no Forms 5 were required for those persons, the Company believes that, during fiscal year 2006, all transactions required to be reported by its officers, directors and greater than 10% beneficial owners were reported in a timely manner, except as described below.

One report on Form 3 under Section 16(a) of the 1934 Act, reporting stock holdings in the Company s Common Stock, was incorrectly filed by Mr. McCloud due to a clerical error, and one report on Form 4 under Section 16(a) of the 1934 Act, reporting additional transactions in the Company s Common Stock, was not timely filed by Mr. McCloud due to a clerical error.

One report on Form 4 under Section 16(a) of the 1934 Act, reporting one transaction in the Company s Common Stock, was not timely filed by Mr. Michael due to a clerical error.

## **Compensation Committee Interlocks and Insider Participation**

Messrs. Hamerslag, Hoops and Michael served as members of the Compensation Committee during fiscal year 2006. Mr. Michael is the President and Chief Executive Officer of Corstar Holdings, Inc., a beneficial owner of more than 10% of the outstanding Common Stock of the Company. No member of the Compensation Committee was, during fiscal 2006, an employee or officer of the Company or was formerly an officer of the Company.

During fiscal 2006, no current executive officer of the Company served as a member of the board of directors or compensation committee of any other entity that has or had one or more executive officers serving as a member of the Company s Board or Compensation Committee.

21

#### **EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION**

### **Summary of Cash and Certain Other Compensation**

The following table sets forth the compensation earned by the Company's Chief Executive Officer and each of the other executive officers, whose total salary and bonus for fiscal year 2006 exceeded \$100,000, for the three fiscal years ended March 31, 2006, 2005 and 2004. The listed individuals shall be referred to in this Proxy Statement as the Named Executive Officers. No other executive officers who would otherwise have been included in such table on the basis of salary and bonus earned for the 2006 fiscal year has been excluded by reason of termination of employment or change in executive status during fiscal year 2006.

	Sumi					
	An	<b>Long-Term Compensation</b>				
				Securities		
Name of Individual	Fiscal			Underlying	Al	l Other
				Options		
and Principal Position	Year	Salary(1)	Bonus	Granted	Comp	ensation(2)
V. Gordon Clemons	2006	\$350,000	\$		\$	2,574
Chief Executive Officer	2005	\$350,000	\$		\$	546
	2004	\$291,938	\$		\$	652
Richard J. Schweppe(3)	2006	\$125,050	\$33,163	1,850	\$	210
Director of Finance	2005	\$122,254	\$14,697	2,000	\$	393
	2004	\$120,000	\$21,565	1,750	\$	435
Scott R McCloud (4)	2006	\$114,890	\$13,585	5,300	\$	81
Chief Financial Officer	2005	\$ 95,950	\$11,893	1,800	\$	49
	2004	\$ 92,500	\$17,100	1,000	\$	378

- (1) Includes employee contributions to the Company's Section 401(k) Plan.
- (2) Represents
  matching
  contributions by
  the Company to
  the Company s
  Section 401(k)
  Plan and annual
  premiums paid
  by the Company
  for the purchase
  of group term
  life insurance in
  an amount equal
  to each
  executive

officer s annual salary as follows:

		Cor	npany	Comp	pany-Paid
		Contributions to		Life	
	Fiscal			Ins	surance
	Year	Section 4	401(k) Plan	Pro	emiums
V. Gordon Clemons	2006	\$	0	\$	2,574
	2005	\$	0	\$	546
	2004	\$	337	\$	315
Richard J. Schweppe	2006	\$	0	\$	210
	2005	\$	0	\$	393
	2004	\$	284	\$	151
Scott R. McCloud	2006	\$	0	\$	81
	2005	\$	0	\$	49
	2004	\$	329	\$	49

- (3) Mr. Schweppe resigned as Chief Financial Officer on August 22, 2005.
- (4) Mr. McCloud was appointed Chief Financial Officer on August 22, 2005.

22

## **Stock Options and Stock Appreciation Rights**

The following table provides information with respect to stock option grants made during fiscal year 2006 to the Named Executive Officers. No options were granted to Mr. Clemons during fiscal year 2006. Except for the limited stock appreciation rights described in footnote 1 below the table, no stock appreciation rights were granted during such fiscal year to the Named Executive Officers.

## **Option Grants in Last Fiscal Year**

	Number of Securities		Percent of Total Options			Value at Annual Ra	Realizable Assumed ate of Stock
	Underlying		Granted to Employees	Exercise			rice n for Option
	Options Granted	Grant	in Fiscal	Price	Expiration		erm
Name	(1)	Date	Year(2)	(\$/Share)(3)	Date	<b>5%(4)</b>	10%(4)
Scott McCloud	500	5/05/05	0.36%	\$ 20.25	5/05/10	\$ 2,797	\$ 6,181
	4,000	9/1/05	2.85%	\$ 23.68	09/01/10	\$ 26,169	\$ 57,828
	300	12/07/05	0.21%	\$ 19.74	12/07/10	\$ 1,636	\$ 3,615
	500	2/02/06	0.36%	\$ 17.99	2/02/11	\$ 2,485	\$ 5,492
Richard J.							
Schweppe	700	5/05/05	0.50%	\$ 20.25	5/05/10	\$ 3,916	\$ 8,654
	600	9/01/05	0.43%	\$ 23.68	9/01/10	\$ 3,925	\$ 8,674
	300	11/22/05	0.21%	\$ 16.50	11/22/10	\$ 1,368	\$ 3,022
	250	2/02/06	0.18%	\$ 17.99	2/02/11	\$ 1,243	\$ 2,746

(1) Each option will become exercisable for 25% of the option shares one year from the grant date and thereafter the remaining shares become exercisable in 36 equal monthly installments. To the extent not already exercisable, the options become exercisable upon (a) a sale of assets, (b) a merger in which

the Company does not survive or (c) a reverse merger in which the Company survives but ownership of 50% or more of the voting power of the Company s stock is transferred, unless the option is assumed or replaced with a comparable option by the successor corporation. The options are also subject to limited stock appreciation rights pursuant to which the options, to the extent exercisable at the time a hostile tender offer occurs, will automatically be canceled in return for a cash payment equal to the tender-offer price minus the exercise price multiplied by the number of shares for which the option was exercisable. Each option has a maximum term of five years subject to

earlier

termination in the event of the optionee s cessation of employment with the Company.

- (2) The Company granted options to employees to purchase a total of 156,000 shares of Common Stock during fiscal year 2006.
- (3) The exercise price is equal to the fair market value of the Common Stock on the grant date and may be paid in cash, in shares of Common Stock valued at fair market value on the exercise date or through a cashless exercise procedure involving a same-day sale of the purchased shares. For employees who are not executive officers or directors, the Company also may finance the option exercise by loaning the optionee sufficient funds

to pay the

exercise price for the purchased shares and the Federal and state income tax liability incurred by the optionee in connection with such exercise.

(4) The 5% and 10% assumed annual rates of compounded stock price appreciation are mandated by the rules and regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission and do not represent the Company s estimate or projection of the future trading prices of the Company s common stock. Amounts represent hypothetical gains that could be achieved for the respective options if exercised at the end of the ten-year option term. These amounts represent assumed rates of appreciation in the value of the

Company s common stock

from the fair market value on

the date of

grant. Actual

gains, if any, on

stock option

exercises are

dependent on

numerous

factors,

including the

Company s

future

performance,

the future

performance of

the Company s

common stock,

overall business

and stock

market

conditions, and

the option

holder s

continued

employment

with the

Company

throughout the

entire vesting

period and

option term,

which factors

are not reflected

in this table.

The values

reflected in this

table may not

necessarily be

achieved.

Potential

realizable values

are net of

exercise price,

but before the

payment of

taxes associated

with exercise.

## **Stock Option Exercises and Holdings**

The following table provides information with respect to the Named Executive Officer concerning the exercise of options during the 2006 fiscal year and unexercised options held as of the end of such fiscal year. No stock

appreciation rights were exercised during the 2006 fiscal year and except for the limited stock appreciation rights described in footnote 1 to the table above, no stock appreciation rights were held by any Named Executive Officer at the end of such fiscal year.

23

## **Table of Contents**

# Aggregated Option Exercises In Last Fiscal Year And Fiscal Year-End Option Values

**Number of Securities** 

	No. of Shares		Unexercise	Underlying Unexercised Options at Fiscal  Year-End 2006 Exercisable Unexercisable 30,000 0		Net Value of Unexercised In-the-Money		
Name V. Gordon Clemons	acquired on exercise	Value Realized(2)	Exercisable			at Fiscal Year-End(1) Unexercisable 0		
Scott McCloud	375	\$ 1,469	6,283	7,117	\$ 493	\$ 4,911		
Richard Schweppe	5,550	\$ 29,697	7,599	4,126	\$ 220	\$ 4,563		

- (1) The value of unexercised in-the-money options has been calculated based on multiplying the number of shares underlying the options by the difference between the exercise price per share payable upon exercise of the options and \$22.02, the closing sales price of the Company s common stock on the last trading day of the 2006 fiscal year.
- (2) The value realized upon option exercise has been calculated based

on multiplying the number of shares acquired on exercise of each respective option by the difference between the respective exercise price per share paid upon exercise and the closing sales price of the Company s common stock on the respective dates of exercise.

## **Employment Agreements, Termination of Employment and Change in Control Arrangements**

On January 26, 1988, the Company and North Star entered into an employment agreement with Mr. Clemons. The agreement became effective on February 15, 1988 and has an indefinite term. The agreement initially provided Mr. Clemons with an annual salary of \$250,000, payable in semi-monthly installments. Mr. Clemons may terminate the agreement at any time on four months notice and the Company may terminate the agreement at any time with or without cause. If Mr. Clemons is terminated without cause, the Company is required to pay Mr. Clemons his salary for one year after such termination, less any other employment compensation received by Mr. Clemons during such one year period. The Compensation Committee approved an increase in Mr. Clemons annual salary to \$350,000, effective January 1, 2002.

The Company entered into an employment agreement effective May 26, 2006 with Dan Starck in connection with Mr. Starck s appointment as President and Chief Operating Officer of the Company. Pursuant to the terms of this employment agreement, Mr. Starck will receive an initial annual base salary of \$330,000, subject to periodic review and adjustment. For the remainder of calendar year 2006, Mr. Starck will be eligible to receive, in the Company s sole discretion, a guaranteed bonus of \$75,000, provided that he completes at least six months of employment with the Company before the end of calendar year 2006, and he will be eligible to receive, in the Company s sole discretion, an additional bonus of up to \$75,000 based upon certain performance criteria to be determined by the Company s Board of Directors. For calendar year 2007 and each calendar year thereafter during the term of the employment agreement, Mr. Starck will be eligible to receive, in the Company s sole discretion, a discretionary annual bonus of up to 70% of his annual base salary upon meeting certain expectations, or up to 100% of his annual base salary for exceeding such expectations. The bonus amount will be based on the following factors: (1) the financial performance of the Company as determined and measured by the Company s Board of Directors and Chief Executive Officer; and (2) Mr. Starck s achievement of management targets and goals as set by the Company.

The employment agreement with Mr. Starck continues until terminated upon written notice by either party at any time for any reason. Pursuant to the terms of the employment agreement, if (i) the Company terminates Mr. Starck s employment other than for cause (as such term is defined in the employment agreement), because of his death, or as a result of disability or (ii) Mr. Starck terminates his employment within 60 days following a reduction in his annual base salary to an annual amount less than \$297,000, Mr. Starck will be entitled to continued payment of his then current annual base salary for (a) a minimum of twenty-six weeks and (b) an additional week for each calendar quarter of service provided to the Company during the term of the employment agreement, provided that the total of such payments shall not exceed the annual base salary for one year and in any event shall cease at such time as Mr. Starck is gainfully employed elsewhere, and provided further that such payments shall be conditioned on Mr. Starck signing a general release of all known and unknown claims against the Company. Mr. Starck also will be entitled to certain

gross-up payments not to exceed \$500,000 to

24

#### **Table of Contents**

offset any applicable excise taxes imposed pursuant to Sections 280G and 4999 of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended.

In connection with his employment, Mr. Starck also was granted options to purchase an aggregate of 100,000 shares of the Company s Common Stock under and pursuant to the terms of its Option Plan and its option agreements. One option to purchase 50,000 shares of Common Stock will vest 25% on the first anniversary of the grant date, and the remaining 75% of the shares subject to the option will vest in 36 successive equal monthly installments upon completion of each month of service by Mr. Starck after the first anniversary of the grant date. The other option to purchase 50,000 shares of Common Stock will vest based on the achievement of certain performance criteria, approved by the Company s Board of Directors and Compensation Committee, relating to earnings growth. Pursuant to the terms of the option agreements, in the event that Mr. Starck is terminated at any time after a corporate change in control transaction, the vesting of his options will accelerate and become fully vested.

The Company does not have any existing employment agreements with any other Named Executive Officer. In the event of a corporate change in control transaction, each outstanding option granted under the Discretionary Option Grant Program of the Option Plan will automatically become exercisable as to all of the option shares immediately prior to the effective date of the corporate change in control transaction. However, no acceleration will occur if and to the extent: (a) such option is either to be assumed by the successor corporation or parent thereof or replaced by a comparable option to purchase shares of the capital stock of the successor corporation or parent thereof, (b) such option is to be replaced with a cash incentive program of the successor corporation designed to preserve the option spread existing at the time of the corporate change in control transaction and incorporating the same vesting schedule applicable to the option or (c) acceleration of such option is subject to other applicable limitations imposed by the Compensation Committee at the time of grant.

The Compensation Committee, as the administrator of the Option Plan, has the authority to provide for accelerated vesting of the shares of Common Stock subject to any outstanding options held by any of the Named Executive Officers in connection with certain changes in control of the Company or the subsequent termination of the officer s employment following a change in control.

25

#### **AUDIT COMMITTEE REPORT\***

The Audit Committee carries out its responsibilities pursuant to its written charter, and the members of the fiscal year 2006 Audit Committee have prepared and submitted this Audit Committee report. Each Audit Committee member is considered independent because each member satisfies the independence requirements for board members prescribed by the applicable rules of Nasdaq and Rule 10A-3 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended. Among other things, the Audit Committee oversees the Company s financial reporting process on behalf of the Board. Management has the primary responsibility for the financial statements and the reporting process, including the system of internal control. In fulfilling its oversight responsibilities, the Audit Committee reviewed the Company s audited financial statements in the Annual Report on Form 10-K with management, including a discussion of the quality, not just the acceptability, of the accounting principles; the reasonableness of significant judgments; and the clarity of disclosures in the financial statements.

The Audit Committee also reviewed with the independent auditors, who are responsible for expressing an opinion on the conformity of those audited financial statements with generally accepted accounting principles, their judgments as to the quality, not just the acceptability, of the Company's accounting principles and such other matters as are required to be discussed with audit committees by Statement on Auditing Standards No. 61, *Communication With Audit Committees*, as amended. In addition, the audit committee discussed with the independent auditors their independence from management and the Company; such discussions included matters in the written disclosures required by Independence Standards Board Standard No. 1, *Independence Discussions With Audit Committees*. Throughout the year and prior to the performance of any such services the Audit Committee also considered the compatibility of potential non-audit services with the auditors independence.

The Audit Committee discussed with the Company s independent auditors their overall approach, scope and plans for the audit. At the conclusion of the audit, the Audit Committee met with the independent auditors, with and without management present, to discuss the results of their examination, their evaluation of the Company s internal control and the overall quality of the Company s financial reporting.

In reliance on the reviews and discussions referred to above, the Audit Committee recommended to the Board (and the Board has approved) that the audited financial statements be included in the Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended March 31, 2006 for filing with the Securities and Exchange Commission.

The Audit Committee has also recommended the selection of Grant Thornton LLP as independent auditors for the year ending March 31, 2007.

## **AUDIT COMMITTEE**

Steven J. Hamerslag R. Judd Jessup Alan R. Hoops

\* The material in this report is not soliciting material, is not deemed filed with the SEC and is not to be incorporated by reference in any filing of the Company under the 1933 Act or the 1934 Act.

26

#### **COMPENSATION COMMITTEE REPORT\***

The Compensation Committee administers the Company s executive compensation programs, including the Option Plan. After the Compensation Committee determines the salaries of all elected officers, including those of the Named Executive Officers, the full Board reviews those determinations.

## **General Compensation Goals**

The design and implementation of all executive compensation arrangements are based on certain goals derived from Company values, business strategy and management requirements. These goals may be summarized as follows:

Pay competitive salaries to attract, retain and motivate a highly competent executive team essential to the long-term success of the Company;

Tie an individual s total compensation to individual and profit center performance and the financial success of the Company;

Reward executives for long-term corporate success by facilitating their ability to acquire an ownership interest in the Company; and

Align the financial interests of the executives and the stockholders.

#### **Factors**

Several of the more important factors, which were considered in establishing the components of each executive officer s compensation package for the 2006 fiscal year are summarized below. Additional factors were also taken into account, and the Compensation Committee may in its discretion apply entirely different factors, particularly different measures of financial performance, in setting executive compensation for future fiscal years. All compensation decisions will be designed to further the general compensation goals indicated above.

#### **Base Salaries**

Base salaries are targeted to be moderate yet competitive in relation to salaries commanded by those in similar positions with other companies in the same industry. The base salary for each executive officer is reviewed annually and is set on the basis of personal performance, the relative importance of the functions the officer performs, the scope of the officer s ongoing responsibilities, the salary levels in effect for comparable positions with the Company s principal competitors, and internal equity considerations. The weight given to each of these factors varies from individual.

### **Annual Incentive Awards**

Although the Company has a March 31 fiscal year end, it has calendar year budgets and annual incentive plans which are based on the calendar year. Incentive awards to the Chief Executive Officer and the other Named Executive Officers are shown in the Bonus column of the Summary Compensation Table, which follows this report. Annual bonuses are designed to reward personal contributions to the success of the Company and are earned under a structured formula that considers the following factors:

Company Profit Center Financial Performance

Each profit center of the Company submits a proposed annual operating budget including annual profit goals for review of and approval by the Chief Executive Officer of the Company in conjunction with ratification by the Compensation Committee. At the end of the calendar year, the Compensation Committee evaluates actual financial performance against these targets and actual revenue growth. The resulting performance evaluation dictates whether an increase or decrease in an executive sofficers with operations responsibilities, the annual incentive award can range from zero to 70% of base salary depending upon performance as compared to budget. For executive officers with corporate staff responsibilities, such awards are based upon departmental objectives.

Individual Performance

Each executive has some portion of his or her annual bonus measured against individual management by objective goals ( MBOs ) established for that person. The maximum amount that any executive may earn based on the MBO element

\* The material in this report is not

soliciting material, is not deemed filed with the SEC and is not to be incorporated by reference in any filing of the Company under the 1933 Act or the 1934 Act.

27

#### **Table of Contents**

is variable, with full achievement of MBOs resulting in a minimum 75% payout and increasing up to 100% payout for achievement exceeding established MBOs. For executive officers with operations responsibilities, this element comprises a lesser percentage of the annual incentive award for the individual and for executive officers with corporate staff responsibilities, it comprises a greater percentage of the annual incentive award. *Discretionary Awards* 

The Compensation Committee also has the discretion under extraordinary circumstances to award bonuses based on a percentage of base salary.

## **Stock Options**

Stock option grants accomplish the third and fourth compensation objectives: to motivate executive officers to manage the business, to improve long-term Company performance and to align the interests of executive officers and stockholders. Customarily, option grants are made with exercise prices equal to the fair market value of the shares on the grant date and will be of no value unless the market price of the Company's outstanding shares appreciates, thereby aligning a substantial part of the executive officer's compensation package with the return realized by the stockholders. The option generally vests over a period of four years, contingent upon the executive officer's continued employment with the Company. Accordingly, the option will provide a return to the executive officer only if the officer remains employed by the Company and the market price of the underlying shares appreciates over the option term. The size of the option grant is designed to create a meaningful opportunity for stock ownership and is based upon the individual's current position with the Company, internal comparability with option grants made to other Company executives and the individual's potential for future responsibility and promotion over the option term. The Committee has established certain general guidelines in making option grants to the executive officers in an attempt to target a fixed number of unvested option shares based upon the individual's position with the Company and the officer's existing holdings of unvested options. However, the Compensation Committee does not adhere strictly to these guidelines and will occasionally vary the size of the option grant made to each executive officer as circumstances warrant.

## **Compensation of the Chief Executive Officer**

The annual base salary for the Company s Chief Executive Officer, Mr. Clemons, was established on January 26, 1988, when the Company and North Star entered into an employment agreement with Mr. Clemons. The agreement became effective on February 15, 1988 and has an indefinite term. The agreement provides Mr. Clemons with an annual salary of \$250,000, payable in semi-monthly installments. Mr. Clemons may terminate the agreement at any time on four months notice and the Company may terminate the agreement at any time with or without cause. If Mr. Clemons is terminated without cause, the Company is required to pay Mr. Clemons his then-current salary for one year after such termination, less any other employment compensation received by Mr. Clemons during such one-year period. The Compensation Committee, exclusive of Mr. Clemons, approved an increase in Mr. Clemons annual salary to \$350,000, effective January 1, 2002. The Company s financial performance had been consistently strong and Mr. Clemons salary had not been increased in eleven years.

## **Compliance with Internal Revenue Code Section 162(m)**

Code Section 162(m) generally disallows a tax deduction to publicly-held corporations for compensation paid to certain of the corporation s executive officers to the extent that compensation exceeds \$1.0 million for any such officer in any one year. The limitation applies only to compensation, which is not considered to be performance-based. The Option Plan is structured so that any compensation deemed paid to an executive officer in connection with the exercise of options with exercise prices equal to the fair market value of the Common Stock on the grant date that is granted by a committee comprised solely of outside directors will qualify as performance-based compensation which will not be subject to the \$1.0 million limitation. The non-performance based compensation to be paid to the Company s executive officers for fiscal 2004 did not exceed the \$1.0 million limit per officer, nor is it expected that the non-performance based compensation to be paid to the Company s executive officers for fiscal 2005 will exceed that limit. Because it is very unlikely that the cash compensation payable to any of the Company s executive officers in the foreseeable future will approach the \$1.0 million limit, the Compensation Committee has decided at this time not to take any other action to limit or restructure the elements of cash compensation payable to the Company s executive officers. The Compensation Committee will reconsider this decision should the individual compensation of any executive officer ever approach the \$1.0 million level.

# COMPENSATION COMMITTEE

Steven J. Hamerslag Alan R. Hoops Jeffrey J. Michael

28

#### STOCK PERFORMANCE GRAPH\*

The graph depicted below shows a comparison of cumulative total stockholder returns for the Company, the Nasdaq and the Nasdaq Health Services Index over a five year period beginning on March 31, 2001. The data depicted on the graph are as set forth in the chart below the graph. The graph assumes that \$100 was invested in the Company s Common Stock on March 31, 2001, and in each index, and that all dividends were reinvested. No cash dividends have been paid or declared on the Common Stock. Stockholder returns over the indicated period should not be considered indicative of future stockholder returns.

## CORVEL STOCK PERFORMANCE GRAPH

CorVel Corporation	March 31, 2001 100.00	March 31, 2002 136.06	March 31, 2003 172.19	March 31, 2004 188.00	March 31, 2005 208.89	March 31, 2006 123.02
Nasdaq	100.00	40.03	40.34	29.61	43.71	44.00
Nasdaq Health Services Index	100.00	121.17 FRTAIN TRA	148.98 <b>NSACTIONS</b>	122.04	209.07	258.18

**CERTAIN TRANSACTIONS** 

Mr. Clemons has an adult son, V. Gordon Clemons, Jr., who is currently employed by the Company as its Vice President of Business Development. V. Gordon Clemons, Jr. became an employee of the Company in 2001 as a Product Manager, served as Director of Business Development from June 2002 to March 2006, and was promoted to Vice President of Business Development in March 2006. V. Gordon Clemons, Jr. has received a salary of \$64,999, \$77,249, \$100,417, \$106,876 and \$120,681 for fiscal years 2002, 2003, 2004, 2005, and 2006, respectively. V. Gordon Clemons, Jr. also received a bonus of \$10,725, \$20,580, \$23,410, and \$23,603 for fiscal years 2003, 2004, 2005, and 2006, respectively. V. Gordon Clemons, Jr. also received option grants for 3,325 shares, 3,400 shares, 2,400 shares, 2,400 shares, and 2,750 shares for fiscal years 2002, 2003, 2004, 2005, and 2006 respectively. V. Gordon Clemons, Jr. received other compensation of annual premiums and matching 401(k) contributions in the aggregate amounts of \$127.40, \$250.60, \$34.56, \$68.16, and \$73.74 for fiscal years 2002, 2003, 2004, 2005, and 2006, respectively, paid by the Company for the purchase of group term life insurance in an amount equal to his annual salary and as matching contributions by the Company to the Company s Section 401(k) Plan.

\* The material in this graph is not soliciting material, is not deemed filed with the SEC and is not to be incorporated by reference in any filing of the Company under the 1933 Act or the 1934 Act.

29

#### **Table of Contents**

Since the beginning of fiscal year 2006, other than as disclosed above, there was not any transaction or series of similar transactions to which the Company was or is a party in which the amount involved exceeded or exceeds \$60,000 and in which any director, executive officer, holder of more than 5% of any class of the Company s voting securities, or any member of the immediate family of any of the foregoing persons had or will have a direct or indirect material interest.

# ANNUAL REPORT ON FORM 10-K AND STOCKHOLDER PROPOSALS FOR THE 2007 ANNUAL MEETING

A copy of the Annual Report on Form 10-K of the Company for the fiscal year ended March 31, 2006, has been mailed to stockholders concurrently with this Proxy Statement. The Annual Report sent to stockholders is not incorporated into this Proxy Statement, is not considered soliciting material, is not deemed filed with the SEC and is not incorporated by reference in any filing of the Company under the Securities Act of 1933 or the Securities Exchange Act of 1934.

Stockholders may present proposals for action at a future meeting only if they comply with the requirements of the proxy rules established by the SEC and the Company s Bylaws. Stockholder proposals that are intended to be presented by such stockholders at the Company s 2007 annual meeting and that such stockholders desire to have included in the Company s proxy materials relating to the 2007 annual meeting must be received by the Company no later than March 3, 2007, which is 120 calendar days prior to the anniversary of the mailing date for this year s proxy materials. All stockholder proposals must be in compliance with applicable laws and regulations. Stockholders are also advised to review the Company s Bylaws which contain additional advance notice requirements with respect to stockholder proposals. Under the Company s current Bylaws, if a stockholder wishes to present a proposal at the Company s 2007 annual meeting and the proposal is not intended to be included in the Company s proxy statement relating to the 2007 annual meeting, the stockholder must give notice of the proposal to the Company no less than 30 days and no more than 60 days prior to the 2007 annual meeting. However, in the event that less than 40 days notice of the date of the meeting is given, stockholder proposals intended for presentation at the 2007 annual meeting must be received by the Company no later than the tenth day following the date on which notice of the date of the meeting was mailed or publicly disclosed by the Company. If Proposal Two is approved by stockholders, the deadline will change to be not later than 90 days prior to the anniversary date of the immediately preceding annual meeting. If a stockholder gives notice of such proposal after this deadline, the stockholder will not be permitted to present the proposal to the stockholders for a vote at the meeting. All stockholder proposals must be in the form required by the Company s Bylaws. If a stockholder gives notice of a proposal after the 30th day prior to the 2007 annual meeting (or, if Proposal Two is approved by stockholders, after the 45th calendar day prior to the anniversary of the mailing date for this year s proxy materials), the Company s proxy holders will be allowed to use their discretionary voting authority to vote the shares they represent as the Board may recommend, which may include a vote against the stockholder proposal when and if the proposal is raised at the Company s 2007 annual meeting. The Company has not been notified by any stockholder of his or her intent to present a stockholder proposal from the floor of the 2006 Annual Meeting. The enclosed Proxy grants the proxy holders discretionary authority to vote on any matter properly brought before the 2006 Annual Meeting.

## **COSTS OF SOLICITATION**

Proxies will be solicited by mail and by telephone, facsimile, electronic or any other means, by regular employees of the Company without additional remuneration. The Company will request banks, brokerage houses and other institutions to forward the soliciting material to persons for whom they hold shares and to obtain authorization for the execution of proxies. The Company will reimburse banks, brokerage houses and other institutions for their reasonable expenses in forwarding the Company s proxy materials to beneficial owners of the Common Stock of the Company. All costs associated with the solicitation of proxies, including the preparation, printing and mailing of this proxy statement, the proxy and any additional solicitation materials furnished to the stockholders, will be borne by the Company. The Company may retain a proxy solicitor to assist in the distribution of proxies and proxy solicitation materials, and in the solicitation of proxies. Generally, the fee for such services is approximately \$15,000 plus expenses. If so, the Company will pay the proxy solicitor reasonable and customary fees. Except as described above, the Company does not presently intend to solicit proxies other than by mail.

By Order of the Board of Directors

/s/ RICHARD J. SCHWEPPE

Richard J. Schweppe

Secretary

July 5, 2006 Irvine, California

30

#### **Table of Contents**

Appendix A

## AMENDED AND RESTATED BYLAWS OF CORVEL CORPORATION ARTICLE I OFFICES

Section 1. <u>Registered Office</u>. The registered office shall be in the City of Dover, County of Kent, State of Delaware.

Section 2. Other Offices. The corporation may also have offices at such other places both within and without the State of Delaware as the Board of Directors may on an annual basis determine or the business of the corporation may require.

Section 3. <u>Books and Records</u>. The books and records of the corporation may be kept at the corporation s headquarters in Irvine, California or at such other locations outside the State of Delaware as may from time to time be designated by the Board of Directors.

#### ARTICLE II MEETINGS OF STOCKHOLDERS

Section 1. <u>Annual Meeting</u>. An annual meeting of the stockholders for the election of directors shall be held at such place either within or without the State of Delaware as shall be designated on an annual basis by the Board of Directors and stated in the notice of the meeting. Meetings of stockholders for any other purpose may be held at such time and place, within or without the State of Delaware, as shall be stated in the notice of the meeting or in a duly executed waiver of notice thereof.

Section 2. <u>Notice of Annual Meeting</u>. Written notice of the annual meeting stating the place, date and hour of the meeting shall be given to each stockholder entitled to vote at such meeting not less than ten (10) nor more than sixty (60) days before the date of the meeting.

Section 3. <u>Voting List</u>. The officer who has charge of the stock ledger of the corporation shall prepare and make, or cause a third party to prepare and make, at least ten (10) days before every meeting of stockholders, a complete list of the stockholders entitled to vote at the meeting, arranged in alphabetical order, and showing the address of each stockholder and the number of shares registered in the name of each stockholder. Such list shall be open to the examination of any stockholder, for any purpose germane to the meeting, during ordinary business hours, for a period of at least ten (10) days prior to the meeting, either at a place within the city where the meeting is to be held, which place shall be specified in the notice of the

#### **Table of Contents**

meeting, or, if not so specified, at the place where the meeting is to be held. The list shall also be produced and kept at the time and place of the meeting during the whole time thereof, and may be inspected by any stockholder who is present.

Section 4. <u>Special Meetings</u>. Special meetings of the stockholders of this corporation, for any purpose or purposes, unless otherwise prescribed by statute or by the certificate of incorporation, shall be called by the Chairman of the Board, Chief Executive Officer or Secretary at the request in writing of the Chairman of the Board, Chief Executive Officer or a majority of the members of the Board of Directors, and may not be called absent such a request. Such request shall state the purpose or purposes of the proposed meeting.

Section 5. <u>Notice of Special Meetings</u>. As soon as reasonably practicable after receipt of a request as provided in Section 4 of this Article II, written notice of a special meeting, stating the place, date (which shall be not less than ten (10) nor more than sixty (60) days from the date of the notice) and hour of the special meeting and the purpose or purposes for which the special meeting is called, shall be given to each stockholder entitled to vote at such special meeting.

Section 6. <u>Scope of Business at Special Meeting</u>. Business transacted at any special meeting of stockholders shall be limited to the purposes stated in the notice given pursuant to Section 5 of this Article II.

Section 7. Quorum and Adjourned Meetings. The holders of a majority of the stock issued and outstanding and entitled to vote thereat, present in person or represented by proxy, shall constitute a quorum at all meetings of the stockholders for the transaction of business, except as otherwise provided by statute or by the certificate of incorporation. If, however, such quorum shall not be present or represented at any meeting of the stockholders, the chairman of the meeting or the stockholders entitled to vote thereat, present in person or represented by proxy, shall have power to adjourn the meeting from time to time, without notice other than announcement at the meeting, until a quorum shall be present or represented. At such adjourned meeting at which a quorum shall be present or represented, any business may be transacted which might have been transacted at the meeting as originally notified. If the adjournment is for more than thirty (30) days, or if after the adjournment a new record date is fixed for the adjourned meeting, a notice of the adjourned meeting shall be given to each stockholder of record entitled to vote at the meeting as provided in Section 5 of this Article II.

Section 8. <u>Qualifications to Vote</u>. The stockholders of record on the books of the corporation at the close of business on the record date as determined by the Board of Directors and only such stockholders shall be entitled to vote at any meeting of stockholders or any adjournment thereof.

Section 9. Record Date. The Board of Directors may fix a record date for the determination of the stockholders entitled to notice of or to vote at any stockholders meeting and at any adjournment thereof, and to fix a record date for any other purpose. The record date shall not be more than sixty (60) nor less than ten (10) days before the date of such meeting. If no record date is fixed by the Board of Directors, the record date for determining stockholders entitled to notice of or to vote at a meeting of stockholders shall be at the close of business on the

2

#### **Table of Contents**

day next preceding the day on which notice is given, or if notice is waived, at the close of business on the day next preceding the day on which the meeting is held. A determination of stockholders of record entitled to notice of or to vote at a meeting of stockholders shall apply to any adjournment of the meeting; provided, however, that the Board of Directors may fix a new record date for the adjourned meeting.

Section 10. <u>Action at Meetings</u>. When a quorum is present at any meeting, the vote of the holders of a majority of the stock having voting power present in person or represented by proxy shall decide any question brought before such meeting, unless the question is one upon which by express provision of the statutes or of the corporation s bylaws or certificate of incorporation, a different vote is required, in which case such express provision shall govern and control the decision of such question.

Section 11. <u>Voting and Proxies</u>. Unless otherwise provided in the certificate of incorporation, each stockholder shall at every meeting of the stockholders be entitled to one (1) vote in person or by proxy for each share of the capital stock having voting power held by such stockholder, but no proxy shall be voted on after three (3) years from its date, unless the proxy provides for a longer period. Each proxy shall be revocable unless expressly provided therein to be irrevocable and unless it is coupled with an interest sufficient in law to support an irrevocable power.

Section 12. Nominations for Board of Directors. Nominations for election to the Board of Directors must be made by the Board of Directors or by any stockholder of any outstanding class of capital stock of the corporation entitled to vote for the election of directors. Nominations, other than those made by the Board of Directors of the corporation, must be preceded by notification in writing in fact received by the Secretary of the corporation not later than (i) with respect to an election to be held at an annual meeting of stockholders, ninety (90) days prior to the anniversary date of the immediately preceding annual meeting, or (ii) with respect to the election to be held at a special meeting of stockholders for the election of directors, the close of business on the tenth day following the date on which notice of such meeting is first given to stockholders. Such notification shall be addressed to the Chair of the Nomination and Governance Committee of the Board of Directors care of the Secretary of the corporation and include the following information as to each proposed nominee and as to each person, acting alone or in conjunction with one or more other persons as a partnership, limited partnership, syndicate or other group, who participates or is expected to participate in making such nomination or in organizing, directing or financing such nomination or solicitation of proxies to vote for the nominee:

- (a) the name and address of the nominee;
- (b) the name and address of the stockholder making the nomination;
- (c) a representation that the nominating stockholder is a stockholder of record of the corporation s stock entitled to vote at the next annual meeting and intends to appear in person or by proxy at such meeting to nominate the person specified in the notice;

3

#### **Table of Contents**

- (d) the nominee s qualifications for membership on the Board of Directors;
- (e) all of the information that would be required in a proxy statement soliciting proxies for the election of the nominee as a director pursuant to the rules and regulations of the United States Securities and Exchange Commission:
- (f) a description of all direct or indirect arrangements or understandings between the nominating stockholder and the nominee and any other person or persons (naming such person or persons) pursuant to whose request the nomination is being made by the stockholder;
  - (g) all other companies to which the nominee is being recommended as a nominee for director; and
- (h) a signed consent of the nominee to cooperate with reasonable background checks and personal interviews, and to serve as a director of the corporation, if elected.

The presiding officer of the meeting shall have the authority to determine and declare to the meeting that a nomination not preceded by notification made in accordance with the foregoing procedure shall be disregarded.

Section 13. Stockholder Proposals for Meetings. At any meeting of the stockholders, only such business shall be conducted as shall be properly brought before the meeting. Except with respect to nominations for the election of directors, which shall be governed by Section 12 of this Article II, in order for business to be properly brought before a meeting, the business must be (a) specified in the notice of meeting (or any supplement thereto) given by or at the direction of the Board of Directors, (b) otherwise properly brought before the meeting by or at the direction of the Board of Directors, or (c) otherwise properly brought before the meeting by a stockholder. For business to be properly brought before a meeting by a stockholder, the stockholder must have given timely notice thereof in writing to the Secretary of the corporation. To be timely, a stockholder s notice must be delivered to or mailed and received at the principal place of business of the corporation not later than (i) with respect to business brought before an annual meeting of stockholders, ninety (90) days prior to the anniversary date of the immediately preceding annual meeting, or (ii) with respect to business brought before a special meeting of stockholders, the close of business on the tenth day following the date on which notice of such meeting is first given to stockholders. A stockholder s written notice to the Secretary shall set forth as to each matter the stockholder proposes to bring before the meeting (a) a brief description of the business desired to be brought before the meeting and the reasons for conducting such business at the meeting, (b) the name and address as they appear on the corporation s books of the stockholder proposing such business, (c) the class and number of shares of the corporation which are beneficially owned by such stockholder, (d) a representation that the stockholder is a holder of record of stock of the corporation entitled to vote at such meeting and intends to appear in person or by proxy at the meeting to bring such matter before the meeting, (e) such other information regarding the business proposed by such stockholder as would be required to be included in a proxy statement pursuant to the rules and regulations of the

4

#### **Table of Contents**

United States Securities and Exchange Commission, and (f) any material interest of such stockholder in such business. Notwithstanding anything in these bylaws to the contrary, no business shall be conducted at a meeting unless properly brought before such meeting in accordance with the procedures set forth in this Section 13 of Article II. The chairman of the meeting shall, if the facts warrant, determine and declare to the meeting that business was not properly brought before the meeting in accordance with the provisions of this Section 13 of Article II and if it shall be so determined, the chairman of the meeting shall so declare this to the meeting and such business not properly brought before the meeting shall not be transacted.

Section 14. Conduct of Meetings of Stockholders. The Chairman of the Board of Directors, or if there shall be none or in his or her absence, the highest ranking officer of the corporation, among a group consisting of the Chief Executive Officer, President and the Vice-Presidents, who is present at the meeting, or in all of their absences an individual designated by the Board of Directors, shall call to order and act as the Chair of any meeting of the stockholders of the corporation. The Secretary of the corporation shall serve as the secretary of the meeting or, if there shall be none or in his or her absence, the secretary of the meeting shall be such person as the Chair of the meeting appoints. The Board of Directors may, to the extent not prohibited by law, adopt by resolution such rules and regulations for the conduct of the meeting of stockholders as it shall deem appropriate. Except to the extent inconsistent with such rules and regulations as adopted by the Board of Directors, the Chair of the meeting shall have the right and authority to prescribe such rules, regulations and procedures and to take or refrain from taking such actions as, in the judgment of the Chair of the meeting, are appropriate for the conduct of the meeting. To the extent not prohibited by applicable law, such rules, regulations and procedures, whether adopted by the Board of Directors or prescribed by the Chair of the meeting, may include, without limitation, establishment of (i) an agenda or order of business for the meeting, (ii) the method by which business may be proposed and procedures for determining whether business has been properly (or not properly) introduced before the meeting, (iii) procedures for casting and the form of ballots to be used by stockholders in attendance at the meeting and the procedures to be followed for counting stockholder votes, (iv) rules, regulations and procedures for maintaining order at the meeting and the safety of those present, (v) limitations on attendance at or participation in the meeting to stockholders of record of the corporation, their duly authorized proxies or such other persons as the Chair of the meeting shall determine, (vi) restrictions on entry to the meeting after the time fixed for commencement thereof and (vii) limitations on the time allotted to questions or comments by participants. Unless and to the extent otherwise determined by the Board of Directors or the Chair of the meeting, it shall not be necessary to follow Roberts Rules of Order or any other rules of parliamentary procedure at the meeting of stockholders. Following completion of the business of the meeting as determined by the Chair of the meeting, the Chair of the meeting shall have the exclusive authority to adjourn the meeting.

Section 15. <u>Inspectors of Elections</u>. The Board of Directors by resolution shall appoint one or more inspectors, which inspector or inspectors may include individuals who serve the corporation in other capacities, including, without limitation, as officers, employees, agents or representatives of the corporation, to act at the meeting and make a written report thereof. One or more persons may be designated as alternate inspectors to replace any inspector who fails to act. If no inspector or alternate has been appointed to act, or if all inspectors or alternates who have been appointed are unable to act, at a meeting of stockholders, the chairman of the meeting

5

#### **Table of Contents**

shall appoint one or more inspectors to act at the meeting. Each inspector, before discharging his or her duties, shall take and sign an oath faithfully to execute the duties of inspector with strict impartiality and according to the best of his or her ability. The inspectors shall have the duties prescribed by the General Corporation Law of the State of Delaware.

#### ARTICLE III DIRECTORS

Section 1. <u>Powers</u>. The business of the corporation shall be managed by or under the direction of its Board of Directors, which may exercise all such powers of the corporation and do all such lawful acts and things as are not by statute or by the certification of incorporation or by these bylaws directed or required to be exercised or done by the stockholders.

Section 2. Number; Election; Tenure and Qualification. The number of directors which shall constitute the whole Board of Directors shall be seven (7). With the exception of the first Board of Directors, which shall be elected by the incorporator, and except as provided in the corporation s certificate of incorporation or in Section 3 of this Article III the directors shall be elected at the annual meeting of the stockholders by a plurality vote of the shares represented in person or by proxy and each director elected shall hold office until his successor is elected and qualified unless he shall resign, become disqualified, disabled, or otherwise removed. Directors need not be stockholders.

Section 3. <u>Vacancies and Newly-Created Directorships</u>. Unless otherwise provided in the certificate of incorporation, vacancies and newly-created directorships resulting from any increase in the authorized number of directors may be filled by a majority of the directors then in office, though less than a quorum, or by a sole remaining director. The directors so chosen shall serve for the remainder of the term of the vacated directorships being filled and until their successors are duly elected and shall qualify, unless sooner displaced. If there are no directors in office, then an election of directors may be held in the manner provided by statute.

Section 4. <u>Location of Meetings</u>. The Board of Directors of the corporation may hold meetings, both regular and special, either within or without the State of Delaware.

Section 5. Meeting of Newly Elected Board of Directors. The first meeting of each newly elected Board of Directors shall be held immediately following the annual meeting of stockholders and no notice of such meeting shall be necessary to the newly elected directors in order legally to constitute the meeting, provided a quorum shall be present. In the event such meeting is not held at such time, the meeting may be held at such time and place as shall be specified in a notice given as hereinafter provided for special meetings of the Board of Directors, or as shall be specified in a written waiver signed by all of the directors.

Section 6. <u>Regular Meetings</u>. Regular meetings of the Board of Directors may be held upon at least seven (7) days prior written notice at such time and at such place as shall from time to time be determined by the Board of Directors; provided that any director who is

6

#### **Table of Contents**

absent when such a determination is made shall be given notice of such location. Notice may be waived in accordance with Section 229 of the Delaware General Corporation Law.

Section 7. Special Meetings. Special meetings of the Board of Directors may be called by the Chairman of the Board or Chief Executive Officer on ten (10) days notice to each director by mail or seven (7) days notice to each director by overnight courier service or facsimile; special meetings shall be called by the Chairman of the Board, Chief Executive Officer or Secretary in a like manner and on like notice on the written request of two (2) directors unless the Board of Directors consists of only one (1) director, in which case special meetings shall be called by the Chairman of the Board, Chief Executive Officer or Secretary in a like manner and on like notice on the written request of the sole director. Notice may be waived in accordance with Section 229 of the Delaware General Corporation Law.

Section 8. Quorum and Action at Meetings. At all meetings of the Board of Directors a majority of the directors then in office shall constitute a quorum for the transaction of business, and the act of a majority of the directors present at any meeting at which there is a quorum shall be the act of the Board of Directors, except as may be otherwise specifically provided by statute or by the certificate of incorporation. If a quorum shall not be present at any meeting of the Board of Directors, the directors present thereat may adjourn the meeting from time to time, without notice other than announcement at the meeting, until a quorum shall be present.

Section 9. <u>Action Without a Meeting</u>. Unless otherwise restricted by the certificate of incorporation or these bylaws, any action required or permitted to be taken at any meeting of the Board of Directors or of any committee thereof may be taken without a meeting, if all members of the Board or committee, as the case may be, consent thereto in writing, and the writing or writings are filed with the minutes of proceedings of the Board of Directors of committee.

Section 10. <u>Telephonic Meeting</u>. Unless otherwise restricted by the certificate of incorporation or these bylaws, members of the Board of Directors, or any committee designated by the Board of Directors may participate in a meeting of the Board of Directors, or any committee, upon proper notice duly given, by means of conference telephone or similar communications equipment by means of which all persons participating in the meeting can hear each other, and such participation in a meeting shall constitute presence in person at the meeting.

Section 11. Committees. The Board of Directors may, by resolution passed by a majority of the whole Board, designate one or more committees, each committee to consist of one (1) or more of the directors of the corporation. The Board of Directors may make, alter and repeal a committee s charter or other rules for the conduct of such committee s business. A majority of all the members of any such committee may determine its actions, establish its procedures and fix the time and place of its meetings, unless the Board of Directors shall otherwise provide. The Board of Directors shall have power to change the members of any such committee at any time, to fill vacancies and to discharge any such committee, either with or without cause, at any time, unless otherwise provided in such committee s charter, or other rules for the conduct of its business, adopted by the Board of Directors.

7

#### **Table of Contents**

Section 12. Committee Authority. Any such committee, to the extent provided in the resolution of the Board of Directors, shall have and may exercise all the powers and authority of the Board of Directors in the management of the business and affairs of the corporation as is consistent with its charter, if any, and may authorize the seal of the corporation to be affixed to all papers which may require it; but no such committee shall have the power or authority in reference to amending the certificate of incorporation, adopting an agreement of merger or consolidation, recommending to the stockholders the sale, lease or exchange of all or substantially all of the corporation s property and assets, recommending to the stockholders a dissolution of the corporation or a revocation of a dissolution, amending the bylaws of the corporation, or any action requiring unanimous consent of the Board of Directors pursuant to the terms of the certificate of incorporation; and, unless the resolution or the certificate of incorporation expressly so provide, no such committee shall have the power or authority to declare a dividend or to authorize the issuance of stock. Such committee or committees shall have such name or names as may be determined from time to time by resolution adopted by the Board of Directors.

Section 13. <u>Committee Minutes</u>. Each committee shall keep regular minutes of its meetings and report the same to the Board of Directors when required.

Section 14. <u>Directors Compensation</u>. Unless otherwise restricted by the certificate of incorporation or these bylaws, the Board of Directors shall have the authority to fix the compensation of directors. The directors may be paid their expenses, if any, of attendance at each meeting of the Board of Directors and may be paid a fixed sum for attendance at each meeting of the Board of Directors or a stated salary as director. No such payment shall preclude any director from serving the corporation in any other capacity and receiving compensation therefor. Members of special or standing committees may be allowed like compensation for attending committee meetings.

Section 15. <u>Resignation</u>. Any director of the corporation may resign at any time. Each such resignation shall be made in writing and shall take effect at the time specified therein, or, if no time is specified, at the time of its receipt by either the Board of Directors, the Chairman, the Chief Executive Officer or the Secretary. The acceptance of a resignation shall not be necessary to make it effective unless expressly so provided in the resignation.

## ARTICLE IV NOTICES

Section 1. Notice to Directors and Stockholders. Whenever, under the provisions of the statutes or of the certificate of incorporation or of these bylaws, notice is required to be given to any director or stockholder, it shall not be construed to mean personal notice, but such notice may be given in writing, by mail, addressed to such director or stockholder, at his address as it appears on the records of the corporation, with postage thereon prepaid, and such notice shall be deemed to be given at the time when the same shall be deposited in the United States mail. Without limiting the manner by which notice may otherwise be given, notice may be given to any stockholder by a form of electronic transmission that satisfies the requirements of the Delaware General Corporation Law and has been consented to

8

#### **Table of Contents**

by the stockholder to whom notice is given. An affidavit of the Secretary or an Assistant Secretary or of the transfer agent of the corporation that the notice has been given shall in the absence of fraud, be prima facie evidence of the facts stated therein. Without limiting the manner by which notice may otherwise be given, notice to directors may also be given by telephone, facsimile, telegram or any form of electronic transmission that satisfies the requirements of the Delaware General Corporation Law.

Section 2. <u>Waiver</u>. Whenever any notice is required to be given under the provisions of the statutes or of the certificate of incorporation or of these bylaws, a waiver thereof in writing, signed by the person or person entitled to said notice, whether before or after the time stated therein, shall be deemed equivalent thereto. The written waiver need not specify the business to be transacted at, nor the purpose of, any regular or special meeting of the stockholders, directors, or members of a committee of directors. Attendance of a person at a meeting shall constitute a waiver of notice of such meeting, except when the person attends a meeting for the express purpose of objecting at the beginning of the meeting, to the transaction of any business because the meeting is not lawfully called or convened.

#### ARTICLE V OFFICERS

Section 1. <u>Enumeration</u>. The officers of the corporation shall be chosen by the Board of Directors and shall be a Chief Executive Officer, a President, a Secretary, a Treasurer or Chief Financial Officer and such other officers with such other titles as the Board of Directors shall determine. The Board of Directors may elect from among its members a Chairman or Chairman of the Board and a Vice-Chairman of the Board. The Board of Directors may also choose one (1) or more Vice-Presidents, Assistant Secretaries and Assistant Treasurers. Any number of offices may be held by the same person, unless the certificate of incorporation or these bylaws otherwise provide.

Section 2. <u>Election</u>. The Board of Directors at its first meeting after each annual meeting of stockholders shall elect a Chief Executive Officer, a President, a Secretary, a Treasurer or Chief Financial Officer and such other officers with such other titles as the Board of Directors shall determine.

Section 3. <u>Appointment of Other Agents</u>. The Board of Directors may appoint such other officers and agents as it shall deem necessary, who shall hold their offices for such terms and shall exercise such powers and perform such duties as shall be determined from time to time by the Board of Directors.

Section 4. <u>Compensation</u>. The salaries of all officers of the corporation shall be fixed by the Board of Directors. The salaries of agents of the corporation shall, unless fixed by the Board of Directors, be fixed by the Chairman of the Board, Chief Executive Officer, President or any Vice-President of the corporation.

Section 5. <u>Tenure</u>. The officers of the corporation shall hold office until their successors are chosen and qualify, or until their earlier death, resignation or removal. Any

9

#### **Table of Contents**

officer elected or appointed by the Board of Directors may be removed, with or without cause, at any time by the affirmative vote of a majority of the directors of the Board of Directors or, except in the case of any officer elected by the Board of Directors, by any officer upon whom the power of removal may be conferred by the Board of Directors. Such removal from office shall not affect any rights that such removed officer may have under any employment or stockholder agreement. Any vacancy occurring in any office of the corporation shall be filled by the Board of Directors.

Section 6. <u>Resignation</u>. Any officer of the corporation may resign at any time. Each such resignation shall be made in writing and shall take effect at the time specified therein, or, if no time is specified, at the time of its receipt by either the Board of Directors, the Chairman, the Chief Executive Officer or the Secretary. The acceptance of a resignation shall not be necessary to make it effective unless expressly so provided in the resignation.

Section 7. Chairman of the Board and Vice-Chairman of the Board. The Chairman or Chairmen of the Board, if any, shall preside at all meetings of the Board of Directors and of the stockholders at which he or they shall be present. He or they shall have and may exercise such powers as are from time to time, assigned to him or them by the Board and as may be provided by law. In the absence of the Chairman of the Board, the Vice-Chairman of the Board, if any, shall preside at all meetings of the Board of Directors and of the stockholders at which he shall be present. He shall have and may exercise such powers as are, from time to time, assigned to him by the Board of Directors and as may be provided by law.

Section 8. <u>Chief Executive Officer</u>. The Chief Executive Officer shall have general supervisory management over the business of the corporation, shall report to the Board of Directors, shall see that all orders and resolutions of the Board of Directors are carried into effect, all subject to the general control of the Board of Directors, and shall have authority to execute such contracts and take such actions required in connection therewith. In the absence of the Chairman of the Board for any reason, including the failure of the Board of Directors to elect the Chairman of the Board, or in the event of the Chairman s inability or refusal to act, the Chief Executive Officer shall have all the powers of, and be subject to all the restrictions upon, the Chairman of the Board.

Section 9. President. The President shall be the Chief Operating Officer of the corporation, shall be responsible for the active management of the business of the corporation, shall perform such other duties as may be prescribed by the Board of Directors or the Chief Executive Officer and shall have authority to execute such contracts and take such actions required in connection therewith. The Chairman, Chief Executive Officer, President, Chief Financial Officer or any Vice-President may execute bonds, contracts, mortgages, deeds, leases, checks, demands for money, notes and other instruments to be made or executed for or on behalf of the corporation, except where required or permitted by law to be otherwise signed and executed and except where the signing and execution thereof shall be expressly delegated by the Board of Directors to some other officer or agent of the corporation. In the absence of the Chief Executive Officer for any reason, including the failure of the Board of Directors to elect a Chief Executive Officer, or in the event of the Chief Executive Officer s inability or refusal to act, the President or any Vice-President designated by the Board of Directors shall have all the powers of, and be subject to all the restrictions upon, the Chief Executive Officer.

10

#### **Table of Contents**

Section 10. <u>Vice-President</u>. In the absence of the President or in the event of his inability or refusal to act, the Vice-President, if any (or in the event there be more than one Vice-President, the Vice-Presidents in the order designated by the Board of Directors, or in the absence of any designation, then in the order of their election) shall perform the duties of the President, and when so acting shall have all the powers of and be subject to all the restrictions upon the President. The Vice-President shall perform such other duties and have such other powers as the Board of Directors may from time to time prescribe.

Section 11. Secretary. The Secretary shall attend all meetings of the Board of Directors and all meetings of the stockholders and record all the proceedings of the meetings of the corporation and of the Board of Directors in a book to be kept for that purpose and shall perform like duties for the standing committees when required. He shall give, or cause to be given, notice of all meetings of the stockholders and special meetings of the Board of Directors, and shall perform such other duties as may be prescribed by the Board of Directors or Chief Executive Officer, under whose supervision he shall be. He shall have custody of the corporate seal of the corporation and he, or an Assistant Secretary, shall have authority to affix the same to any instrument requiring it and when so affixed, it may be attested by his signature or by the signature of such Assistant Secretary. The Board of Directors may give general authority to any other officer to affix the seal of the corporation and to attest the affixing by his signature.

Section 12. <u>Assistant Secretary</u>. The Assistant Secretary, or if there be more than one, the Assistant Secretaries in the order determined by the Board of Directors (or if there be no such determination, then in the order of their election) shall, in the absence of the Secretary or in the event of his inability or refusal to act, perform the duties and exercise the powers of the Secretary and shall perform such other duties and have such other powers as the Board of Directors may from time to time prescribe.

Section 13. Treasurer. The Treasurer shall be the Chief Financial Officer of the corporation unless such title is assigned to another person, shall have the custody of the corporate funds and securities and shall keep full and accurate accounts of receipts and disbursements in books belonging to the corporation and shall deposit all moneys and other valuable effects in the name and to the credit of the corporation in such depositories as may be designated by the Board of Directors. The Treasurer shall disburse the funds of the corporation as may be ordered by the Board of Directors or Chief Executive Officer, taking proper vouchers for such disbursements, and shall render to the Chief Executive Officer and the Board of Directors, at its regular meetings, or when the Board of Directors so requires, an account of all his transactions as Treasurer and of the financial condition of the corporation. If required by the Board of Directors, the Treasurer shall give the corporation a bond (which shall be renewed every six (6) years) in such sum and with such surety or sureties as shall be satisfactory to the Board of Directors for the faithful performance of the duties of his office and for the restoration to the corporation, in case of his death, resignation, retirement or removal from office, of all books, papers, vouchers, money and other property of whatever kind in his possession or under his control belonging to the corporation.

Section 14. <u>Assistant Treasurer</u>. The Assistant Treasurer, or if there shall be more than one, the Assistant Treasurers in the order determined by the Board of Directors (or if there be no such determination, then in the order of their election) shall, in the absence of the

11

#### **Table of Contents**

Treasurer or in the event of his inability or refusal to act, perform the duties and exercise the powers of the Treasurer and shall perform such other duties and have such other powers as the Board of Directors may from time to time prescribe.

#### ARTICLE VI CAPITAL STOCK

Section 1. Certificates. The shares of the corporation shall be represented by certificates, provided that the Board of Directors of the corporation may provide by resolution or resolutions that some or all of any or all classes or series of its stock shall be uncertificated shares. Any such resolution shall not apply to shares represented by a certificate until such certificate is surrendered to the corporation. Every holder of stock represented by certificates shall be entitled to have a certificate signed by, or in the name of the corporation by, the Chairman or Vice-Chairman of the Board of Directors, or the President or a Vice-President and the Treasurer or an Assistant Treasurer or the Secretary or an Assistant Secretary of the corporation, representing the number of shares registered in certificate form. Certificates may be issued for partly paid shares and in such case upon the face or back of the certificates issued to represent any such partly paid shares, the total amount of the consideration to be paid therefor and the amount paid thereon shall be specified. Certificates shall be in such form as the Board of Directors may from time to time prescribe, to the extent consistent with applicable law, provided that the corporation shall not have the power to issue a certificate in bearer form.

Section 2. <u>Class or Series</u>. If the corporation shall be authorized to issue more than one class of stock or more than one series of any class, the powers, designations, preferences and relative, participating, optional or other special rights of each class of stock or series thereof and the qualifications, limitations or restrictions of such preferences and/or rights shall be set forth in full or summarized on the face or back of the certificate which the corporation shall issue to represent such class or series of stock, provided that, except as otherwise provided in Section 202 of the General Corporation Law of Delaware, in lieu of the foregoing requirements, there may be set forth on the face or back of the certificate which the corporation shall issue to represent such class or series of stock, a statement that the corporation will furnish without charge to each stockholder who so requests the powers, designations, preferences and relative, participating, optional or other special rights of each class of stock or series thereof and the qualifications, limitations or restrictions of such preferences and/or rights.

Section 3. <u>Signature</u>. Any of or all of the signatures on a certificate may be facsimile. In case any officer, transfer agent or registrar who has signed or whose facsimile signature has been placed upon a certificate shall have ceased to be such officer, transfer agent or registrar before such certificate is issued, it may be issued by the corporation with the same effect as if he were such officer, transfer agent or registrar at the date of issue.

Section 4. <u>Lost Certificates</u>. The Board of Directors may direct a new certificate or certificates or uncertificated shares to be issued in place of any certificate or certificates theretofore issued by the corporation alleged to have been lost, stolen or destroyed, upon the making of an affidavit of that fact by the person claiming the certificate of stock to be lost, stolen or destroyed. When authorizing such issue of a new certificate or certificates or uncertificated

1 4

#### **Table of Contents**

shares, the Board of Directors may, in its discretion and as a condition precedent to the issuance thereof, require the owner of such lost, stolen or destroyed certificate or certificates, or his legal representative, to advertise the same in such manner as it shall require and/or to give the corporation a bond in such sum as it may direct as indemnity against any claim that may be made against the corporation with respect to the certificate alleged to have been lost, stolen or destroyed or the issuance of such new certificate or certificates or uncertificated shares.

Section 5. <u>Transfer of Stock</u>. The shares of the stock of the corporation shall be transferred on the books of the corporation by the holder thereof in person or by his or her attorney, (i) with regard to certificated shares, upon surrender for cancellation of certificates for the same number of shares, with an assignment and power of transfer endorsed thereon or attached thereto, duly executed, and with such proof of the authenticity of the signature as the corporation or its agents may reasonably require, and (ii) with regard to uncertificated shares, upon delivery of an instruction duly executed, and with such proof of the authenticity of the signature as the corporation or its agents may reasonably require. Whenever any transfer of shares shall be made for collateral security, and not absolutely, it shall be so expressed in the entry of transfer if, when the certificates are presented to the corporation for transfer or uncertificated shares are requested to be transferred, both the transferor and transferee request the corporation to do so.

Section 6. Record Date. In order that the corporation may determine the stockholders entitled to notice of or to vote at any meeting of stockholders or any adjournment thereof, or entitled to receive payment of any dividend or other distribution or allotment of any rights, or entitled to exercise any rights in respect of any change, conversion or exchange of stock or for the purpose of any other lawful action, the Board of Directors may fix, in advance, a record date, which shall not be more than sixty (60) nor less than ten (10) days before the date of such meeting nor more than sixty (60) days prior to any of the other foregoing actions. A determination of stockholders of record entitled to notice of or to vote at a meeting of stockholders shall apply to any adjournment of the meeting; provided, however, that the Board of Directors may fix a new record date for the adjourned meeting.

Section 7. <u>Registered Stockholders</u>. The corporation shall be entitled to recognize the exclusive right of a person registered on its books as the owner of shares to receive dividends, and to vote as such owner, and to hold liable for calls and assessments a person registered on its books as the owner of shares and shall not be bound to recognize any equitable or other claim to or interest in such share or shares on the part of any other person, whether or not it shall have express or other notice thereof, except as otherwise provided by the laws of Delaware.

#### ARTICLE VII GENERAL PROVISIONS

Section 1. <u>Dividends</u>. Dividends upon the capital stock of the corporation, subject to the provisions of the certificate of incorporation, if any, may be declared by the Board of Directors at any regular or special meeting, pursuant to law. Dividends may be paid in cash, in property or in shares of the capital stock, subject to the provisions of the certificate of

13

#### **Table of Contents**

incorporation. Before payment of any dividend, there may be set aside out of any funds of the corporation available for dividends such sum or sums as the Board of Directors from time to time, in their absolute discretion, think proper as a reserve or reserves to meet contingencies, or for equalizing dividends, or for repairing or maintaining any property of the corporation, or for such other purposes as the Board of Directors shall think conducive to the interest of the corporation, and the Board of Directors may modify or abolish any such reserve in the manner in which it was created.

Section 2. <u>Checks</u>. All checks or demands for money and notes of the corporation shall be signed by such officer or officers or such other person or persons as the Board of Directors may from time to time designate.

Section 3. Fiscal Year. The fiscal year of the corporation shall be fixed by resolution of the Board of Directors.

Section 4. <u>Seal</u>. The Board of Directors may adopt a corporate seal having inscribed thereon the name of the corporation, the year of its organization and the words Corporate Seal, Delaware. The seal may be used by causing it or a facsimile thereof to be impressed or affixed or reproduced or otherwise.

Section 5. <u>Loans</u>. The Board of Directors of this corporation may, without shareholder approval, authorize loans to, or guaranty obligations of, or otherwise assist, including, without limitation, the adoption of employee benefit plans under which loans and guarantees may be made, any officer or other employee of the corporation or of its subsidiary, including any officer or employee who is a director of the corporation or its subsidiary, whenever, in the judgment of the Board of Directors, such loan, guaranty or assistance may reasonably be expected to benefit the corporation. The loan, guaranty or other assistance may be with or without interest, and may be unsecured, or secured in such manner as the Board of Directors shall approve, including, without limitation, a pledge of shares of stock of the corporation. Notwithstanding the foregoing, the corporation s ability to make loans to its officers shall be subject to all other limitations and requirements set forth in the Delaware General Corporation Law and the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, as may be amended from time to time.

### ARTICLE VIII INDEMNIFICATION

Section 1. <u>Scope</u>. The corporation shall, to the fullest extent permitted by Section 145 of the General Corporation Law of Delaware, as that Section may be amended and supplemented from time to time, indemnify any director and executive officer of the corporation, against expenses (including attorneys fees), judgments, fines, amounts paid in settlement and/or other matters referred to in or covered by that Section, by reason of the fact that he is or was a director, officer, employee or agent of the corporation, or is or was serving at the request of the corporation as a director, officer, employee or agent of another corporation, partnership, joint venture, trust or other enterprise.

14

#### **Table of Contents**

Section 2. Advancing Expenses. Expenses incurred by a director or executive officer of the corporation in defending a civil or criminal action, suit or proceeding by reason of the fact that he is or was a director, officer, employee or agent of the corporation (or is or was serving at the request of the corporation as a director, officer, employee or agent of another corporation, partnership, joint venture, trust or other enterprise) shall be paid by the corporation in advance of the final disposition of such action, suit or proceeding upon receipt of an undertaking by or on behalf of such director or executive officer to repay such amount if it shall ultimately be determined that he is not entitled to be indemnified by the corporation as authorized by relevant sections of the General Corporation Law of Delaware; provided, however, the corporation shall not be required to advance such expenses to a director or executive officer (i) who commences any action, suit or proceeding as a plaintiff unless such advance is specifically approved by a majority of the Board of Directors or (ii) who is a party to an action, suit or proceeding brought by the corporation and approved by a majority of the Board which alleges willful misappropriation of corporate assets by such director or executive officer, disclosure of confidential information in violation of such director s or executive officer s fiduciary or contractual obligations to the corporation, or any other willful and deliberate breach in bad faith of such director s or executive officer s duty to the corporation or its stockholders.

Section 3. <u>Liability Offset</u>. The corporation s obligation to provide indemnification under this Article VIII shall be offset to the extent the indemnified party is indemnified by any other source including, but not limited to, any applicable insurance coverage under a policy maintained by the corporation, the indemnified party or any other person.

Section 4. <u>Continuing Obligation</u>. The provisions of this Article VIII shall be deemed to be a contract between the corporation and each director of the corporation, who serves in such capacity at any time while this bylaw is in effect, and any repeal or modification thereof shall not affect any rights or obligations then existing with respect to any state of facts then or theretofore existing or any action, suit or proceeding theretofore or thereafter brought based in whole or in part upon any such state of facts.

Section 5. <u>Nonexclusive</u>. The indemnification and advancement of expenses provided for in this Article VIII shall (i) not be deemed exclusive of any other rights to which those indemnified may be entitled under any by-law, agreement or vote of stockholders or disinterested directors or otherwise, both as to action in their official capacities and as to action in another capacity while holding such office, (ii) continue as to a person who has ceased to be a director or executive officer and (iii) inure to the benefit of the heirs, executors and administrators of such a person.

Section 6. <u>Other Persons</u>. In addition to the indemnification rights of directors and executive officers of the corporation, the Board of Directors in its discretion shall have the power on behalf of the corporation to indemnify any other person made a party to any action, suit or proceeding who the corporation may indemnify under Section 145 of the General Corporate Law of Delaware.

Section 7. <u>Definitions</u>. The phrases and terms set forth in this Article VIII shall be given the same meaning as the identical terms and phrases are given in Section 145 of the

15

#### **Table of Contents**

General Corporate Law of Delaware, as that Section may be amended and supplemented from time to time.

## ARTICLE IX AMENDMENTS

Except as otherwise provided in the certificate of incorporation, these bylaws may be altered, amended or repealed or new bylaws may be adopted by the holders of at least sixty-six and two-thirds percent (66 2/3%) of the outstanding voting shares or by the Board of Directors, when such power is conferred upon the Board of Directors by the certificate of incorporation, at any regular meeting of the stockholders or of the Board of Directors or at any special meeting of the stockholders or of the Board of Directors if notice of such alteration, amendment, repeal or adoption of new bylaws be contained in the notice of such special meeting. If the power to adopt, amend or repeal bylaws is conferred upon the Board of Directors by the certificate or incorporation, it shall not divest or limit the power of the stockholders to adopt, amend or repeal bylaws as set forth herein.

16

#### **Table of Contents**

# APPENDIX B CORVEL CORPORATION RESTATED OMNIBUS INCENTIVE PLAN (FORMERLY THE RESTATED 1988 EXECUTIVE STOCK OPTION PLAN) AS AMENDED AND RESTATED THROUGH JUNE 27, 2006 ARTICLE I. GENERAL

#### I. GENERAL PROVISIONS

A. The Plan is intended to promote the interests of the Company and its stockholders by providing a method whereby (i) key employees (including officers and directors) of the Company (or any Parent or Subsidiary) responsible for the management, growth and financial success of the Company (or any Parent or Subsidiary), (ii) the non-employee members of the Board or the board of directors of any Parent or Subsidiary, and (iii) consultants and advisors who provide valuable services to the Company (or any Parent or Subsidiary) may be offered various types of equity incentives and rewards intended to encourage such individuals to put forth maximum efforts for the success of the Company s business and to acquire a proprietary interest, or otherwise increase their proprietary interest, in the Company, thereby aligning the interests of such persons with the Company s stockholders.

B. For purposes of the Plan, the following definitions shall be in effect:

<u>AFFILIATE</u>: Any entity (i) that, directly or indirectly through one or more intermediaries, is controlled by the Company or (ii) in which the Company has a significant equity interest, in each case as determined by the Committee.

<u>AWARD</u>: Any Option, Tandem Right, Limited Right, Stock Appreciation Right, Restricted Stock, Restricted Stock Unit, Performance Award, Dividend Equivalent, or Other Stock-Based Award granted under the Plan.

<u>AWARD AGREEMENT</u>: Any written agreement, contract or other instrument or document evidencing any Award granted under the Plan. Each Award Agreement shall be subject to the applicable terms and conditions of the Plan and any other terms and conditions (not inconsistent with the Plan) determined by the Committee.

BOARD: The Board of Directors of the Company.

<u>CHANGE IN CONTROL</u>: A Change in Control shall be deemed to occur in the event that:

- (i) any person or related group of persons (other than the Company or a person that directly or indirectly controls, is controlled by, or is under common control with, the Company) directly or indirectly acquires beneficial ownership (within the meaning of Rule 13d-3 of the Exchange Act) of securities possessing more than fifty percent (50%) of the total combined voting power of the Company s outstanding securities pursuant to a tender or exchange offer which the Board does not recommend the Company s stockholders to accept; or
- (ii) there is a change in the composition of the Board over a period of twenty-four (24) consecutive months or less for purposes of the terms set forth in Article III, or over a period of twelve (12) consecutive months for all other purposes under the Plan, such that a majority of the Board members (rounded up to the next whole number) cease, by reason of one or more proxy contests for the election of Board members, to be comprised of individuals who either (a) have been Board members continuously since the beginning of such period or (b) have been elected or nominated for election as Board members during such period by at least two-thirds of the Board members described in clause (a) who were still in office at the time such election or nomination was approved by the Board.

**CODE**: The Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended.

<u>COMMON STOCK</u>: The Common Stock issuable under the Plan shall be shares of the Company s common stock, \$0.0001 par value.

#### **Table of Contents**

<u>COMMITTEE</u>: The Committee shall be a committee designated by the Board to administer the Plan, which initially shall be the compensation committee of the Board. The Committee shall be comprised of at least two Directors but not less than such number of Directors as shall be required to permit Awards granted under the Plan to qualify under Rule 16b-3 and Section 162(m) of the Code, and each member of the Committee shall be a *Non-Employee Director* and an *Outside Director*.

<u>COMPANY</u>: The Company shall mean CorVel Corporation, a Delaware corporation<sup>1</sup>, or any corporate successor which shall assume the Plan.

<u>CORPORATE TRANSACTION</u>: A Corporate Transaction shall include any of the following transactions for which the approval of the Company s stockholders is obtained:

- (i) a merger or acquisition in which the Company is not the surviving entity, except for a transaction the principal purpose of which is to change the state of the Company s incorporation,
- (ii) the sale, transfer or other disposition of all or substantially all of the assets of the Company to any entity other than a parent or subsidiary of the Company, or
- (iii) any reverse merger in which the Company is the surviving entity but in which fifty percent (50%) or more of the Company s outstanding voting stock is transferred to holders different from those who held such fifty percent (50%) or greater interest immediately prior to such merger.

**DIRECTOR**: A member of the Board, including any Non-Employee Director.

<u>DIVIDEND EQUIVALENT</u>: Any right granted under Section IV of Article IV of the Plan.

ELIGIBLE DIRECTOR: An Eligible Director is defined in Section I.A. of Article III.

<u>ELIGIBLE PERSON</u>: (i) Any Employee, officer, consultant, or advisor providing services to the Company (or any Parent or Subsidiary), and (ii) any Director or director of any Parent or Subsidiary who is not an employee of the Company or any Parent or Subsidiary.

<u>EMPLOYEE</u>: An individual shall be considered to be an Employee for so long as the Company or one or more of its Parent or Subsidiaries reports his or her earnings on a Form W-2.

EXCHANGE ACT: The Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended.

<u>FAIR MARKET VALUE</u>: The Fair Market Value per share of Common Stock on any relevant date shall be determined in accordance with the following provisions:

- (i) If the Common Stock is at the time listed on the Nasdaq National Market or the Nasdaq Capital Market, then the Fair Market Value shall be the closing selling price per share of Common Stock on the date in question, as such price is reported by the National Association of Securities Dealers on the Nasdaq National Market or the Nasdaq Capital Market and published in The Wall Street Journal.
- (ii) If the Common Stock is at the time listed on any stock exchange, then the Fair Market Value shall be the closing selling price per share of Common Stock on the date in question on the stock exchange determined by the

The Company
was previously
known as
FORTIS
Corporation and
assumed all of
the rights and
responsibilities
of FORTIS
Corporation, a
Minnesota
corporation
( FORTIS
Minnesota ),
with respect to

the Plan pursuant to the Agreement and Plan of Merger by and between the Company and FORTIS Minnesota, effective May 16, 1991, under which **FORTIS** Minnesota changed its state of incorporation from Minnesota to Delaware by merging with and into the Company which was a wholly owned subsidiary of **FORTIS** Minnesota.

2

#### **Table of Contents**

Committee to be the primary market for the Common Stock, as such price is officially quoted in the composite tape of transactions on such exchange and published in The Wall Street Journal.

- (iii) If the Common Stock is not listed on the Nasdaq National Market, Nasdaq Capital Market or a national securities exchange, the Fair Market Value shall be the average of the closing bid and ask prices of the Common Stock on that day as reported by the Nasdaq bulletin board or any comparable system on that day.
- (iv) If the Common Stock is not traded included in the Nasdaq bulletin board or any comparable system, the Fair Market Value shall be the average of the closing bid and ask prices on that day as furnished by any member of the National Association of Securities Dealers, Inc. selected from time to time by the Company for that purpose.
- (v) If the date in question is not a trading day, then the Fair Market Value shall be determined based on prices for the trading day prior to the date in question.

HOSTILE TAKE-OVER: A Hostile Take-Over shall be the acquisition, directly or indirectly, by any person or related group of persons (other than the Company or a person that directly or indirectly controls, is controlled by, or is under common control with, the Company) of beneficial ownership (within the meaning of Rule 13d-3 of the Exchange Act) of securities possessing more than fifty percent (50%) of the total combined voting power of the Company s outstanding securities pursuant to a tender or exchange offer made directly to the Company s stockholders which the Board does not recommend such stockholders to accept.

NON-EMPLOYEE DIRECTOR. Any Director who is not also an employee of the Company or a Parent or Subsidiary within the meaning of Rule 16b-3 and is an outside director within the meaning of Section 162(m) of the Code.

<u>NON-STATUTORY OPTION</u>: A Non-Statutory Option shall mean an option not intended to satisfy the requirements of Code Section 422.

**OPTION**: A Non-Statutory Option.

OTHER STOCK-BASED AWARD: Any right granted under Section V of Article IV of the Plan.

<u>OPTIONEE</u>: Any person to whom an option is granted under the Discretionary Option Grant Program of Article II, the Automatic Option Grant Program of Article III, or the Other Equity Based Awards Program of Article IV of this Plan.

<u>PARENT</u>: A corporation shall be deemed to be a Parent of the Company if it is a corporation (other than the Company) in an unbroken chain of corporations ending with the Company, provided each such corporation in the unbroken chain (other than the Company) owns, at the time of the determination, stock possessing fifty percent (50%) or more of the total combined voting power of all classes of stock in one of the other corporations in such chain.

PARTICIPANT: An Eligible Person granted an Award under the Plan.

PERFORMANCE AWARD: Any right granted under Section III of Article IV of the Plan.

<u>PERFORMANCE GOAL</u>: Performance Goal shall have the meaning set forth in Section III.A.(i) of Article IV of the Plan

<u>PERMANENT DISABILITY</u>: A permanent disability shall have the meaning assigned to it in Code Section 22(e)(3).

<u>PERSON</u>: Any individual or entity, including a corporation, partnership, limited liability company, association, joint venture or trust.

3

#### **Table of Contents**

<u>PLAN</u>: The CorVel Corporation Restated Omnibus Incentive Plan, which was formerly named the Restated 1988 Executive Stock Option Plan, as amended and restated.

<u>QUALIFIED PERFORMANCE BASED AWARD</u>: A Qualified Performance Based Award shall have the meaning set forth in Section III.A. of Article IV of the Plan.

**RESTRICTED STOCK**: Any Share granted under Section II of Article IV of the Plan.

RESTRICTED STOCK UNIT: Any unit granted under Section II of Article IV of the Plan.

<u>RULE 16b-3</u>: Rule 16b-3 promulgated by the SEC under the Exchange Act or any successor rule or regulation.

SECURITIES ACT: Securities Act of 1933, as amended.

SEC: The SEC shall mean the Securities and Exchange Commission.

<u>SECTION 16(b) INSIDER</u>: An individual shall be considered to be a Section 16(b) Insider on any relevant date under the Plan if such individual is at the time subject to the short-swing profit restrictions of Section 16(b) of the Exchange Act by reason of his or her affiliation with the Company.

<u>SERVICE PROVIDER</u>: An individual shall be deemed to be a Service Provider for so long as such individual renders service on a periodic basis to the Company, its Parent and/or any of its Subsidiaries as an Employee, a non-Employee member of the board of directors or a consultant or independent advisor.

<u>SHARE OR SHARES</u>: A Share or Shares of Common Stock or such other securities or property as may become subject to Awards pursuant to an adjustment made pursuant to Section V.C. of Article I of the Plan.

STOCK APPRECIATION RIGHT: Any right granted under Section I of Article IV of the Plan.

SUBSIDIARY: A corporation shall be deemed to be a Subsidiary of the Company if it is one of the corporations (other than the Company) in an unbroken chain of corporations beginning with the Company, provided each such corporation (other than the last corporation in the unbroken chain) owns, at the time of determination, stock possessing fifty percent (50%) or more of the total combined voting power of all classes of stock in one of the other corporations in such chain. For purposes of all Non-Statutory Option grants, all other Awards granted under Article IV of the Plan, and all Corporate Transaction provisions of the Plan, the term Subsidiary shall also include any partnership, joint venture or other business entity of which the Company owns, directly or indirectly through another entity, more than a fifty percent (50%) interest in voting power, capital or profits.

<u>TANDEM RIGHT</u>: Any tandem stock appreciation right granted under Section II of Article II of the Plan. <u>10% STOCKHOLDER</u>: A 10% Stockholder is the owner of stock possessing 10% or more of the total combined voting power of all classes of stock of the Company or any Parent or Subsidiary.

- (i) The individual is treated as owning any stock owned, directly or indirectly, by:
  - (a) His or her brothers and sisters (whether by whole or half-blood);
  - (b) His or her spouse; and
  - (c) His or her lineal descendants and/or ancestors.
- (ii) Stock owned, directly or indirectly, by a corporation, partnership, estate, or trust is treated as owned proportionately by or for its stockholders, partners, or beneficiaries.

4

#### **Table of Contents**

C. Stock option grants made to any Participant under the Discretionary Option Grant Program of Article II and Awards made to any Participant under the Other Equity Based Awards Program of Article IV shall not in any way affect, limit or restrict such individual seligibility to participate in any other stock plan or other compensation or benefit plan, arrangement or practice now or hereafter maintained by the Company or any Parent or Subsidiary. D. Stock option grants or other Awards outstanding under the Plan shall in no way affect the right of the Company to adjust, reclassify, reorganize or otherwise change its capital or business structure or to merge, consolidate, dissolve, liquidate or sell or transfer all or any part of its business or assets.

#### II. STRUCTURE OF THE PLAN

A. Stock Programs. The Plan shall be divided into three separate components: the Discretionary Option Grant Program specified in Article II, the Automatic Option Grant Program specified in Article III, and the Other Equity Based Awards Program specified in Article IV. Under the Discretionary Option Grant Program, Eligible Persons (except as otherwise limited by Section I.B.of Article III) may, at the discretion of the Committee, be granted options to purchase shares of Common Stock in accordance with the provisions of Article II. Under the Automatic Option Grant Program, Eligible Directors will receive at periodic intervals special option grants to purchase shares of Common Stock in accordance with the provisions of Article III. Under the Other Equity Based Awards Program, Eligible Persons (except as otherwise limited by Section I.B.of Article III) may be granted, at the discretion of the Committee, Stock Appreciation Rights, Restricted Stock, Restricted Stock Units, Performance Awards, Dividend Equivalents or Other Stock-Based Awards in accordance with the provisions of Article IV.

B. <u>General Provisions</u>. Unless the context clearly indicates otherwise, the provisions of Articles I and V shall apply to the Discretionary Option Grant Program, the Automatic Option Grant Program and the Other Equity Based Awards Program, and shall accordingly govern the interests of all individuals under the Plan.

#### III. ADMINISTRATION OF THE PLAN

A. The Plan shall be administered by the Committee. The Committee may delegate its responsibilities to others under such conditions and limitations as it may determine, except that the Committee may not delegate its authority with regard to the making of grants to Section 16(b) Insiders. However, if the grant to a Section 16(b) Insider would not be exempt under SEC Rule 16b-3 if made by the Committee, such grant may be made by the Board. On the other hand, if the grant of an option is intended to be exempt from Code Section 162(m), it must be made by a committee composed exclusively of outside directors, as that term is defined in Code Section 162(m).

- B. Subject to the express provisions of the Plan and applicable law, the Committee shall have the sole and exclusive authority with respect to the Discretionary Option Grant Program and the Other Equity Based Awards Program:
  - (i) to designate Participants and make grants of Awards to any and all Eligible Persons;
  - (ii) to determine the type or types of Awards to be granted to each Participant;
- (iii) to determine the number of Shares to be covered by, or the method by which payment or other rights are to be determined in connection with, each Award;
- (iv) to determine the terms and conditions of any Award or Award Agreement, consistent with the terms of the Plan;
- (v) to determine whether, to what extent, and under what circumstances Awards may be exercised in cash, Shares, promissory notes (provided, however, that the par value of any Shares to be issued pursuant to such exercise shall be paid in the form of cash, services rendered, personal property, real property or a combination thereof, and the acceptance of such promissory notes does not conflict with Section 402 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002), other securities, other awards or other property, or cancelled, forfeited or suspended;

4

#### **Table of Contents**

- (vi) to interpret the Plan and any Award Agreement, to prescribe, amend and rescind rules and regulations relating to it, and to make all other determinations deemed necessary or advisable in administering the Discretionary Option Grant Program and the Other Equity Based Awards Program;
- (vii) to change the terms and conditions or accelerate the vesting of any outstanding Award or Award Agreement granted pursuant to Article II, and any outstanding Award or Award Agreement granted pursuant to Article IV (except for any Qualified Performance Based Award as defined in Article IV of the Plan to the extent such authority would violate Code Section 162(m)), provided such action does not, without the consent of the holder, adversely affect the rights and obligations such individual may have under the outstanding grant; and
- (vii) to make any other determination or take any other action that the Committee deems necessary or desirable for the administration of the Plan.
- C. Administration of the Automatic Option Grant Program shall be self-executing in accordance with the express terms and conditions of Article III, and neither the Committee nor the Board shall exercise discretionary functions with respect to option grants made pursuant to that program.
- D. Except as otherwise provided in Section III.C. of this Article I, designations, determinations, interpretations and other decisions of the Committee on all matters relating to the Plan and any option grants, stock issuances or any other Awards made hereunder shall be within the sole discretion of the Committee, may be made at any time, and shall be final, conclusive and binding on all Persons having any interest in the Plan or any options or Awards granted or shares issued under the Plan.
- E. To the maximum extent permitted by law, the Company shall indemnify each member of the Committee and any secondary committee formed pursuant to Section III.A. of this Article I and every other member of the Board, as well as any other employee with duties under the Plan, against all liabilities and expenses (including any amount paid in settlement or in satisfaction of a judgment) reasonably incurred by the individual in connection with any claims against the individual by reason of the performance of the individual s duties under the Plan. This indemnity shall not apply, however, if: (i) it is determined in the action, lawsuit, or proceeding that the individual is guilty of gross negligence or intentional misconduct in the performance of those duties; or (ii) the individual fails to assist the Company in defending against any such claim. The Company shall have the right to select counsel and to control the prosecution or defense of the suit. The Company shall not be obligated to indemnify any individual for any amount incurred through any settlement or compromise of any action unless the Company consents in writing to the settlement or compromise.
- F. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary contained herein (except as provided in Section III.A. of this Article I), the Board may, at any time and from time to time, without any further action of the Committee, exercise the powers and duties of the Committee under the Plan.

#### IV. ELIGIBILITY

A. The persons eligible to receive option grants under the Discretionary Option Grant Program of Article II and Awards under the Other Equity Based Awards Program of Article IV are Eligible Persons selected by the Committee to receive such options and Awards, except as otherwise limited by Section I.B.of Article III of the Plan.

B. The persons entitled to receive option grants under the Automatic Option Grant Program of Article III are the Eligible Directors, as defined in Section I.A. of Article III of the Plan.

#### V. STOCK SUBJECT TO THE PLAN

A. The Common Stock issuable under the Plan shall be made available either from authorized but unissued shares of Common Stock or from shares of Common Stock reacquired by the Company on the open market. The aggregate number of shares of Common Stock issuable over the term of this Plan shall not exceed 6,455,000 shares, including an increase of 500,000 shares of Common Stock which was authorized by the Board on June 27, 2006, which is subject to stockholder approval at the 2006 Annual Meeting of Stockholders. Such share reserve is subject to adjustment from time to time in accordance with Section V.C. of this Article I.

6

#### **Table of Contents**

B. Should an option or other Award granted under this Plan expire or terminate for any reason prior to exercise or surrender in full, the shares subject to the portion of the option or other Award not so exercised or surrendered shall be available for subsequent option or other Award grants under this Plan. In addition, unvested shares issued under the Plan and subsequently cancelled or repurchased by the Company, at the original option or Award exercise price paid per share, pursuant to the Company is repurchase rights under the Plan shall be added back to the number of shares of Common Stock reserved for issuance under the Plan and shall accordingly be available for reissuance through one or more subsequent option or other Award grants under the Plan. However, shares subject to Tandem Rights exercised in accordance with the provisions of Section II of Article II shall reduce on a share-for-share basis the number of shares of Common Stock available for subsequent option or other Award grants under this Plan. Should the exercise price of an outstanding option or other Award under the Plan be paid with shares of Common Stock or should shares of Common Stock otherwise issuable under the Plan be withheld by the Company in satisfaction of the withholding taxes incurred in connection with the exercise of an outstanding option or other Award or the vesting of a stock issuance or other Award under the Plan, then the number of shares of Common Stock available for issuance under the Plan shall be reduced by the gross number of shares for which the option or other Award is exercised or which vest under the stock issuance or other Award, and not by the net number of shares of Common Stock actually issued to the Participant.

C. In the event any change is made to the Common Stock issuable under the Plan by reason of any stock dividend, recapitalization, stock split, reverse stock split, combination of shares, exchange of shares, reorganization, merger, consolidation, split-up, spin-off, or other change affecting the outstanding Common Stock as a class without the Company s receipt of consideration, then appropriate adjustments shall be made by the Committee to (i) the aggregate number and/or class of securities (or other property) issuable under the Plan, (ii) the maximum number and/or class of securities (or other property) for which any one Participant may be granted stock options, stock appreciation rights or other Awards over the term of the Plan, (iii) the number and/or class of securities for which automatic option grants are to be subsequently made to Eligible Directors under the Automatic Option Grant Program, (iv) the number and/or class of securities (or other property) subject to, and the purchase and/or exercise price per share in effect under, each option, stock appreciation right or other Award outstanding under the Plan, and (v) the limitations contained in Section V.E. of this Article I, in order to preclude the dilution or enlargement of benefits thereunder. All adjustments made by the Committee pursuant to this Section V.C. shall be final and binding.

D. In the event that (i) the Company is the surviving entity in any Corporate Transaction which does not result in the termination of outstanding options pursuant to the Corporate Transaction provisions of the Plan or (ii) the outstanding options under the Plan are to be assumed in connection with such Corporate Transaction, then each such continuing or assumed option shall, immediately after such Corporate Transaction, be appropriately adjusted to apply and pertain to the number and class of securities which would have been issuable, in consummation of such Corporate Transaction, to an actual holder of the same number of shares of Common Stock as are subject to such option immediately prior to such Corporate Transaction. Appropriate adjustments shall also be made to the exercise price payable per share, provided the aggregate option price shall remain the same. In addition, the number and class of securities which remain issuable under this Plan following the consummation of the Corporate Transaction shall be appropriately adjusted. Adjustments under this section will be made in accordance with Code Section 424 and treasury regulations promulgated thereunder to the extent required, and for purposes of compliance with the provisions of Code Section 409A relating to modification of stock rights, adjustments will be made in accordance with the requirements Code Section 424 and treasury regulations promulgated thereunder as modified by applicable guidance under Code Section 409A.

E. 162(m) Limitation on Awards. From and after January 1, 1994 until June 30, 2006, in no event may any one individual participating in the Plan be granted stock options and/or separately exercisable stock appreciation rights, exceeding 1,600,000 shares of Common Stock in the aggregate over such period, subject to adjustment from time to time in accordance with the provisions of Section V.C. of this Article. From and after approval of the stockholders at the 2006 Annual Meeting of Stockholders, notwithstanding any other provision of the Plan other than Section V.C. of this Article I, no Participant shall be granted: (i) Options or SARs, the value of which are derived solely from the appreciation in the value of Shares after the date of grant, with respect to more than 500,000 Shares in the aggregate

within any fiscal year of the Company; or (ii) other Qualified Performance Based Awards under Article IV that do not meet the definition contained in clause (i) above and that could result in such Participant receiving more than \$1,500,000 in cash or the equivalent Fair Market Value of Shares determined at the date of grant for each full or partial fiscal year of the Company contained in the performance period of a particular Qualified Performance Based Award, provided, however, that, if any other Qualified Performance Based Awards are outstanding for such Participant for a given fiscal year, such dollar limitation shall be reduced for each such given fiscal year by the amount that could be received by the Participant under all such Qualified

7

#### **Table of Contents**

Performance Based Awards, divided, for each such Qualified Performance Based Award, by the number of full or partial fiscal years of the Company contained in the performance period of each such outstanding Qualified Performance Based Award; provided, however, that the limitations set forth in this Section V.E. shall be subject to adjustment under Section V.C. of Article I only to the extent that such adjustment does not affect the status of any Award intended under Article IV to qualify as performance based compensation under Section 162(m) of the Code.

#### ARTICLE II.

#### DISCRETIONARY OPTION GRANT PROGRAM

#### I. TERMS AND CONDITIONS OF OPTIONS

A. The Committee shall have sole and exclusive authority (subject to the express provisions of the Plan) to determine which Eligible Persons are to be granted options under the Discretionary Option Grant Program, the number of shares to be covered by each such option, the status of the granted option as a Non-Statutory Option, the time or times at which such option is to become exercisable and the maximum term for which the option is to remain outstanding. B. The granted options shall be evidenced by Award Agreements in such form as the Committee shall from time to time approve. Unless otherwise provided in a particular Award Agreement, the granted options shall comply with the terms and conditions specified below.

#### 1. Option Price.

- a. The option price per share shall be fixed by the Committee, but in no event shall the option price per share be less than the Fair Market Value per share of Common Stock on the date of the option grant.
- b. The option price shall become immediately due upon exercise of the option and shall, subject to the loan provisions of Section I of Article V, be payable in one or more of the alternative forms specified below:
  - i. full payment in cash or check payable to the Company s order; or
- ii. full payment in shares of Common Stock held by the Optionee for the requisite period necessary to avoid a charge to the Company s reported earnings and valued at Fair Market Value on the Exercise Date (as such term is defined below); or
- iii. to the extent the option is exercised for vested shares, full payment through a special sale and remittance procedure pursuant to which the Optionee is to provide irrevocable written instructions (i) to a brokerage firm to effect the immediate sale of the purchased shares and remit to the Company, out of the sale proceeds available on the settlement date, an amount sufficient to cover the aggregate option price payable for the purchased shares plus all applicable Federal and state income and employment taxes required to be withheld by the Company by reason of such purchase and (ii) to the Company to deliver the certificates for the purchased shares directly to such brokerage firm in order to complete the sale transaction; or
- c. If payment of the exercise price is made by means of the surrender of shares of Common Stock which are subject to certain restrictions, the number of shares of Common Stock issued upon the exercise of the option equal to the number of shares of restricted stock surrendered shall be subject to the same restrictions as the restricted stock that was surrendered.
- d. The Exercise Date shall be the date on which written or electronic notice of the option exercise is delivered to the Company. Except to the extent the sale and remittance procedure specified in clause (iii) of subparagraph b. above is utilized in connection with the option exercise, payment of the option price for the purchased shares must accompany such notice.

8

#### **Table of Contents**

#### 2. Term and Exercise of Options.

- a. Each option granted under the Discretionary Option Grant Program shall be exercisable in one or more installments as shall be determined by the Committee and set forth in the Award Agreement evidencing such option; provided, however, no such option shall have a maximum term in excess of ten (10) years from the date it was granted to the Optionee.
- b. During the lifetime of the Optionee, Non-Statutory Options shall be exercisable only by the Optionee and shall not be assignable or transferable other than by will, by the laws of descent and distribution following the Optionee's death, or to any Family Member (as such term is defined in the General Instructions to Form S-8 (or any successor to such Instructions or such Form) under the Securities Act), provided that the Participant may not receive any consideration for such transfer, the Family Member may not make any subsequent transfers other than by will or by the laws of descent and distribution and the Company receives written notice of such transfer. This assigned portion may only be exercised by the person or persons who acquire a proprietary interest in the option pursuant to the assignment. The terms applicable to the assigned portion shall be the same as those in effect for the option immediately prior to such assignment and shall be set forth in such documents issued to the assignee as the Committee may deem appropriate. Notwithstanding the foregoing, the Optionee may also designate one or more persons as the beneficiary or beneficiaries of his or her outstanding Non-Statutory Options under the Plan, and those options shall, in accordance with such designation, automatically be transferred to such beneficiary or beneficiaries upon the Optionee's death while holding those options. Such beneficiary or beneficiaries shall take the transferred options subject to all the terms and conditions of the applicable agreement evidencing each such transferred option, including (without limitation) the limited time period during which the option may be exercised following the Optionee's death.

#### 3. Termination of Service.

- a. Should an Optionee cease to be a Service Provider for any reason (including death or Permanent Disability) other than due to a termination for the reasons set forth in subparagraph (c) below, then such options shall not be exercisable at any time after the EARLIER of (i) the specified expiration date of the option term or (ii) the expiration of the limited period of time specified by the Committee in the option agreement. Each such option shall, during such period following cessation of Service Provider status, be exercisable only to the extent of the number of shares (if any) in which the Optionee is vested on the date of such cessation of Service Provider status.
- b. Any option held by an Optionee under this Article II at the time of his or her death and exercisable in whole or in part at that time may be subsequently exercised, but only to the extent of the number of shares (if any) in which the Optionee is vested on the date the Optionee ceases to be a Service Provider (less any of those shares subsequently purchased by the Optionee prior to death), by the personal representative of the Optionee s estate, by the person or persons to whom the option is transferred pursuant to the Optionee s will or the laws of inheritance or by the Optionee s designated beneficiary or beneficiaries of that option. Any such exercise must occur prior to the EARLIER of (i) the expiration date of the option term or (ii) the first anniversary of the date of the Optionee s death.
- c. If an Optionee s Service Provider status is terminated for any of the following reasons, then all outstanding options granted the Optionee under this Article II shall immediately terminate and cease to be exercisable immediately upon such termination:
- i. the Optionee s intentional misconduct or continuing gross neglect of duties which materially and adversely affects the business and operations of the Company or any Parent or Subsidiary employing the Optionee;
- ii. the Optionee s unauthorized use or disclosure (or attempt thereat) of confidential information or trade secrets of the Company or any Parent or Subsidiary; or
- iii. the Optionee s commission of an act involving embezzlement, theft, fraud, falsification of records, destruction of property or commission of a crime or other offense involving money or other property of the Company or any Parent or Subsidiary employing the Optionee.

9

#### **Table of Contents**

The reasons for termination of an Optionee as a Service Provider set forth in this subparagraph (c) are not intended to be an exclusive list of all acts or omissions which the Company may deem to constitute misconduct or other grounds for terminating the Optionee (or any other individual).

- d. The Committee shall have complete discretion, exercisable either at the time the option is granted or at any time while the option remains outstanding, to permit one or more options held by the Optionee under this Article II to be exercised, during the limited period of exercisability following cessation of Service Provider status, not only with respect to the number of shares in which the Optionee is vested at the time of such cessation of Service Provider status but also with respect to one or more subsequent installments of purchasable shares in which the Optionee would otherwise have vested had the Optionee continued as a Service Provider.
- e. If the option is granted to an individual who is not an Employee of the Company, then the option agreement evidencing the granted option shall include provisions comparable to those set forth in subparagraphs (a), (b) and (c) above, and may include provisions comparable to subparagraph (d) above, with respect to the Optionee s termination of service with the Company or any Parent or Subsidiary.
- 4. <u>Stockholder Rights</u>. An option holder shall have none of the rights of a stockholder with respect to any shares covered by the option until such individual shall have exercised the option, paid the option price and satisfied all other conditions precedent to the issuance of certificates for the purchased shares.
- 5. <u>Repurchase Rights</u>. The shares of Common Stock acquired upon the exercise of any Article II option grant may be subject to one or more repurchase rights of the Company in accordance with the following provisions:
- a. The Committee shall have the discretion to authorize the issuance of unvested shares of Common Stock under this Article II. Should the Optionee cease Service Provider status while holding such unvested shares, the Company shall have the right to repurchase any or all of those unvested shares at the option price paid per share. The terms and conditions upon which such repurchase right shall be exercisable (including the period and procedure for exercise and the appropriate vesting schedule for the purchased shares) shall be established by the Committee and set forth in the instrument evidencing such repurchase right.
- b. All of the Company s outstanding repurchase rights shall automatically terminate, and all shares subject to such terminated rights shall immediately vest in full, upon the occurrence of any Corporate Transaction, except to the extent: (i) any such repurchase right is expressly assigned to the successor corporation (or parent thereof) in connection with the Corporate Transaction or (ii) such termination is precluded by other limitations imposed by the Committee at the time the repurchase right is issued.
- c. The Committee shall have the discretionary authority, exercisable either before or after the Optionee s cessation of Service Provider status, to cancel the Company s outstanding repurchase rights with respect to one or more shares purchased or purchasable by the Optionee under this Article II and thereby accelerate the vesting of such shares in whole or in part at any time.

#### II. TANDEM RIGHTS AND LIMITED RIGHTS

- A. The Committee shall have full power and authority, exercisable in its sole discretion, to grant selected Optionees tandem stock appreciation rights ( Tandem Rights ) pertaining to all or part of the shares of Common Stock subject to one or more of their option grants under this Article II.
- B. Tandem Rights may be granted at the same time the underlying option is granted or any time thereafter while the option remains outstanding. The Optionee may exercise such Tandem Right by surrendering the underlying option in whole or in part to the Company, to the extent such option is at the time exercisable for vested shares of Common Stock. In exchange for the surrendered option, the Optionee shall receive a distribution from the Company in an amount equal to the excess of (i) the Fair Market Value (on the option surrender date) of the number of shares in which the Optionee is at the time vested under the surrendered option (or surrendered portion) over (ii) the aggregate option price payable for such vested shares. However, the exercise of the Tandem Right shall be effective only if approved by the Committee. If so

10

#### **Table of Contents**

approved, the distribution to which the Optionee shall accordingly become entitled with respect to the surrendered option shall be made in shares of Common Stock valued at Fair Market Value on the option surrender date.

C. If the surrender of an option is rejected by the Committee, then the Optionee shall retain whatever rights the Optionee had under the surrendered option (or surrendered portion) on the option surrender date and may exercise such rights at any time prior to the last day on which the option is otherwise exercisable in accordance with the terms of the instrument evidencing such option, but in no event may such rights be exercised more than ten (10) years after the date of the option grant.

D. Prior to July 1, 2006, one or more Section 16(b) Insiders may, in the Committee s sole discretion, be granted limited stock appreciation rights (Limited Rights )2 in conjunction with their outstanding options under this Article II. Such Limited Rights shall provide that upon the occurrence of a Hostile Take-Over, each outstanding option with such a Limited Right shall automatically be cancelled, to the extent such option is at the time exercisable for fully-vested shares of Common Stock. The Optionee shall in return be entitled to a cash distribution from the Company in an amount equal to the excess of (i) the Take-Over Price of the vested shares of Common Stock at the time subject to the cancelled option (or cancelled portion of such option) over (ii) the aggregate exercise price payable for such shares. The cash distribution payable upon such cancellation shall be made within five (5) days following the consummation of the Hostile Take-Over. The Committee shall pre-approve, at the time the limited right is granted, the subsequent exercise of that right in accordance with the terms of this Section II.D. Accordingly, no further approval of the Committee or the Board shall be required at the time of the actual option cancellation and cash distribution. The balance of the option (if any) shall continue to remain outstanding and exercisable in accordance with the terms and conditions of the instrument evidencing such option.

#### III. CORPORATE TRANSACTION

A. Upon the occurrence of a Corporate Transaction, the exercisability of each option outstanding under this Article II shall be automatically accelerated so that each such option shall, immediately prior to the specified effective date for the Corporate Transaction, become fully exercisable with respect to the total number of shares of Common Stock at the time subject to such option, whether or not vested, and may be exercised for all or any portion of such shares. However, an outstanding option under this Article II shall NOT be so accelerated if and to the extent: (i) such option is, in connection with the Corporate Transaction, either to be assumed by the successor corporation or parent thereof or to be replaced with a comparable option to purchase shares of the capital stock of the successor corporation or parent thereof, or (ii) such option is to be replaced with a cash incentive program of the successor corporation which preserves the spread existing at the time of the Corporate Transaction on any shares for which the option is not otherwise at that time exercisable and provides for subsequent payout in accordance with the same exercise/vesting schedule applicable to those option shares, or (iii) the acceleration of such option is subject to other applicable limitations imposed by the Committee at the time of grant. The determination of comparability under clause (i) above shall be made by the Committee, and its determination shall be final and binding.

B. The Committee shall have the discretion, exercisable at any time, to provide (upon such terms and conditions as it may deem appropriate) for either the automatic acceleration of one or more assumed or replaced options which do not accelerate in connection with the Corporate Transaction or for the automatic vesting of any cash incentive programs implemented in replacement of such options, in the event the Optionee s employment should subsequently terminate within a designated period following the effective date of such Corporate Transaction.

Options granted to Section 16(b)
Insiders prior to the effective date of the June 15, 1992
Restatement contain a different form

of Limited Right. Such right will provide each Section 16(b) Insider with a thirty (30)-day

election period,

following the

successful

completion of a

hostile tender

offer for fifty

percent (50%)

or more of the

Company s

outstanding

voting

securities, to

surrender the

underlying

option for a cash

distribution

from the

Company in an

amount per

share of

Common Stock

in which the

Section 16(b)

Insider is at the

time vested

under the

surrendered

option equal to

the excess of the

highest price per

share paid in

effecting such

tender offer

over the

exercise price

payable per

share under the

surrendered

option.

11

#### **Table of Contents**

C. Upon the consummation of the Corporate Transaction, all outstanding options under this Article II shall, to the extent not previously exercised or assumed by the successor corporation or its parent company, terminate and cease to be outstanding.

## ARTICLE III. AUTOMATIC OPTION GRANT PROGRAM

#### I. ELIGIBILITY

A. <u>Eligible Directors</u>. The individuals eligible to receive automatic option grants pursuant to the provisions of this Article III program shall be limited to those individuals who first become non-Employee Board members on or after August 5, 1993, whether through appointment by the Board or election by the Company s stockholders. Any non-Employee Board member eligible to participate in the Automatic Option Grant Program pursuant to the foregoing criteria shall be designated an Eligible Director for purposes of this Plan.

B. <u>Limitation</u>. Except for the option grants to be made pursuant to the provisions of this Automatic Option Grant Program, an Eligible Director serving on the Committee or any secondary committee established pursuant to Section III.A. of Article I shall NOT be eligible during such period of service to receive any additional option grants or stock issuances under this Plan or any other stock plan of the Company (or any Parent or Subsidiary).

#### II. TERMS AND CONDITIONS OF AUTOMATIC OPTION GRANTS

- A. Grant Dates. Option grants shall be made under this Article III on the dates specified below:
- (i) Each Eligible Director who has not at any time been in the prior employ of the Company (or any Parent or Subsidiary) shall automatically be granted, at the time of such initial election or appointment, a Non-Statutory Option to purchase 7,500 shares of Common Stock upon the terms and conditions of this Article III.
- (ii) On the date of each Annual Stockholders Meeting, commencing with the 1993 Annual Stockholders Meeting, each individual who is at the time serving as an Eligible Director shall automatically be granted, whether or not such individual is standing for re-election as a Board member at that particular meeting and whether or not such individual has at any time been in the prior employ of the Company (or any Parent or Subsidiary), a Non-Statutory Option to purchase 3,000 shares of Common Stock upon the terms and conditions of this Article III, provided he or she has served as a non-Employee Board member for at least six (6) months prior to the date of such meeting. There shall be no limit on the number of 3,000-share option grants any Eligible Director may receive over his or her period of Board service.

The number of shares for which the automatic grants are to be made to each newly elected or continuing Eligible Director shall be subject to periodic adjustment pursuant to the applicable provisions of Section V.C. of Article I. B. Exercise Price. The exercise price per share of Common Stock subject to each automatic option grant made under this Article III shall be equal to one hundred percent (100%) of the Fair Market Value per share of Common Stock on the automatic grant date.

#### C. Payment.

- (i) The exercise price shall be payable in one or more of the alternative forms specified below:
  - a. full payment in cash or check payable to the Company s order; or
- b. full payment in shares of Common Stock held for the requisite period necessary to avoid a charge to the Company s reported earnings and valued at Fair Market Value on the Exercise Date (as such term is defined below); or
- c. full payment through a sale and remittance procedure pursuant to which the non-Employee Board member is to provide irrevocable written instructions (1) to a brokerage firm to effect the immediate sale of the

12

#### **Table of Contents**

purchased shares and remit to the Company, out of the sale proceeds available on the settlement date, an amount sufficient to cover the aggregate option price payable for the purchased shares and (2) to the Company to deliver the certificates for the purchased shares directly to such brokerage firm in order to complete the sale transaction; or

- (ii) If payment is made by means of the surrender of shares of Common Stock which are subject to certain restrictions, the number of shares of Common Stock issued upon the exercise of the option equal to the number of shares of restricted stock surrendered shall be subject to the same restrictions as the restricted stock that was surrendered.
- (iii) The Exercise Date shall be the date on which written notice of the option exercise is delivered to the Company. Except to the extent the sale and remittance or loan procedure specified in clause (i)(c) above is utilized in connection with the option exercise, payment of the option price for the purchased shares must accompany such notice.
- D. <u>Option Term</u>. Each automatic grant under this Article III shall have a maximum term of ten (10) years measured from the automatic grant date.
- E. <u>Exercisability</u>. Each automatic grant shall become exercisable in a series of four (4) equal and successive annual installments over the Optionee s period of service on the Board, with the first such installment to become exercisable twelve (12) months after the automatic grant date. The exercisability of each automatic grant shall be subject to acceleration in accordance with the provisions of Section II.G and Section III of this Article III.
- F. Limited Transferability. During the lifetime of the Optionee, each automatic option grant shall be exercisable only by the Optionee and shall not be assignable or transferable by Optionee other than by will or the laws of descent and distribution following the Optionee s death, or to any Family Member (as such term is defined in the General Instructions to Form S-8 (or any successor to such Instructions or such Form) under the Securities Act), provided that the Optionee may not receive any consideration for such transfer, the Family Member may not make any subsequent transfers other than by will or by the laws of descent and distribution and the Company receives written notice of such transfer. The assigned portion may only be exercised by the person or persons who acquire a proprietary interest in the option pursuant to the assignment. The terms applicable to the assigned portion shall be the same as those in effect for the option immediately prior to such assignment and shall be set forth in such documents issued to the assignee as the Committee may deem appropriate. Notwithstanding the foregoing, the Optionee may also designate one or more persons as the beneficiary or beneficiaries of his or her outstanding options under the Plan, and those options shall, in accordance with such designation, automatically be transferred to such beneficiary or beneficiaries upon the Optionee s death while holding those options. Such beneficiary or beneficiaries shall take the transferred options subject to all the terms and conditions of the applicable agreement evidencing each such transferred option, including (without limitation) the limited time period during which the option may be exercised following the Optionee s death. G. Termination of Board Service.
- 1. Should the Optionee s service as a Board member cease for any reason (other than death or Permanent Disability) while holding one or more automatic option grants under this Article III, then such individual shall have a six (6)-month period following the date of such cessation of Board service in which to exercise each such option for any or all of the shares of Common Stock for which the option is exercisable at the time of such cessation of Board service. However, each such option shall immediately terminate and cease to be outstanding, at the time of such cessation of Board service, with respect to any shares for which the option is not otherwise at that time exercisable.
- 2. Should the Optionee die within six (6) months after cessation of Board service, then each outstanding automatic option grant held by the Optionee at the time of death may subsequently be exercised, for any or all of the shares of Common Stock for which such option is exercisable at the time of the Optionee s cessation of Board service (less any option shares subsequently purchased by the Optionee prior to death), by the personal representative of the Optionee s estate, by the person or persons to whom the option is transferred pursuant to the Optionee s will or the laws of inheritance or by the Optionee s designated beneficiary or beneficiaries of that option. Any such exercise must occur with twelve (12) months after the date of the Optionee s death.
- 3. Should the Optionee die or become Permanently Disabled while serving as a Board member, then each automatic option grant held at that time by such Optionee under this Article III shall accelerate in full, and the Optionee (or

#### **Table of Contents**

the personal representative of the Optionee s estate, or the person or persons to whom the option is transferred pursuant to the Optionee s will or the laws of inheritance or the Optionee s designated beneficiary or beneficiaries of that option) shall have a twelve (12) month period following the date of the Optionee s cessation of Board service in which to exercise each such option for any or all of the shares of Common Stock subject to that option at the time of such cessation of Board service.

- 4. In no event shall any automatic grant under this Article III remain exercisable after the specified expiration date of the ten (10)-year option term. Upon the expiration of the applicable post-service exercise period under subparagraph 1, 2 or 3 above or (if earlier) upon the expiration of the ten (10)-year option term, the automatic grant shall terminate and cease to be outstanding for any unexercised shares for which the option was otherwise exercisable at the time of the Optionee s cessation of Board service.
- H. <u>Remaining Terms</u>. The remaining terms and conditions of each automatic option grant shall be substantially the same as the terms in effect for option grants made under the Discretionary Option Grant Program and shall be set forth in an Award Agreement.

#### III. CORPORATE TRANSACTION/CHANGE IN CONTROL/HOSTILE TAKE-OVER

A. In the event of any Corporate Transaction effected during the Optionee s period of Board service, each automatic option grant at the time held by such Optionee under this Article III shall automatically accelerate so that each such option shall, immediately prior to the specified effective date for the Corporate Transaction, become exercisable for all of the shares of Common Stock at the time subject to such option and may be exercised for all or any portion of such shares. Upon the consummation of the Corporate Transaction, all automatic option grants under this Article III shall terminate and cease to be outstanding.

B. In the event of any Change in Control effected during the Optionee s period of Board service, each automatic option grant at the time held by such Optionee under this Article III shall automatically accelerate so that each such option shall, immediately prior to the specified effective date for the Change in Control, become exercisable for all of the shares of Common Stock at the time subject to such option and may be exercised for all or any portion of such shares.

#### ARTICLE IV.

#### OTHER EOUITY BASED AWARDS PROGRAM

Subject to any limitations contained in the Plan, the Committee shall have sole and exclusive authority (subject to the express provisions of the Plan) to determine which Eligible Persons are to be granted Awards under the Other Equity Based Awards Program, and the terms and conditions of any such Awards. Such Awards shall be evidenced by Award Agreements in such form as the Committee shall from time to time approve.

#### I. STOCK APPRECIATION RIGHTS.

The Committee is authorized to grant free-standing Stock Appreciation Rights to Eligible Persons subject to the terms of the Plan and any applicable Award Agreement. Each such Stock Appreciation Right granted under the Plan shall confer on the holder upon exercise the right to receive a number of Shares equal to the excess of (a) the Fair Market Value of one Share on the date of exercise (or, if the Committee shall so determine, at any time during a specified period before or after the date of exercise) over (b) the grant price of the Stock Appreciation Right as determined by the Committee, which grant price shall not be less than 100% of the Fair Market Value of one Share on the date of grant of the Stock Appreciation Right. Subject to the terms of the Plan, the grant price, term, methods of exercise, dates of exercise and any other terms and conditions (including conditions or restrictions on the exercise thereof) of any Stock Appreciation Right shall be as determined by the Committee.

#### II. RESTRICTED STOCK AND RESTRICTED STOCK UNITS

A. The Committee is hereby authorized to grant Restricted Stock and Restricted Stock Units to Eligible Persons with the following terms and conditions and with such additional terms and conditions not inconsistent with the provisions of the Plan as the Committee shall determine:

14

#### **Table of Contents**

- (i) <u>Restrictions</u>. Shares of Restricted Stock and Restricted Stock Units shall be subject to such restrictions as the Committee may impose (including, without limitation, a restriction on or prohibition against the right to receive any dividend or other right or property with respect thereto), which restrictions may lapse separately or in combination at such time or times, in such installments or otherwise as the Committee may deem appropriate.
- (ii) <u>Stock Certificates</u>. Any Restricted Stock granted under the Plan shall be evidenced by the issuance of a stock certificate or certificates, which shall be held by the Company. Such certificate or certificates shall be registered in the name of the Participant and shall bear an appropriate legend referring to the applicable Award Agreement and possible forfeiture of such shares of Restricted Stock.
- (iii) <u>Forfeiture</u>. Except as otherwise determined by the Committee, upon a Participant s termination of employment (as determined under criteria established by the Committee) during the applicable restriction period, all applicable Shares of Restricted Stock and Restricted Stock Units at such time subject to restriction shall be forfeited and reacquired by the Company; *provided*, *however*, that the Committee may, when it finds that a waiver would be in the best interest of the Company, waive in whole or in part any or all remaining restrictions with respect to Shares of Restricted Stock or Restricted Stock Units.

#### III. PERFORMANCE AWARDS

A. The Committee is hereby authorized to grant Performance Awards to Eligible Persons subject to the terms of the Plan. A Performance Award granted under the Plan (a) may be denominated or payable in cash, Shares (including, without limitation, Restricted Stock and Restricted Stock Units), other securities, other Awards or other property and (b) shall confer on the holder thereof the right to receive payments, in whole or in part, upon the achievement of such performance goals during such performance periods as the Committee shall establish. Subject to the terms of the Plan, the performance goals to be achieved during any performance period, the length of any performance period, the amount of any Performance Award granted, the amount of any payment or transfer to be made pursuant to any Performance Award and any other terms and conditions of any Performance Award shall be determined by the Committee. From time to time, the Committee may designate a Performance Award granted hereunder as an award of qualified performance-based compensation within the meaning of Section 162(m) of the Code (a *Qualified Performance Based Award*), and such awards shall comply with the following requirements.

- (i) <u>Performance Goals; Timing of Designations.</u> Qualified Performance Based Awards shall, to the extent required by Section 162(m), be conditioned solely on the achievement of one or more objective performance goals, and such performance goals shall be established by the Committee within the time period prescribed by, and shall otherwise comply with the requirements of, Section 162(m) ( *Performance Goals* ). The Committee shall, not later than 90 days after the beginning of each performance period, (A) designate all Participants for such performance period, and (B) establish the objective Performance Goals for each Participant for that performance period on the basis of one or more of the business criteria set forth in (ii) below.
- (ii) Business Criteria. Unless and until the Committee proposes for stockholder approval and the Company s stockholders approve a change in the general business criteria set forth in this section, the attainment of which may determine the amount and/or vesting with respect to Qualified Performance Based Awards, the business criteria to be used for purposes of establishing Performance Goals for Qualified Performance Based Awards shall be selected from the following alternatives. Performance goals may be based upon based upon one or more of the following business criteria, either individually, alternatively or in any combination, applied on a corporate, subsidiary or business unit basis: revenue, cash flow, gross profit, earnings before interest and taxes, earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation and amortization and net earnings, earnings per share, margins (including one or more of gross, operating and net income margins), returns (including one or more of return on assets, equity, investment, capital and revenue and total stockholder return), stock price, economic value added, working capital, market share, cost reductions, workforce satisfaction and diversity goals, employee retention, customer satisfaction, completion of key projects and strategic plan development and implementation. Such Performance Goals may reflect absolute entity or business unit performance or a relative comparison to the performance of a peer group of entities or other external measure of the selected performance criteria. Pursuant to rules and conditions adopted by the Committee on or before the 90th day of the applicable performance period for which Performance Goals are established, the Committee may appropriately adjust any evaluation of performance under such goals to exclude the effect of certain events, including any of the

following events: asset write-downs; litigation or claim judgments or settlements; changes in tax law, accounting principles or other such laws or provisions affecting reported results; severance, contract

15

## **Table of Contents**

termination and other costs related to exiting certain business activities; and gains or losses from the disposition of businesses or assets or from the early extinguishment of debt.

- (iii) <u>Payment of Qualified Performance Based Awards</u>. Unless another specified payment date or schedule of payment dates is provided in the applicable Award Agreement, Qualified Performance Based Awards shall be paid within 2 <sup>1</sup>/2 months after the end of the calendar year in which the applicable performance condition ends. The Committee shall certify in writing that Performance Goals have been met prior to payment of the Qualified Performance Based Awards to the extent required by Section 162(m). The Committee may, in its discretion, reduce the amount of a payout otherwise to be made in connection with a Qualified Performance Based Award, but may not exercise discretion to increase such amount.
- (iv) <u>Certain Events</u>. If a Participant dies or becomes permanently and totally disabled before the end of a performance period or after the performance period and before a Qualified Performance Based Award is paid, the Committee may, in its discretion, determine that the Participant shall be paid a pro rated portion of the award that the Participant would have received but for such death or disability.
- (v) <u>Stockholder Approval of Plan</u>. Any Qualified Performance Based Award shall be null and void and have no effect whatsoever unless the Plan shall have been approved by the stockholders of the Company at the Company s 2006 Annual Stockholders Meeting. No Qualified Performance Based Award shall be granted more than five years after the date of such 2006 Annual Stockholders Meeting unless the stockholders have re-approved the Plan to the extent required by Section 162(m) of the Code.
- (vi) <u>Interpretation.</u> The provisions in this Section III of Article IV, and all of the other terms and conditions of the Plan as it applies to any Qualified Performance Based Award, shall be interpreted in such a fashion as to qualify all compensation paid thereunder as qualified performance-based compensation within the meaning of Section 162(m) of the Code.

## IV. DIVIDEND EQUIVALENTS

The Committee is authorized to grant Dividend Equivalents to Eligible Persons under which the Participant shall be entitled to receive payments (in cash, Shares, other securities, other Awards or other property as determined in the discretion of the Committee) equivalent to the amount of cash dividends paid by the Company to holders of Shares with respect to a number of Shares determined by the Committee. Subject to the terms of the Plan, such Dividend Equivalents may have such terms and conditions as the Committee shall determine.

#### V. OTHER STOCK-BASED AWARDS

The Committee is authorized to grant to Eligible Persons, subject to the terms of the Plan, such other Awards that are denominated or payable in, valued in whole or in part by reference to, or otherwise based on or related to, Shares (including, without limitation, securities convertible into Shares), as are deemed by the Committee to be consistent with the purpose of the Plan. Shares or other securities delivered pursuant to a purchase right granted under this Section V shall be purchased for such consideration, which may be paid by such method or methods and in such form or forms (including, without limitation, cash, Shares, promissory notes, promissory notes (*provided*, *however*, that the par value of any Shares to be issued pursuant to such exercise shall be paid in the form of cash, services rendered, personal property, real property or a combination thereof and the acceptance such promissory notes does not conflict with Section 402 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002), other securities, other Awards or other property or any combination thereof, as the Committee shall determine, the value of which consideration, as established by the Committee, shall not be less than 100% of the Fair Market Value of such Shares or other securities as of the date such purchase right is granted.

16

#### **Table of Contents**

## ARTICLE V. MISCELLANEOUS

#### I. LOANS OR GUARANTEE OF LOANS

The Committee may assist a Participant (including any officer or director) in the exercise of one or more outstanding options under the Discretionary Option Grant Program or one or more outstanding Awards under the Other Equity Based Awards Program by (a) authorizing the extension of a full-recourse interest-bearing loan to such Optionee from the Company, (b) permitting the Participant to pay the exercise price or other purchase price with respect to such Award in installments over a period of years or (c) authorizing a guarantee by the Company of a third-party loan to the Participant, but in each case only to the extent any such action does not conflict with Section 402 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002. The terms of any loan, installment method of payment or guarantee (including the interest rate and terms of repayment) shall be established by the Committee in its sole discretion. The maximum credit available to the Participant shall not exceed the sum of (i) the aggregate exercise price of the option shares (less the par value) or the aggregate purchase price for the Award plus (ii) any Federal and state income and employment tax liability incurred by the Participant in connection with the exercise of the option or Award.

#### II. TAX WITHHOLDING

A. The Company s obligation to deliver shares or cash upon the exercise or surrender of stock options or any Awards granted under the Plan shall be subject to the satisfaction by the Participant of all applicable Federal, state and local income and employment tax withholding requirements.

B. The Committee may, in its discretion and upon such terms and conditions as it may deem appropriate (including the applicable safe-harbor provisions of SEC Rule 16b-3 or any successor rule or regulation) provide any or all holders of outstanding option grants under the Plan (other than grants made to non-Employees) with the election to surrender previously acquired shares of Common Stock or have shares withheld in satisfaction of the tax withholding obligations. To the extent necessary to avoid adverse accounting treatment, the number of shares that may be withheld for this purpose shall not exceed the minimum number needed to satisfy the applicable income and employment tax withholding rules. If Common Stock is used to satisfy the Company s tax withholding obligations, the stock shall be valued at its Fair Market Value when the tax withholding is required to be made.

## III. EXTENSION OF EXERCISE PERIOD

The Committee shall have full power and authority to extend the period of time for which any option granted under the Discretionary Option Grant Program is to remain exercisable following the Optionee s termination of service from the period set forth in the option agreement to such greater period of time as the Committee shall deem appropriate; provided, however, that in no event shall such extension exceed the limitations set forth by applicable law and regulations under Code Section 409A; and provided further, that in no event shall such option be exercisable after the specified expiration date of the option term.

#### IV. AMENDMENT OF THE PLAN

The Board shall have the complete and exclusive authority to amend, modify, suspend, discontinue or terminate the Plan; provided, however, that if and to the extent required by Code Section 409A and applicable guidance thereunder, such authority will not include the authority to terminate deferred compensation arrangements in violation of Code Section 409A; and provided further, that no amendment or modification shall, without the consent of the holders, adversely affect rights and obligations with respect to any stock options, stock appreciation rights, or other Awards at the time outstanding under the Plan. In addition, certain amendments, including increasing the number of shares issuable under the Plan or modifying the requirements for eligibility, will require stockholder approval pursuant to applicable laws or regulations.

## V. EFFECTIVE DATE AND TERM OF PLAN

A. The Plan was initially adopted by the Board and approved by the Company s sole stockholder on August 1, 1988.

17

#### **Table of Contents**

- B. The Board and sole stockholder amended and restated the Plan effective May 15, 1991 to (i) increase the number of shares issuable pursuant to the Plan, (ii) conform the provisions of the Plan to the SEC rules under Section 16 of the Exchange Act applicable to certain transactions effected under the Plan by Section 16(b) Insiders and (iii) provide for the ability to grant incentive stock options.
- C. The Plan was further restated on June 15, 1992 (the 1992 Restatement ) to (i) increase the number of shares of Common Stock authorized for issuance under the Plan by an additional 400,000 shares, (ii) bring the Plan into compliance with revisions to SEC Rule 16b-3 which became effective on September 1, 1993 and would exempt certain officer and director transactions under the Plan from the short-swing liability provisions of the federal securities laws and (iii) effect certain technical revisions to the provisions of the Plan to facilitate plan administration and interpretation. The 1992 Restatement was approved by the Company s stockholders at the 1992 Annual Meeting.

  D. The Plan was further restated and amended by the Board in June 1993 (the 1993 Restatement ) to add the Automatic Option Grant Program. The 1993 Restatement was approved by the Company s stockholders at the 1993 Annual Meeting.
- E. On May 4, 1994, the Board approved an amendment and restatement of the Plan (the 1994 Restatement ) to (i) increase the aggregate number of shares issuable over the term thereof by 400,000 shares to a total of 2,670,000 shares and (ii) impose a limitation of 1,600,000 shares on the maximum number of shares of Common Stock for which any one participant may be granted stock options and separately exercisable stock appreciation rights over the remaining term of the Plan. The 1994 Restatement was approved by the Company s stockholders at the 1994 Annual Meeting.
- F. On June 21, 1996, the Board approved an amendment and restatement of the Plan (the 1996 Restatement ) to (i) increase the aggregate number of shares issuable over the term thereof by 400,000 shares to 3,070,000 shares, and (ii) extend the expiration date of the Plan to June 30, 2006. The 1996 Restatement was approved by the Company s stockholders at the 1996 Annual Meeting.
- G. In June 1997, the Board further amended and restated the Plan (the 1997 Restatement ) to effect the following revisions: (i) increase the number of shares of Common Stock reserved for issuance over the term of the Plan by an additional 400,000 shares to 3,470,000 shares, (ii) render the non-Employee Board members eligible to receive option grants under the Discretionary Option Grant Program, (iii) allow unvested shares issued under the Plan and subsequently repurchased by the Company at the option exercise price paid per share to be reissued under the Plan, (iv) remove certain restrictions on the eligibility of non-Employee Board members to serve as members of the Committee and (v) effect a series of additional changes to the provisions of the Plan in order to take advantage of certain amendments to SEC Rule 16b-3. The 1997 Restatement was approved by the Company s stockholders at the 1997 Annual Meeting.
- H. In February 1999, the Board further amended and restated the Plan to permit optionees under the Discretionary Option Grant and Automatic Option Programs of the Plan to designate a beneficiary or beneficiaries to whom their options may be transferred upon their death.
- I. On May 10, 2001, the Board further amended and restated the Plan (the 2001 Restatement ) to (i) effect certain technical revisions to the provisions of the Plan in order to facilitate the administration and interpretation of the Plan, (ii) clarify the group of employees who are eligible to participate in the Plan and (iii) increase the number of shares of Common Stock reserved for issuance over the term of the Plan by an additional 500,000 shares to 3,970,000 shares. The 2001 Restatement was approved by the Company s stockholders at the 2001 Annual Meeting.
- J. On June 27, 2006, the Board further amended and restated the Plan (the 2006 Restatement) to (i) address changes in applicable law and accounting principles, (ii) permit the Committee to make awards of free-standing stock appreciation rights, restricted stock, restricted stock units, performance awards, dividend equivalents, and Other Stock-Based Awards under the Plan, subject to such terms and conditions as determined by the Committee, (iii) extend the term of the Plan until June 30, 2016, (iv) rename the Plan and (v) increase the number of shares of Common Stock reserved for issuance over the term of the Plan by an additional 500,000 shares to 6,455,000 shares. The 2006 Restatement is subject to stockholder approval at the 2006 Annual Meeting. No option grants or other Awards shall be made under the Plan during the period from July 1, 2006 until the 2006 Restatement is approved by the Company s stockholders at the 2006 Annual Meeting. If such stockholder approval is not obtained, the 2006

Restatement will be void and the Plan will be deemed to have terminated effective as of June 30, 2006; provided, however, that any stock options or stock appreciation rights at the

18

#### **Table of Contents**

time outstanding under the Plan shall continue to have force and effect in accordance with the provisions of the instruments evidencing such grants.

K. All share numbers in the 2006 Restatement reflect (i) the two-for-one split of the Common Stock effected on June 14, 1999 and (ii) the three-for-two split of the Common Stock effected on August 31, 2001, each of which was effected in the form of a stock dividend.

L. The provisions of the various restatements of the Plan apply only to stock options, stock appreciation rights, and other Awards granted under the Plan from and after the respective effective dates of such Restatements. All stock options and stock appreciation rights issued and outstanding under the Plan immediately prior to such effective dates of the restatements of the Plan shall continue to be governed by the terms and conditions of the Plan (and the instrument evidencing each such option or stock appreciation right) as in effect on the date each such option or stock appreciation was previously granted, and nothing in the restatements of the Plan shall be deemed to affect or otherwise modify the rights or obligations of the holders of such options or stock appreciation rights with respect to the acquisition of shares of Common Stock thereunder or the exercise of their outstanding stock appreciation rights.

M. The sale and remittance procedure authorized for the exercise of outstanding options shall be available for all options granted under the Plan from and after November 6, 1991 and for all Non-Statutory Options outstanding on such date.

N. Subject to Section IV of Article V, the Plan shall in all events terminate upon the EARLIEST of (i) June 30, 2016, (ii) the date on which all shares available for issuance under the Plan shall have been issued or cancelled pursuant to the exercise or surrender of stock options, stock appreciation rights or other Awards under the Plan, (iii) the termination of all outstanding Awards in connection with a Corporate Transaction or (iv) termination by the Board. If the date of termination is determined under clause (i) above, then any stock options, stock appreciation rights or other Awards at the time outstanding under the Plan shall continue to have force and effect in accordance with the provisions of the instruments evidencing such grants.

#### VI. MISCELLANEOUS MATTERS

A. Any cash proceeds received by the Company from the issuance of shares hereunder shall be used for any corporate purpose.

B. The implementation of the Plan, the granting of any stock option or other Award, and the issuance of Common Stock or other Award hereunder, shall be subject to the Company's procurement of all approvals and permits required by regulatory authorities having jurisdiction over the Plan, and the stock options and other Awards granted under it and the Common Stock issued pursuant to it. The inability of the Company to obtain the requisite approvals shall relieve the Company of any liability with respect to the non-issuance or sale of the Common Stock as to which such approvals shall not have been obtained. The Company, however, shall attempt to obtain all requisite approvals.

C. No shares of Common Stock or other property shall be issued or delivered under the Plan unless and until there shall have been compliance with all applicable requirements of Federal and state securities laws, including the filing and effectiveness of the Form S-8 registration statement for the shares of Common Stock issuable under the Plan, and all applicable listing requirements of any stock exchange (or the Nasdaq National Market, if applicable) on which Common Stock is then listed for trading. No shares of Common Stock or other property shall be issued or delivered under the Plan if doing so would violate any internal policies of the Company.

D. Neither the action of the Company in establishing the Plan, nor any action taken by the Board or the Committee hereunder, nor any provision of the Plan itself shall be construed so as to grant any individual the right to remain in the employ or service of the Company or any Parent or Subsidiary for any period of specific duration, and the Company (or any Parent or Subsidiary retaining the services of such individual) may terminate such individual s employment or service at any time and for any reason, with or without cause.

E. Nothing contained in the Plan shall be construed to limit the authority of the Company to exercise its corporate rights and powers, including (without limitation) the right of the Company (a) to grant options for corporate purposes

#### **Table of Contents**

otherwise than under this Plan to any Eligible Person or other Person, firm or company or association or (b) to grant options to, or assume the option of, any Person in connection with the acquisition (by purchase, lease, merger, consolidation or otherwise) of the business and assets (in whole or in part) of any Person, firm, company or association.

- F. No Participant will have rights under an Award granted to such Participant unless and until an Award Agreement shall have been duly executed on behalf of the Company and, if requested by the Company, signed by the Participant. In the event that any provision of an Award Agreement conflicts with or is inconsistent in any respect with the terms of the Plan as set forth herein or subsequently amended, the terms of the Plan shall control.
- G. Neither the Plan nor any Award shall create or be construed to create a trust or separate fund of any kind or a fiduciary relationship between the Company or any Parent or Subsidiary and an Eligible Person or any other Person. To the extent that any Person acquires a right to receive payments from the Company or any Parent or Subsidiary pursuant to an Award, such right shall be no greater than the right of any unsecured general creditor of the Company or any Affiliate.
- H. The Plan is intended to comply in all respects with Rule 16b-3 or any successor provision, as in effect from time to time, and in all events the Plan shall be construed in accordance with the requirements of Rule 16b-3. If any Plan provision does not comply with Rule 16b-3 as hereafter amended or interpreted, the provision shall be deemed inoperative. The Board, in its absolute discretion, may bifurcate the Plan so as to restrict, limit or condition the use of any provision of the Plan with respect to persons who are officers or directors subject to Section 16 of the Exchange Act without so restricting, limiting or conditioning the Plan with respect to other Eligible Persons. With respect to Options and Stock Appreciation Rights, the Company intends to have the Plan administered in accordance with the requirements for the award of qualified performance-based compensation within the meaning of Section 162(m) of the Code.
- I. No compensation or benefit awarded to or realized by any Participant under the Plan shall be included for the purpose of computing such Participant s compensation under any compensation-based retirement, disability, or similar plan of the Company unless required by law or otherwise provided by such other plan.
- J. Except with respect to Shares of Restricted Stock as to which the Participant has been granted the right to vote, neither a Participant nor the Participant s legal representative shall be, or have any of the rights and privileges of, a stockholder of the Company with respect to any Shares issuable to such Participant upon the exercise or payment of any Award, in whole or in part, unless and until such Shares have been issued in the name of such Participant or such Participant s legal representative without restrictions thereto.
- K. No Award and no right under any such Award shall be assignable or transferable by a Participant other than by will or the laws of descent and distribution following the Participant s death; provided, however, that at any time such Participant holds a Non-Statutory Option, such Participant may transfer such Option to any Family Member (as such term is defined in the General Instructions to Form S-8 (or any successor to such Instructions or such Form) under the Securities Act), provided that the Participant may not receive any consideration for such transfer, the Family Member may not make any subsequent transfers other than by will or by the laws of descent and distribution and the Company receives written notice of such transfer. The assigned portion may only be exercised by the person or persons who acquire a proprietary interest in the Award pursuant to the assignment. The terms applicable to the assigned portion shall be the same as those in effect for the Award immediately prior to such assignment and shall be set forth in such documents issued to the assignee as the Committee may deem appropriate. Notwithstanding the foregoing, the Participant may also designate one or more persons as the beneficiary or beneficiaries of his or her outstanding Awards under the Plan, and those Awards shall, in accordance with such designation, automatically be transferred to such beneficiaries upon the Participant s death while holding those Awards. Such beneficiary or beneficiaries shall take the transferred Awards subject to all the terms and conditions of the applicable agreement evidencing each such transferred Award.

L. The validity, construction and effect of the Plan or any Award, and any rules and regulations relating to the Plan or any Award, shall be determined in accordance with the internal laws, and not the law of conflicts, of the State of Delaware.

M. If any provision of the Plan or any Award is or becomes or is deemed to be invalid, illegal or unenforceable in any jurisdiction or would disqualify the Plan or any Award under any law deemed applicable by the Committee, such provision shall be construed or deemed amended to conform to applicable laws, or if it cannot be so construed or deemed amended without, in the determination of the Committee, materially altering the purpose or intent of the Plan or the Award, such

20

## **Table of Contents**

provision shall be stricken as to such jurisdiction or Award, and the remainder of the Plan or any such Award shall remain in full force and effect.

- N. No fractional Shares shall be issued or delivered pursuant to the Plan or any Award, and the Committee shall determine whether cash shall be paid in lieu of any fractional Shares or whether such fractional Shares or any rights thereto shall be canceled, terminated or otherwise eliminated.
- O. Headings are given to the Sections and subsections of the Plan solely as a convenience to facilitate reference. Such headings shall not be deemed in any way material or relevant to the construction or interpretation of the Plan or any provision thereof.

21

#### **Table of Contents**

#### 6 DETACH PROXY CARD HERE 6

1. To elect the following directors to serve for a term of one year.

V. Gordon Clemons	O	FOR	O	WITHHOLDING AUTHORITY
Steven J. Hamerslag	0	<b>FOR</b>	O	WITHHOLDING AUTHORITY
Alan R. Hoops	O	FOR	O	WITHHOLDING AUTHORITY

- 2. To approve a series of amendments to, and restatement of, the bylaws of the Company to, among other things, increase the number of directors which shall constitute the whole Board of Directors from five directors to seven directors.
- 3. To approve a series of amendments to, and a restatement of, the Company s Restated 1988 Executive Stock Option Plan (the Option Plan ) that will effect the following changes: (i) extend the termination date of the Option Plan by ten years from June 30, 2006 to June 30, 2016, (ii) increase the maximum number of shares of Common Stock authorized for issuance over the term of the Option Plan by 500,000 shares to an aggregate of 6,455,000 shares, (iii) rename the Option Plan as the CorVel Corporation Restated Omnibus Incentive Plan (Formerly The Restated 1988 Executive Stock Option Plan) and (iv) effect various other improvements to the Option Plan.

R. Judd Jessup o FOR o WITHHOLDING AUTHORITY
Jeffrey J. Michael o FOR o WITHHOLDING AUTHORITY

4. To ratify the appointment of Grant Thornton LLP as the Company s inde-pendent auditors for fiscal 2007.

o FOR o AGAINST o ABSTAIN

5. In accordance with the discretion of the proxy holders, to act upon all matters incident to the conduct of the meeting and upon other matters as may properly come before the meeting.

The Board of Directors recommends a vote FOR each of the nominees and the proposals set forth above. This Proxy, when properly executed, will be voted as specified above. This Proxy will be voted FOR the nominees listed above and FOR the other Proposals if no specification is made.

Dated:

(Print name(s) as it (they) appear(s) on certificate)

(Authorized Signature(s))

Please print the name(s) appearing on each share certificate(s) over which you have voting authority.

Please Detach Here You Must Detach This Portion of the Proxy Card Before Returning it in the Enclosed Envelope

#### **Table of Contents**

# CORVEL CORPORATION PROXY

## Annual Meeting of Stockholders, August 3, 2006 This Proxy is Solicited on Behalf of the Board of Directors

The undersigned revokes all previous proxies, acknowledges receipt of the Notice of Annual Meeting of Stockholders to be held on August 3, 2006, and the accompanying Proxy Statement, and appoints V. Gordon Clemons and Richard J. Schweppe, or either of them, the proxy of the undersigned, with full power of substitution, to vote all shares of the Common Stock of CorVel Corporation which the undersigned is entitled to vote, either on his or her own behalf or on behalf of an entity or entities, at the Annual Meeting of Stockholders of CorVel Corporation to be held at 2010 Main Street, Suite 600, Irvine, California, on Thursday, August 3, 2006 at 1:00 p.m. Pacific Daylight Time, and at any adjournment or postponement thereof, with the same force and effect as the undersigned might or could do if personally present thereat. In their discretion, the proxies are authorized to vote upon any other matter that may properly come before the meeting or any adjournment or postponement thereof. The shares represented by this proxy shall be voted in the following manner:

PLEASE RETURN YOUR EXECUTED PROXY TO U.S. STOCK TRANSFER CORPORATION IN THE ENCLOSED SELF-ADDRESSED, POSTAGE PRE-PAID ENVELOPE.